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WIDEPOINT CORPORATION

7926 Jones Branch Drive, Suite 520

McLean, Virginia 22102

October 30, 2015

To Our Stockholders:

You are cordially invited to attend the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of WidePoint Corporation, which will be held
at 10:00 a.m., EST, on Thursday, December 17, 2015 at the Washington, D.C. offices of Foley & Lardner LLP,
located at 3000 K Street N.W., Sixth Floor, Washington, D.C. 20007.

The accompanying notice of meeting and proxy statement describe the matters to be voted on at the meeting.

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT. We invite you to attend the meeting in person. If attending the meeting is not
feasible, we encourage you to read the proxy statement and vote your shares as soon as possible. To ensure your
shares will be represented, we ask that you vote your shares via the Internet or by telephone, as instructed on the
Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials or as instructed on the accompanying proxy. If you received or
requested a copy of the proxy card by mail, you may submit your vote by completing, signing, dating and returning
the proxy card by mail. We encourage you to vote via the Internet or by telephone. These methods save us significant
postage and processing charges. Please vote your shares as soon as possible. This is your Annual Meeting and your
participation is important.

Sincerely,

S.L. Komar

Steve L. Komar
Chairman of the Board, President and
Chief Executive Officer
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WIDEPOINT CORPORATION

7926 Jones Branch Drive, Suite 520

McLean, Virginia 22102

NOTICE OF 2015 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

The Annual Meeting of Stockholders of WidePoint Corporation will be held on Thursday, December 17, 2015 at
10:00 a.m., EST, at the Washington, D.C. offices of Foley & Lardner LLP, located at 3000 K Street, N.W., Sixth
Floor, Washington, D.C. 20007 to consider and vote on the following matters described in the accompanying proxy
statement:

·

To elect the three director nominees named in the attached proxy statement as Class III directors to serve for a
three-year period until the Annual Meeting of Stockholders in the year 2018 and to elect the one director nominee
named in the attached proxy statement as a Class I director to serve until the Annual Meeting of Stockholders in the
year 2016;

· To ratify the selection of Moss Adams LLP as the Company’s independent accountants; and

· To transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting.

Stockholders of record at the close of business on October 23, 2015 are entitled to receive notice of, and to vote in
person or by proxy at, the Annual Meeting.

By order of the Board of Directors,

J.T. McCubbin

James T. McCubbin
Corporate Secretary

October 30, 2015
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WIDEPOINT CORPORATION

7926 Jones Branch Drive, Suite 520

McLean, Virginia 22102

PROXY STATEMENT

This Proxy Statement is furnished in connection with the solicitation by the Board of Directors of WidePoint
Corporation, a Delaware corporation (referred to herein as “WidePoint,” the “Company,” “we” or “our”), of proxies of
stockholders to be voted at the 2015 WidePoint Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held at the Washington, D.C.
offices of Foley & Lardner LLP, located at 3000 K Street, N.W., Sixth Floor, Washington, D.C. 20007 at 10:00 a.m.,
EST, on Thursday, December 17, 2015, and any and all adjournments thereof.

Any stockholder executing a proxy retains the right to revoke it at any time prior to its being exercised by giving
written notice to the Secretary of the Company.

This Proxy Statement and the accompanying proxy are first being sent to stockholders of the Company on or about
October 30, 2015.

Notice of Electronic Availability of Proxy Materials

In accordance with regulations adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission, instead of mailing a printed copy
of our proxy materials, including our annual report to stockholders, to each stockholder of record, we may now furnish
these materials by mail or e-mail. On or about October 30, 2015, we mailed to our stockholders who have not
previously requested to receive these materials by mail or e-mail a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials
containing instructions on how to access this proxy statement and our annual report and to vote online. The Notice
instructs you as to how you may access and review all of the important information contained in the proxy materials.
The Notice also instructs you as to how you may submit your proxy on the Internet or by telephone. If you received
the Notice by mail, you will not automatically receive a printed copy of our proxy materials or annual report unless
you follow the instructions for requesting these materials included in the Notice. For directions to the Annual Meeting,
please contact James McCubbin at jmccubbin@widepoint.com or at (703) 349-2577.
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Voting Procedures and Securities

Your Vote is Very Important

Whether or not you plan to attend the meeting, please take the time to vote your shares as soon as possible. You may
submit your vote by completing, signing, dating and returning the proxy card by mail. We encourage you to vote via
the Internet or by telephone. These methods save us significant postage and processing charges.

1
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Vote Required, Abstentions and Broker Non-Votes

Shares of WidePoint common stock represented by proxy will be voted according to the instructions, if any, given in
the proxy. Unless otherwise instructed, the person or persons named in the proxy will vote (1) FOR the election of the
nominees for director listed herein (or a substitute in the event any of the nominees are unavailable for election); (2)
FOR the ratification of the selection of Moss Adams LLP as the independent accountants for the Company for the
current fiscal year; and (3) in their discretion, with respect to such other business as may properly come before the
meeting. The Board of Directors has designated Steve L. Komar and James T. McCubbin, and each or any of them, as
proxies to vote the shares of common stock solicited on its behalf.

Votes cast by proxy or in person at the Annual Meeting will be tabulated by an inspector of election appointed by the
Company for the meeting. A quorum of stockholders is necessary to hold a valid meeting. A quorum will be present if
at least a majority of the outstanding shares of common stock of the Company entitled to vote are present at the
Annual Meeting in person or by proxy. A director is elected by a plurality of the votes cast at the Annual Meeting,
which means that the nominees who receive the highest number of properly executed votes will be elected as a
director, even if that nominee did not receive a majority of the votes cast. The ratification of the appointment of Moss
Adams LLP as the Company’s independent accountants requires the affirmative vote of the majority of the votes
present, in person or by proxy, and voting at the Annual Meeting.

The inspector of election will treat abstentions as shares that are present and entitled to vote for purposes of
determining the presence of a quorum, but as unvoted for purposes of determining the approval of any matter
submitted to the stockholders for a vote. Your broker, bank or other nominee is permitted to vote your shares on the
ratification of the appointment of Moss Adams LLP as our independent auditor without receiving voting instructions
from you. All other items are "non-discretionary" items. This means brokerage firms that have not received voting
instructions from their clients on any proposal other than the appointment of Moss Adams LLP will not be permitted
to vote such shares for any other matters at the Annual Meeting. These "broker non-votes" will be included in the
calculation of the number of votes considered to be present at the Annual Meeting for purposes of determining a
quorum, but will not be considered in determining the number of votes necessary for approval and will have no effect
on the outcome of any of the proposals because in tabulating the voting results, shares that constitute broker non-votes
are not considered votes cast on that proposal.

The cost of soliciting proxies will be borne by the Company. Certain of our officers and other employees may, without
compensation other than their regular compensation, solicit proxies by further mailing or personal conversations, or by
telephone, facsimile or other electronic means. We will also, upon request, reimburse brokers and other persons
holding stock in their names, or in the names of nominees, for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses for forwarding
proxy materials to the beneficial owners of our stock and to obtain proxies.
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Shares Outstanding

As of October 23, 2015, the record date for determining stockholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting, a total of
82,520,696 shares of common stock of the Company, par value $.001 per share, which is the only class of voting
securities of the Company, were issued and outstanding. All holders of record of the common stock as of the close of
business on October 23, 2015 are entitled to one vote for each share held when voting at the Annual Meeting, or any
adjournment thereof, upon the matters listed in the Notice of Annual Meeting. Cumulative voting is not permitted.

Other Business

The Board knows of no other matters to be presented for stockholder action at the meeting. If other matters are
properly brought before the meeting, the persons named as proxies in the accompanying proxy card intend to vote the
shares represented by them in accordance with their best judgment.

3
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Proposal One – Election of Directors

The Company’s Board is classified into three classes of directors, with one class of directors being elected at each
annual meeting of stockholders of the Company to serve for a term of three years or until the earlier expiration of the
term of their class of directors or until their successors are elected and take office as provided below. To maintain the
staggered terms of election of directors, stockholders of the Company are voting upon the election of three Class III
directors to serve for a three-year period until the 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and one Class I director to
serve until the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

The Bylaws of the Company provide that the Board will determine the number of directors to serve on the Board. The
Company’s Board presently consists of six members and there is a director vacancy in Class I. The Board, upon the
recommendation of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee, has nominated Paul Johnson for election
to the Board as a director to fill the vacancy in Class I. All other director nominees are currently serving as members
of the Board.

Proxies will be voted at the Annual Meeting, unless authority is withheld, FOR the election of the persons named
below. The Company does not contemplate that the persons named below will be unable or will decline to serve;
however, if such nominee is unable or declines to serve, the persons named in the accompanying proxy will vote for a
substitute, or substitutes, in their discretion.

Class III Director Nominees For a Term That Will Expire at the 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders:

Name Age Position

James Ritter 71 Director, Chairman of the Compensation and Corporate Governance and Nominating
Committees

Otto Guenther 74 Director
George
Norwood 73 Director

James M. Ritter has served as a director since December 1999 and served as Assistant Secretary of the Company
from December 2002 until 2008. Mr. Ritter is the Chairman of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee
and the Compensation Committee and is also a member of the Audit Committee. Mr. Ritter is the retired Corporate
Headquarters Chief Information Officer of Lockheed Martin Corporation. Prior to his retirement in February 2001,
Mr. Ritter was employed at Lockheed Martin Corporation for over 32 years in various positions involving high level
IT strategic planning and implementation, e-commerce development, integrated financial systems, and large-scale
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distributed systems.
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Mr. Ritter brings to the Board extensive knowledge of information systems and managerial experience as a result of a
career managing and building complex information technology systems. This experience, as well as his independence
from the Company, his prior performance as a Board member led the Board to conclude that he should continue to
serve as a director of the Company.

Lieutenant General (Ret.) Otto J. Guenther has served as a director since his appointment on August 15, 2007.
General Guenther serves as a member of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee. He joined the Board
after a distinguished 34-year military career, including serving as the Army’s first chief information officer, followed
by nearly a decade of exceptional leadership within the federal information technology industry. His key assignments
included the following: commanding general for Fort Monmouth, NJ, and the Communications Electronics
Command; program executive officer for the Army’s tactical communications equipment; project manager for the
Tactical Automated Data Distribution System; and commander for the Defense Federal Acquisition Regulatory
Council. General Guenther recently retired from Northrop Grumman Mission Systems, where he served as the Sector
Vice President and General Manager of Tactical Systems Division. While there, he oversaw battlefield digitization,
command and control, and system engineering activities for the U.S. Army. Under his leadership, the division grew to
approximately 1,650 employees across several locations and completed over $700 million in acquisitions. Previously
General Guenther was general manager of Computer Associates International’s Federal Systems Group, a $300 million
operation providing IT products and services to the federal market area. General Guenther was awarded several
honors by the U.S. Army, including the Distinguished Service Medal, Legion of Merit (Oak Leaf Cluster), Defense
Superior Service Medal (Oak Leaf Cluster), Joint Service Medal, and Army Commendation Medal. Recognized for
his work within the industry, he also received several Armed Forces Communications and Electronics Association
awards and was inducted into the Government Computer News Hall of Fame. Currently, General Guenther sits on two
educational foundations, AFCEA Education Foundation and Aurora Foundation, and since 2006 has been an active
trustee at McDaniel College. General Guenther received a Bachelor of Science Degree in Economics from Western
Maryland College, now called McDaniel College, and a Master’s Degree in Procurement and Contracting from the
Florida Institute of Technology.

General Guenther brings to the Board extensive knowledge of the federal marketplace as a result of a career that has
spanned both military and informational technology industries. In addition, General Guenther’s knowledge of federal
infrastructure as well as experience in successful business development and board service is particularly valuable to
the Company. This experience, as well as his independence from the Company and his prior performance as a Board
member, led the Board to conclude that he should continue to serve as a director of the Company.

5
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Major General (Ret.) George W. Norwood has served as a director since his appointment on August 15, 2007.
General Norwood serves as a member of the Audit Committee and the Compensation Committee. General Norwood
also currently serves on the board of directors of Scalable Network Technologies. He is also on the boards of advisors
of Peduzzi Associates, Ltd., AtHoc, Inc. and Airborne Tactical Advantage Company. General Norwood brings to the
Board extensive knowledge of the federal marketplace as a result of a distinguished 30-year military career and more
than 12-years in the commercial market with significant experience in both military and defense contracting.

General Norwood is currently President and Chief Executive Officer of Norwood & Associates, Inc. of Tampa, Fla.,
which maintains extensive international and U.S. networks of government, military and private sector contacts while
providing technical and strategic planning expertise to corporations pursuing defense-related opportunities. General
Norwood previously served as Deputy Chief of Staff for the United Nations Command and United States Forces in
Korea from 1995 to 1997. He also served as the U.S. member of the United Nations Command’s Military Armistice
Commission responsible for crucial general officer level negotiations with North Korea.

General Norwood received a Bachelor of Science Degree in Mathematics from San Diego State University and a
Master’s Degree in Business Administration from Golden Gate University. He is also a graduate of the National War
College and Defense Language Institute.

General Norwood’s experience supporting the federal infrastructure as well as his experience in successful business
development and board service is particularly valuable to the Company. This experience, as well as his independence
from the Company and his prior performance as a Board member, led the Board to conclude that he should continue to
serve as a director of the Company.

Class I Director Nominee For a Term That Will Expire at the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders:

Name Age Position

Paul Johnson 54 Director Nominee

Paul Johnson is a nominee for director. Since its inception in 2012, Mr. Johnson has managed Nicusa Investment
Advisors, a firm focused on advising senior management and boards of directors on governance, strategy, capital
allocation, and shareholder value creation. Mr. Johnson is also a senior advisor to Bowen Advisors, an organization
focused on offering M&A and strategic advisory services to emerging and high growth technology firms. Prior to the
inception of Nicusa Investment Advisors in 2012, Mr. Johnson was the general partner and investment manager of
Nicusa Capital Partners, a private investment partnership that he started in 2003, which invested in virtually all sectors
of the economy, with a concentration in technology. Prior to founding Nicusa, Mr. Johnson was a Managing Director
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in the Equity Research Department of Robertson Stephens, where he worked from 1994 through 2002. Mr. Johnson
has been an Adjunct Professor of Finance at the Graduate School of Business, Columbia University, since 1992,
where he teaches courses on securities analysis and value investing. Mr. Johnson was appointed as a Fellow to the
Gabelli Center for Global Security Analysis at Fordham University in August 2015 and will teach an introductory
class on value investing at the Fordham University Graduate Business School starting in January 2016. Mr. Johnson is
co-author of The Gorilla Game, Picking Winners in High Technology, was a contributing annotator in 2012 to The
Most Important Thing Illuminated, by Howard Marks, and wrote the history of value investing in the forthcoming
book celebrating the 100-year history of the Columbia Business School. Mr. Johnson is also co-author of the
forthcoming, Pitch the Perfect Investment, The Essential Guide to Winning on Wall Street. Mr. Johnson has a B.A. in
Economics from the University of California, Berkeley and an MBA in Finance from the Executive Program at the
Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania.

6
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In January, 2003, the SEC commenced a civil enforcement action against Mr. Johnson, alleging two counts of
securities fraud with respect to research reports on three companies prepared by Mr. Johnson, primarily from the
failure to disclose personal financial interests in the companies that were the subject of the reports. On November 11,
2005, a jury returned a verdict finding that Mr. Johnson violated the federal securities laws in connection with the
research reports. Mr. Johnson resolved the civil action and related administrative proceedings by entering into a
settlement with the SEC (i) enjoining him, for a period of five (5) years, from future securities violations, (ii) requiring
disgorgement of certain profits, (iii) requiring payment of a civil penalty and (iv) consenting to a five-year bar from
association with any broker or dealer that ended on July 23, 2011.

We believe that Mr. Johnson brings to the Board extensive knowledge of corporate governance, corporate strategy,
and capital allocation as well as shareholder value creation. This experience and knowledge led the Board to conclude
that he should continue to serve as a director of the Company.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU

VOTE FOR THE ELECTION OF THE ABOVE NOMINEES AS

DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY.

Directors Not Being Elected in 2015:

The directors whose terms are not expiring this year are listed below. They will continue to serve as directors for the
remainder of their terms or until their respective successors are elected and qualified, or until their earlier death,
resignation or removal. Information regarding each of such directors is provided below.

Class I Director With a Term That Will Expire at the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders:

Name Age Position

Morton Taubman 72 Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee

7
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Morton S. Taubman has served as a director since his appointment on March 10, 2006 to serve out the remaining
term of G.W. Norman Wareham, who resigned his position on March 7, 2006. Mr. Taubman is also the Chairman of
the Audit Committee and is a member of the Compensation Committee and the Corporate Governance and
Nominating Committee. Mr. Taubman has experience as a certified public accountant and is currently an attorney
with expertise in corporate law, government contracting and international relations. Prior to forming Hunter Taubman
Fischer law firm, Mr. Taubman was the senior vice president and general counsel to DIGICON Corporation, an IT and
telecommunications company. Before joining DIGICON, he was a senior partner at Ginsburg, Feldman and Bress,
LLP, an established Washington, D.C. firm that provided expertise in tax, telecommunications, litigation, federal
regulatory issues, capital reformation, government contracting and international issues. Before that, he was a founding
partner at a number of law firms, was the partner-in-charge of the Washington D.C. office of Laventhol & Harworth,
in charge of the Washington, D.C. tax department at Coopers & Lybrand and a special agent with the U.S. Treasury
Department. Mr. Taubman has been an adjunct law professor for more than 15 years at Georgetown University and
George Washington University. He presently also serves as special corporate counsel to to Interior Systems, Inc. d/b/a
ISI Professional Services, a United States federal contractor. He holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in Accounting
from the University of Baltimore, a Juris Doctor Degree from the University of Baltimore Law School, and a Masters
of Law Degree from Georgetown University.

Mr. Taubman brings to the Board financial expertise and is qualified as an audit committee financial expert. Mr.
Taubman also brings to the Board a wealth of experience as a financial and legal professional serving as a partner at
both major auditing and legal firms. This experience, as well as his independence from the Company and his prior
performance as a Board member, led the Board to conclude that he should serve as a director of the Company.

Class II Directors With a Term That Will Expire at the 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders:

Name Age Position

Steve L. Komar 74 Chief Executive Officer, Director, and Chairman of the Board
James McCubbin 51 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Secretary, Treasurer and Director

Steve L. Komar has served as a director since December 1997 and became Chairman of the Board in October 2001.
Mr. Komar has also served as Chief Executive Officer since December 2001. From June 2000 until December 2001,
Mr. Komar served as a founding partner of C-III Holdings, a development stage financial services company. From
1991 to June 2000, Mr. Komar served as Group Executive Vice President of Fiserv, Inc., a company that provides
advanced data processing services and related products to the financial industry. From 1980 to 1991, Mr. Komar
served in a number of financial management positions with CitiGroup, including the role of Chief Financial Officer of
Diners Club International and Citicorp Information Resources, respectively. Mr. Komar is a graduate of the City
University of New York with a Bachelor of Science Degree in Accounting and holds a Master’s Degree in Finance
from Pace University.
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Mr. Komar brings extensive financial and operational management experience to the Board as a result of his past
operational experience at several large firms where he held senior executive positions in areas including financial and
operational management and mergers and acquisitions. The financial and managerial skills he developed over a career
that has spanned more than 45 years, as well as Mr. Komar’s experience as our Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer, his knowledge of our Company as a result thereof, and his prior performance serving as a Board
member of the Company, led the Board to conclude that he should continue to serve as a director of the Company.

James T. McCubbin has served as a director and as our Secretary since November 1998. Since August 1998, Mr.
McCubbin has also served as our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Prior to that time, from
December 1997 to August 1998, Mr. McCubbin served as Vice President, Controller, Assistant Secretary and
Treasurer. Prior to the commencement of his employment with WidePoint in November 1997, Mr. McCubbin held
various financial management positions with several companies in the financial and government sectors. Mr.
McCubbin is a graduate of the University of Maryland with a Bachelor of Science Degree in Finance and a Master’s
Degree in International Management. Mr. McCubbin brings extensive financial and corporate compliance expertise as
well as internal knowledge of the Company as a result of his having over 13 years of experience with the Company.
Mr. McCubbin also has significant experience serving in financial managerial roles within a variety of organizations
and membership on several boards of directors over the past 25 years.

Mr. McCubbin also presently serves on the Board of Directors of ProPhase Labs, Inc. and serves on their Audit
Committee. Mr. McCubbin was also on the Board of Directors of Redmile Entertainment until his resignation on
March 1, 2008 and on the Board of Directors of Tianjin Pharmaceutical Company and was its Chairman of its Audit
Committee, Nominating Committee, and Compensation Committee until his resignation on June 4, 2012. Mr.
McCubbin subsequent to his resignation on the Board of Directors of Tianjin Pharmaceutical Company continued to
serve as a consultant with the Company. Mr. McCubbin at times consultants on financial and other compliance
matters. These experiences and his prior performance as a Board member led the Board to conclude that he should
continue to serve as a director of the Company.

9
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Board Meetings – Committees of the Board

The Board of Directors held 4 meetings during 2014. During this period, all of the directors attended or participated in
more than 75% of the aggregate of the total number of meetings of the Board of Directors and the total number of
meetings held by all Committees of the Board of Directors on which each such director served.

The Board currently has the following Committees: Audit; Corporate Governance and Nominating; and
Compensation. Each Committee consists entirely of independent, non-employee directors in accordance with the
listing standards of the NYSE MKT. Membership and principal responsibilities of the Board’s Committees are
described below. Each Committee of the Board has adopted a charter and each such charter is available free of charge
on our website, www.widepoint.com, or by writing to WidePoint Corporation, 7926 Jones Branch Drive, Suite 520,
McLean, Virginia 22102, c/o Corporate Secretary.

Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee are:

· Morton S. Taubman (Chair)
· James M. Ritter

· George W. Norwood
· Otto J. Guenther

The Audit Committee met four times in 2014. The Audit Committee has been established in accordance with Section
3(a)(58)(A) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934. The primary functions of the Audit Committee are to:
appoint (subject to stockholder approval), and be directly responsible for the compensation, retention and oversight of,
the firm that will serve as the Company’s independent accountants to audit our financial statements and to perform
services related to the audit (including the resolution of disagreements between management and the independent
accountants regarding financial reporting); review the scope and results of the audit with the independent accountants;
review with management and the independent accountants, prior to the filing thereof, the annual and interim financial
results (including Management’s Discussion and Analysis) to be included in our Forms 10-K and 10-Q, respectively;
consider the adequacy and effectiveness of our internal accounting controls and auditing procedures; review, approve
and thereby establish procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Company
regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters and for the confidential, anonymous submission
by employees of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters; review and approve related person
transactions in accordance with the policies and procedures of the Company; and consider the accountants’
independence and establish policies and procedures for pre-approval of all audit and non-audit services provided to
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WidePoint by the independent accountants who audit its financial statements. At each meeting, Audit Committee
members may meet privately with representatives of Moss Adams LLP, our independent accountants, and with the
Company’s Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer.
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The Board has determined that Messrs. Taubman, Ritter, Norwood and Guenther each meet the definition of
"independent directors" for purposes of serving on an audit committee under applicable rules of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the listing standards of the NYSE MKT. In addition, the Board has determined that Mr.
Taubman satisfies the “financially sophisticated” requirements set forth in the NYSE MKT Company Guide, and has
designated Mr. Taubman as the “audit committee financial expert,” as such term is defined in the rules and regulations
of the SEC.

Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee

The members of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee are:

· James M. Ritter (Chair)
· Morton S. Taubman
· Otto J. Guenther
· George W. Norwood

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee met 1 time in 2014. The primary functions of this Committee
are to: identify individuals qualified to become Board members and recommend to the Board the nominees for
election to the Board at the next Annual Meeting of Stockholders; review annually and recommend changes to the
Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines; lead the Board in its annual review of the performance of the Board and
its committees; review policies and make recommendations to the Board concerning the size and composition of the
Board, the qualifications and criteria for election to the Board, retirement from the Board, compensation and benefits
of non-employee directors, the conduct of business between WidePoint and any person or entity affiliated with a
director, and the structure and composition of the Board’s Committees; review the Company’s policies and programs
relating to compliance with its Code of Business Conduct and such other matters as may be brought to the attention of
the Committee regarding WidePoint’s role as a responsible corporate citizen. See “Identification and Evaluation of
Director Candidates” and “Director Compensation” in this proxy statement.

Compensation Committee

The members of the Compensation Committee are:

· James M. Ritter (Chair)
· Morton S. Taubman
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· George W. Norwood
· Otto J. Guenther
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The Compensation Committee met 2 times in 2014. The primary functions of the Compensation Committee are to:
evaluate and approve executive compensation plans, policies and programs, including review of relevant corporate
and individual goals and objectives, as submitted by the Chief Executive Officer; evaluate the Chief Executive
Officer’s performance relative to established goals and objectives and, together with the other independent directors,
determine and approve the Chief Executive Officer’s compensation level based on this evaluation; review and approve
the annual salary and other remuneration of all other officers; review the management development program,
including executive succession plans; review with management, prior to the filing thereof, the executive compensation
disclosure included in this proxy statement; recommend individuals for election as officers; and review or take such
other action as may be required in connection with the bonus, stock and other benefit plans of WidePoint and its
subsidiaries.

Director Independence

The listing standards of the NYSE MKT require that our Board be comprised of a majority of "independent directors"
and that the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee each
be comprised solely of "independent directors," as defined under the listing standards of the NYSE MKT.

The Company’s Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee conducts an annual review of the independence of
the members of the Board and its Committees and reports its findings to the full Board of Directors. Based on the
report and recommendation of the Corporate Governance Committee, the Board has determined that each of the
Company’s non-employee directors and its director nominee—Messrs. Taubman, Ritter, Guenther, Norwood and
Johnson—satisfy the independence criteria (including the enhanced criteria with respect to members of the Audit
Committee) set forth in the listing standards of the NYSE MKT and Securities and Exchange Commission rules. Each
of the Board’s Committees consists entirely of independent, non-employee directors.

Identification and Evaluation of Director Candidates

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee is charged with seeking individuals qualified to become
directors and recommending candidates for all directorships to the full Board of Directors. The Committee considers
director candidates in anticipation of upcoming director elections and other potential or expected Board vacancies.

The Committee considers director candidates suggested by members of the Committee, other directors, senior
management and stockholders.
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Director candidates are reviewed by the Committee based on the needs of the Board and the Company’s various
constituencies, their relative skills, characteristics and age, and against the following qualities and skills that are
considered desirable for Board membership: exemplification of the highest standards of personal and professional
integrity; independence from management under applicable securities laws, listing standards, and the Company’s
Corporate Governance Principles; experience and industry and educational background; potential contribution to the
composition, diversity and culture of the Board; and ability and willingness to constructively challenge management
through active participation in Board and committee meetings and to otherwise devote sufficient time to Board duties.

The Committee’s charter includes diversity as one of the criteria used to evaluate director candidates. The Corporate
Governance and Nominating Committee may consider diversity in its broadest sense when evaluating candidates.
Though we do not have a formal policy regarding how diversity will be considered in identifying potential director
nominees, our Corporate Governance Guidelines direct that the evaluation of nominees should include (but not be
limited to) an assessment of whether a nominee would provide the Board with a diversity of viewpoints, backgrounds,
experiences, and other demographics.

In evaluating the needs of the Board, the Committee considers the qualifications of sitting directors and consults with
other members of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer and other members of senior management. All recommended
candidates must possess the requisite personal and professional integrity, meet any required independence standards,
and be willing and able to constructively participate in, and contribute to, Board and committee meetings.
Additionally, the Committee conducts regular reviews of current directors whose terms are nearing expiration, but
who may be proposed for re-election, in light of the considerations described above and their past contributions to the
Board.

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee has adopted a policy pursuant to which a stockholder who has
owned at least 5% of the Company’s outstanding shares of common stock for at least two years may recommend a
director candidate that the Committee will consider when there is a vacancy on the Board either as a result of a
director resignation or an increase in the size of the Board. Such recommendation must be made in writing addressed
to the Chairman of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee at the Company’s principal executive
offices and must be received by the Chairman at least 120 days prior to the anniversary date of the release of the prior
year’s proxy statement.

Although the Committee has not formulated any specific minimum qualifications that the Committee believes must be
met by a nominee that the Committee recommends to the Board, the factors it will take into account will include
strength of character, mature judgment, career specialization, relevant technical skills or financial acumen, diversity of
viewpoint and industry knowledge. There will be no differences between the manner in which the Committee
evaluates a nominee recommended by a stockholder and the manner in which the Committee evaluates nominees
recommended by other persons.
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The Company did not receive in a timely manner, in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission’s
requirements, any recommendation of a director candidate from a stockholder, or group of stockholders, that
beneficially owned more than 5% of the Company’s common stock for at least two years as of the date of
recommendation.

Process for Communicating with Board Members

Interested parties may communicate directly with the Board, or the presiding director for an upcoming meeting or the
non-employee directors as a group, by writing to WidePoint Corporation, 7926 Jones Branch, Suite 520, McLean,
Virginia 22102, c/o Corporate Secretary. Communications may also be sent to individual directors at the above
address.

Director Attendance at Annual Meetings

The Company has adopted a policy that each director should attempt to attend and/or be available via online access or
phone for each Annual Meeting of Stockholders. All members of the Board were available and/or attended last year’s
Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Board Leadership Structure and Role in Risk Oversight

Our Corporate Governance Guidelines allow flexibility as to whether the role of Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board are separated or combined. The Board’s policy is to adopt the practice that best serves the
Company at any point in time. At this time, the Board believes that combining the role of Chairman of the Board with
the role of Chief Executive Officer provides the most effective and efficient leadership model for the Company.
Combining the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer roles fosters clear accountability, effective decision-making
and alignment on corporate strategy. Currently, Steve L. Komar serves as our Chief Executive Officer and as our
Chairman of the Board.

Because we have combined the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer roles, pursuant to our Corporate Governance
Guidelines, our independent directors have designated Mr. Ritter to serve as the Presiding Independent Director to
further strengthen our governance structure. The Presiding Independent Director is responsible for coordinating the
activities of the independent directors, calling for meetings or sessions of the independent directors, presiding at
executive sessions and coordinating the agenda for such sessions with at least two such meetings being held annually,
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facilitating communications and functioning as principal liaison on Board-wide issues between independent directors
and the Chairman of the Board, and when necessary, recommending the retention of outside advisors and consultants
who report directly to Board.
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Non-management members of the Board of Directors conduct at least two regularly scheduled meetings per year
without members of management being present. Following an executive session of non-employee directors, the
Presiding Independent Director may act as a liaison between the non-employee directors and the Chairman, provide
the Chairman with input regarding agenda items for Board of Directors and Committee meetings, and coordinate with
the Chairman regarding information to be provided to the non-employee directors in performing their duties.

The Board oversees the management of the risks inherent in the operation of the Company’s business. This is
accomplished principally through the Audit Committee. Additionally, the Compensation Committee is responsible for
overseeing the assessment of risks associated with the Company’s compensation policies and programs. Each of these
committees receives and discusses reports regularly with members of management who are responsible for applicable
day-to-day risk management functions of the Company, and reports regularly to the Board. The Board’s, the Audit
Committee’s and the Compensation Committee’s respective roles in our risk oversight process have not affected our
Board leadership structure.

Director Compensation

Directors who are not also officers or employees receive an annual fee of $12,000; however, for a six month period in
fiscal 2014, each director voluntarily agreed to a 10% reduction in director fees beginning on June 1, 2014 and ending
on December 31, 2014. The following table sets forth director compensation for the year ended December 31, 2014:

Fees Earned Option All Other
or Paid Awards Compensation

Director Name ($) ($) ($) Total
James Ritter $ 11,400 $ - $ - $11,400
Morton Taubman $ 11,400 $ - $ - $11,400
George Norwood $ 11,400 $ - $ - $11,400
Otto Guenther $ 11,400 $ - $ - $11,400

Section 16(A) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, requires the Company’s officers and directors, and
persons who own more than 10% of a registered class of the Company’s equity securities, to file reports of securities
ownership and changes in such ownership with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Statements of Changes in
Beneficial Ownership of Securities on Form 4 are generally required to be filed before the end of the second business
day following the day on which the change in beneficial ownership occurred. Based on the Company's review of
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Executive Officers

The Company’s executive officers are as follows:

Name Age Position
Steve L. Komar 74 Chief Executive Officer, Director, and Chairman of the Board
James
McCubbin 51 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Secretary, Treasurer and Director

Jin Kang 51 Executive Vice President, Chief Operations Officer, Chief Executive Officer and President of
iSYS LLC

For information with respect to Steve L. Komar and James McCubbin, please see the information about the members
of our Board of Directors on the preceding pages. There are no family relationships among any of our executive
officers or directors.

Jin Kang has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operations Officer of WidePoint since June 30, 2012. Mr.
Kang was appointed Chief Operations Officer on June 30, 2012. Mr. Kang has also served as the Chief Executive
Officer and President of iSYS, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, since our acquisition of iSYS on January
4, 2008. Mr. Kang founded the company in 1999 and has managed iSYS since its inception. Mr. Kang has over 26
years of professional experience in the Federal Government Information Technology Services field. Prior to founding
iSYS, Mr. Kang was a Division Manager for Science Applications International Corporation (SAIC). His
responsibilities included the Combined DNA Index System (CODIS), a marquee program for the FBI Laboratory
Division. As the Engineering Manager for Northrop Grumman Corporation, Mr. Kang played a critical role in the
successful management of the Defense Medical Information Systems/Systems Integration, Design Development,
Operations and Maintenance Services (D/SIDDOMS) contract from its inception with zero revenues to a program of
$190 million in sales. Mr. Kang received a Bachelor and Master’s Degrees in Computer Science and Computer
Systems Management from the University of Maryland.
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Principal Stockholders

Security Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers

The following tables set forth the number of shares of our common stock beneficially owned as of October 23, 2015
by each director, director nominee, executive officer and beneficial owner of more than 5% of the outstanding shares
of the common stock as of October 23, 2015. In general, “beneficial ownership” includes those shares a director or
executive officer has the power to vote or transfer, except as otherwise noted, and shares underlying warrants and
stock options that are exercisable currently or within 60 days. The calculation of the percentage of outstanding shares
is based on 82,520,696 shares outstanding as of October 23, 2015. The mailing address for each of our directors,
director nominees and officers is 7926 Jones Branch Drive, Suite 520, McLean, Virginia 22102.

Number of Percent of
Directors, Nominees Shares of Common Stock
and Executive Officers Common Stock (1) Outstanding (1)
Steve Komar (2) 2,112,803 2.6 %
Morton Taubman (3) 62,000 *
James McCubbin (4) 1,875,203 2.3 %
James Ritter (5) 90,500 *
Jin Kang (6) 2,993,677 3.6 %
Otto Guenther (7) 62,000 *
George Norwood (8) 62,000 *
Paul Johnson (9) 50,000 *

All directors, director nominees and officers as a group (8 persons) (10) 7,308,183 8.9 %

Number of Percent of
Shares of Common Stock

5% Beneficial Owners Common Stock (1) Outstanding (1)
Nokomis Capital, L.L.C. (11) 12,774,251 15.5 %

* Less than 1%.

(1)Assumes in the case of each stockholder listed above that all warrants or options held by such stockholder that are
exercisable currently or within 60 days of October 23, 2013 were fully exercised by such stockholder, without the
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exercise of any warrants or options held by any other stockholders.

(2)
Includes (i) 1,319,700 shares owned directly by Mr. Komar (excludes 250,000 shares of unvested restricted stock
awards not vesting within 60 days), and (ii) 793,103 shares held by SLK Diversified L.P., a limited partnership
controlled by Mr. Komar, as a result of which such shares are held by Mr. Komar indirectly.
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(3)

Includes 62,000 shares subject to exercisable options to purchase shares of Common Stock, consisting of (i) 12,000
shares that may be purchased at a price of $2.70 per share through March 10, 2016, pursuant to a director stock
option granted on March 10, 2006 and (ii) 50,000 shares that may be purchased at a price of $0.54 per share
through May 11, 2019, pursuant to a stock option granted on May 11, 2009.

(4) Excludes 250,000 shares of unvested restricted stock awards not vesting within 60 days.

(5)Includes (i) 65,500 shares owned directly by Mr. Ritter and (ii) 25,000 shares of Common Stock that may bepurchased at a price of $0.54 per share through May 11, 2019, under an option granted on May 11, 2009.

(6)
Includes (i) 2,880,344 shares owned directly by Mr. Kang, and (ii) 113,333 shares subject to exercisable options to
purchase shares from the Company. Excludes from shares owned 81,667 unvested options to purchase shares of
common stock.

(7)

Includes 62,000 shares subject to exercisable options to purchase shares Common Stock, consisting of (i) 12,000
shares that may be purchased at a price of $0.93 per share through August 15, 2017, pursuant to a director stock
option granted on August 15, 2007 and (ii) 50,000 shares that may be purchased at a price of $0.54 per share
through May 11, 2019, pursuant to a stock option granted on May 11, 2009.

(8)

Includes 62,000 shares subject to exercisable options to purchase shares Common Stock, consisting of (i) 12,000
shares that may be purchased at a price of $0.93 per share through August 15, 2017, pursuant to a director stock
option granted on August 15, 2007 and (ii) 50,000 shares that may be purchased at a price of $0.54 per share
through May 11, 2019, pursuant to a stock option granted on May 11, 2009.

(9)Includes 50,000 shares subject to exercisable options to purchase shares of Common Stock that may be purchasedat a price of $1.60 per share through February 11, 2016.

(10) Includes the shares referred to as included in notes (2) through (9) above.

(11)

Information derived from Amendment No. 1 to Schedule 13G filed on October 2, 2015 and a Form 4 filed on
September 22, 2015 on behalf of Nokomis Capital, L.L.C., a Texas limited liability company (“Nokomis Capital”),
and Mr. Brett Hendrickson, the principal of Nokomis Capital. Nokomis Capital serves as the investment adviser
to certain private funds and managed accounts (collectively, the “Nokomis Accounts”) and may direct the vote and
dispose of the shares of common stock held by the Nokomis Accounts. As the principal of Nokomis Capital, Mr.
Hendrickson may direct the vote and disposition of the shares of common stock held by the Nokomis Accounts.
Pursuant to Rule 16a-1, both Nokomis Capital and Mr. Hendrickson disclaim such beneficial ownership. The
principal office of Nakomis Capital is located at 2305 Cedar Springs Rd., Suite 420, Dallas, TX 75201.
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Executive Compensation

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

This compensation discussion and analysis describes the material elements of compensation awarded to, earned by, or
paid to each of our named executive officers, whom we refer to as our “NEOs,” during 2014 and describes our policies
and decisions made with respect to the information contained in the following tables, related footnotes and narrative
for 2014. The NEOs are identified below in the table titled “Summary Compensation Table.” In this compensation
discussion and analysis, we also describe various actions regarding NEO compensation take before or after 2014 when
we believe it enhances the understanding of our executive compensation program.

Overview of Our Executive Compensation Philosophy and Design

We believe that a skilled, experienced and dedicated executive and senior management team is essential to the future
performance of our Company and to building stockholder value. We have sought to establish competitive
compensation programs that enable us to attract and retain executive officers with these qualities. The other objectives
of our compensation programs for our executive officers are the following:

· to motivate our executive officers to achieve strong financial performance;

· to attract and retain executive officers who we believe have the experience, temperament, talents and convictions tocontribute significantly to our future success; and

· to align the economic interests of our executive officers with the interests of our stockholders.

Setting Executive Compensation

Our compensation committee has primary responsibility for, among other things, determining our compensation
philosophy, evaluating the performance of our NEOs, setting the compensation and other benefits of our NEOs,
overseeing the Company’s response to the outcome of the advisory votes of stockholders on executive compensation,
assessing the relative enterprise risk of our compensation program and administering our equity compensation plans.
The Company’s compensation planning is done annually for cash based performance goals and in multi-year periods
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It is our Chief Executive Officer’s responsibility to provide recommendations to the Compensation Committee for
most compensation matters related to executive compensation. The recommendations are based on a general analysis
of market standards and trends and an evaluation of the contribution of each executive officer to the Company’s
performance. Our Compensation Committee considers, but retains the right to accept, reject or modify such
recommendations and has the right to obtain independent compensation advice. Neither the Chief Executive Officer
nor any other members of management is present during executive sessions of the Compensation Committee. The
Chief Executive Officer is not present when decisions with respect to his compensation are made. Our Board of
Directors appoints the members of our compensation committee and delegates to the compensation committee the
direct responsibility for overseeing the design and administration of our executive compensation program.

We have not historically utilized a compensation consultant to set the compensation of our NEOs.

Elements of Executive Compensation

We believe the most effective compensation package for our NEOs is one designed to reward achievement of
individual and corporate objectives, provide for short-term, medium-term and long-term financial and strategic goals
and align the interest of management with those of the stockholders by providing incentives for improving stockholder
value. Compensation for our NEOs consists of base salary and an annual bonus opportunity, along with multi-year
accelerated vesting goals associated with either stock option awards and or stock grant awards. Our annual bonus
opportunity is intended to incentivize the achievement of goals that drive annual and multi-year performance, while
our accelerated stock option and or stock grant vesting goals are intended to incentivize the achievement of goals that
drive multi-year performance.

Base Salary. We pay our NEOs a base salary to compensate them for services rendered and to provide them with a
steady source of income for living expenses throughout the year. The fiscal 2015 base salaries for our NEOs, as well
as the percentage increase from the fiscal 2014 base salaries, are as follows:

Percentage
Increase

Fiscal 2015 Over Fiscal
Base 2014 Base

Name Salary Salary

Steve Komar $ 270,000 8 %(1)
James McCubbin $ 265,000 6 %(1)
Jin Kang $ 265,000 11 %(1)
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(1) NEOs original base salary for fiscal 2014 included a voluntarily agreed to 10% reduction in base salary for five
months. This voluntary reduction ended on December 31, 2014. In addition, the fiscal 2015 base salaries were
increased on April 9, 2015.

Annual Cash Based Bonus Opportunity. The amount of the annual discretionary cash based bonus award is based on
individual performance assessments along with the financial performance of the Company. Our performance-based
cash incentive compensation in recent years has included targets for achieving various levels of revenue, operating
income, and other financial goals and metrics, along with individual performance assessments that has included goals
in personal professional improvement, team building, and other individual personal growth goals. The annual cash
based bonus opportunity is for up to 50% of a NEOs base salary. In 2014, none of our NEOs earned a bonus because
due to our net operating losses.
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We believe these cash based award opportunities reinforce the alignment of interests of our executive officers with
those of our stockholders in the shorter term as the positive financial performance that drives the cash based bonus
awards also indirectly influences the performance of the Company’s common stock. We believe the personal
professional improvement goals enhance the value of the NEO to expand their expertise and expand the effectiveness
of the Company’s staff allowing for greater organization efficiencies while improving Company performance, which
drives short-term, medium-term, and long-term organizational improvement and ultimately value for the stockholders
in the form of better financial and common stock performance.

Restricted Stock Equity Awards. Mr. Komar and Mr. McCubbin were each awarded 250,000 shares of restricted
common stock in 2010 that vest 100% upon the earlier of (i) the seventh anniversary from the date of grant or (ii)
upon an acceleration event that is determined by the Compensation Committee.

Stock Option Equity Awards. Mr. Kang was awarded 170,000 stock options in 2013 that vest one third per year over a
term of three years in order to reward Mr. Kang for improved performance in the Company’s common stock price. On
May 8, 2015, Mr. Kang was awarded 25,000 stock options that vest 50% on each of December 31, 2015 and 2016.

Acceleration of Equity Awards. The acceleration of the common shares and or stock options are tied generally to
performance measures such as earnings before interest, taxes, amortization and depreciation and other triggers
predominately tied to performance goals of the Company. In keeping with our philosophy for incentivizing the
performance of our named executive officers over a medium to longer term horizon the Company has used equity
grants and awards linked to accelerated vesting goals to reinforce the alignment of interest of our named executive
officers with those of our stockholders, as the value of the awards granted thereunder is linked to the value of our
Common Stock, which, in turn, is indirectly attributable to the performance of our executive officers.

Retirement and Other Benefits. We are strongly committed to encouraging all employees to save for retirement. To
provide employees with the opportunity to save for retirement on a tax-deferred basis, we sponsor a defined
contribution 401(k) savings plan. We also provide health, dental, vision and short term disability insurance to our
NEOs on the same basis offered to all of our employees.
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Summary Compensation Table

The following table summarizes the compensation paid by us in each of the last three recently completed fiscal years
for our NEOs:

Name and Principal Position Year Base Salary(1)
Discretionary
Bonus

Equity
Awards (2)

Other
Compensation
(3)

Total
Compensation

Steve Komar 2014 $ 249,167 (4) $ - $ - $ 7,200 $ 256,367
Chief Executive Officer, Director,
and 2013 $ 255,000 $ - $ - $ 7,200 $ 262,200

Chairman of the Board 2012 $ 230,000 $ - $ - $ 7,200 $ 237,200

James McCubbin 2014 $ 249,167 (4) $ - $ - $ 7,200 $ 256,367
Executive Vice President, Chief
Financial 2013 $ 255,000 $ - $ - $ 7,200 $ 262,200

Officer, Secretary, Treasurer and
Director 2012 $ 230,000 $ - $ - $ 7,200 $ 237,200

Jin Kang 2014 $ 239,583 (4) $ - $ - $ - $ 239,583
Executive Vice President & Chief 2013 $ 250,000 $ - $ 96,900 (5) $ - $ 346,900
Operations Officer 2012 $ 250,000 $ 20,000 $ - $ - $ 270,000

(1) Amount represents base salary as set forth in an executive employment agreement.

(2) Amount represents the grant date fair value calculated pursuant to ASC Topic 718. Additional information about
the assumptions used when valuing equity awards is set forth in the notes the consolidated financial statements
included in the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014.

(3) Monthly combined home office and phone allowance of $600 were paid to Mr. Komar and Mr. McCubbin during
fiscal 2014, 2013 and 2012.

(4) For a five month period in fiscal year 2014, Mr. Komar, Mr. McCubbin and Mr. Kang each voluntarily agreed to a
10% reduction in base salary.
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(5) During fiscal 2013 Mr. Kang was granted an equity award of 170,000 options on March 21, 2013 with an
estimated fair value of approximately $96,900.

Grant of Plan Based Awards

None of our NEOs received equity awards in fiscal 2014.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at December 31, 2014

The following table sets forth information on outstanding equity awards held by NEOs at December 31, 2014:

Option Awards Stock Awards

Name

Number
of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
(#)
Exercisable

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)
Unexercisable

Equity
Incentive
Plan
Awards:
Number
of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Unearned
Options
(#)

Option
Exercise
Price
($)

Option
Expiration
Date

Equity
Incentive
Plan
Awards:
Unearned
Shares
or
other
Rights
that have
not
Vested
(#)

Equity
Incentive
Plan
Awards:
Market or
Payout Value
of
Unearned
Shares or
Rights that
have not
Vested ($)

Steve L. Komar, Chief
Executive Officer, Director,
and Chairman of the Board

- - - - - 250,000(1) $ 345,000

James T. McCubbin,
Executive Vice
President, Chief Financial
Officer, Secretary, Treasurer
and Director

- - - - - 250,000(1) $ 345,000

Jin Kang, Executive Vice
President, Chief Operations
Officer, Chief Executive
Officer and President of iSYS
LLC

56,666 113,334 - $ 0.57 3/20/2018 (2) - -

(1)Equity incentive plan awards unearned represent restricted stock awards, which vest on the seventh anniversary ofthe date of grant or earlier upon a determination by the compensation committee that such shares have been earned.

(2) Options vest one-third per year over a term of three years.
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Option Exercises and Stock Vested for Fiscal 2014

None of our NEOs exercised options or had stock vest during the year ended December 31, 2014.
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Employment Agreements and Compensation Arrangements;

Termination and Change in Control Provisions

The following describes the terms of employment agreements between the Company and the named executive officers
included in the above Summary Compensation Table and sets forth information regarding potential payments upon
termination of employment or a change in control of the Company.

Mr. Komar. On April 9, 2015, we entered into an amendment of an employment agreement with Steve Komar, our
Chief Executive Officer and President, dated as of August 13, 2010 and effective as of July 1, 2010. The employment
agreement, as amended, has a term expiring on December 31, 2015. The agreement provides for (1) a base salary of
$270,000, (2) a home office/automobile expense allowance of $600 per month to cover such expenses incurred in the
pursuit of our business; (3) a phone allowance of $100 per month to cover such expenses incurred in the pursuit of our
business; (4) reimbursement for additional actual business expenses consistent with our existing policies that have
been incurred for our benefit; (5) paid medical and other benefits consistent with our existing policies with respect to
our key executives, as such policies may be amended from time to time in the future; and (6) performance incentive
bonuses as may be granted annually at the discretion of the Compensation Committee of the Board. For a five month
period in calendar 2014, Mr. Komar voluntarily agreed to a 10% reduction in base salary.

The employment agreement contains a severance provision which provides that upon the termination of his
employment without Cause (as described below) or his voluntary resignation for a Good Reason (as described below),
Mr. Komar will receive severance compensation payable in a lump-sum of cash equal to the greater of (a) an amount
equal to twelve (12) months of his base salary then in effect, or (b) an amount equal to Mr. Komar’s base salary for the
remainder of the term of the employment agreement as if the employment agreement had not been terminated;
provided that if employment terminates by reason of death or disability, then Mr. McCubbin shall receive a one-time
payment equal to the amount of Base Salary owed for the immediate twelve (12) months following the death or
disability event, or an amount equal the remainder of the contractual term of the employment agreement whichever is
less and all granted but unvested stock options shall be immediately vested and the period of exercise extended for an
additional 2 years.

The employment agreement further provides that if within two years after a change in control of the Company there
occurs any termination of Mr. Komar for any reason other than for Cause or a voluntary resignation without a Good
Reason, then the Company will be required to pay to Mr. Komar a one-time severance payment equal to the greater of
(a) an amount equal to twelve (12) months of his base salary then in effect, or (b) an amount equal to Mr. Komar’s base
salary for the remainder of the term of the employment agreement. If Mr. Komar’s employment terminates for any
reason other than for Cause or a voluntary retirement without Good Reason, Mr. Komar will be eligible to participate,
at the Company’s expense, in all executive medical and dental plans provided by the Company for the remainder of the
term of the employment agreement. Mr. Komar will receive a payment equal to any excise, income and other taxes
resulting from the imposition of parachute penalties of the Internal Revenue Code or applicable state tax law.
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Termination of Mr. Komar’s employment by the Company shall be deemed for “Cause” if, and only if, it is based upon
(i) conviction of a felony by a federal or state court of competent jurisdiction; (ii) material disloyalty to the Company
such as embezzlement or misappropriation of corporate assets; or (iii) engaging in unethical or illegal behavior which
is of a public nature, brings the Company into disrepute, and results in material damage to the Company. A
resignation by Mr. Komar shall not be deemed to be voluntary and shall be deemed to be a resignation with “Good
Reason” if it is based upon (i) a diminution in Mr. Komar’s title, duties, or salary; (ii) a material reduction in benefits;
(iii) a direction by the Board of Directors that Mr. Komar report to any person or group other than the Board of
Directors, or (iv) a geographic relocation of the Company’s primary business operations outside of the Washington
Metropolitan Area.

Mr. McCubbin. On April 9, 2015, we entered into an amendment of an employment agreement with James T.
McCubbin, our Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Secretary and Treasurer, dated as of August 13,
2010 and effective as of July 1, 2010. The amendment to Mr. McCubbin’s employment agreement has a term expiring
on March 31, 2017. The agreement provides for (1) a base salary of $265,000, (2) a home office/automobile expense
allowance of $600 per month to cover such expenses incurred in the pursuit of our business; (3) a phone allowance of
$100 per month to cover such expenses incurred in the pursuit of our business; (4) reimbursement for additional actual
business expenses consistent with our existing policies that have been incurred for our benefit; (5) paid medical and
other benefits consistent with our existing policies with respect to our key executives, as such policies may be
amended from time to time in the future; and (6) performance incentive bonuses as may be granted annually at the
discretion of the Compensation Committee of the Board. For a five month period in calendar 2014, Mr. McCubbin
voluntarily agreed to a 10% reduction in base salary.

The employment agreement contains a severance provision which provides that upon the termination of his
employment without Cause (as described below) or his voluntary resignation for a Good Reason (as described below),
Mr. McCubbin will receive severance compensation payable in a lump-sum of cash equal to the greater of (a) an
amount equal to twelve (12) months of his base salary then in effect, or (b) an amount equal to Mr. McCubbin’s base
salary for the remainder of the term of the employment agreement as if the employment agreement had not been
terminated; provided that if employment terminates by reason of death or disability, then Mr. McCubbin shall receive
a one-time payment equal to the amount of Base Salary owed for the immediate twelve (12) months following the
death or disability event, or an amount equal the remainder of the contractual term of the employment agreement
whichever is less and all granted but unvested stock options shall be immediately vested and the period of exercise
extended for an additional 2 years.
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The employment agreement further provides that if within two years after a change in control of the Company there
occurs any termination of Mr. McCubbin for any reason other than for Cause or a voluntary resignation without a
Good Reason, then the Company will be required to pay to Mr. McCubbin a one-time severance payment equal to the
greater of (a) an amount equal to twelve (12) months of his base salary then in effect, or (b) an amount equal to Mr.
McCubbin’s base salary for the remainder of the term of the employment agreement. If Mr. McCubbin’s employment
terminates for any reason other than for Cause or a voluntary retirement without Good Reason, Mr. McCubbin will be
eligible to participate, at the Company’s expense, in all executive medical and dental plans provided by the Company
for the remainder of the term of the employment agreement. Mr. McCubbin will receive a payment equal to any
excise, income and other taxes resulting from the imposition of parachute penalties of the Internal Revenue Code or
applicable state tax law.

Termination of Mr. McCubbin’s employment by the Company shall be deemed for “Cause” if, and only if, it is based
upon (i) conviction of a felony by a federal or state court of competent jurisdiction; (ii) material disloyalty to the
Company such as embezzlement or misappropriation of corporate assets; or (iii) engaging in unethical or illegal
behavior which is of a public nature, brings the Company into disrepute, and results in material damage to the
Company. A resignation by Mr. McCubbin shall not be deemed to be voluntary and shall be deemed to be a
resignation with “Good Reason” if it is based upon (i) a diminution in Mr. McCubbin’s title, duties, or salary; (ii) a
material reduction in benefits; (iii) a direction by the Board of Directors that Mr. McCubbin report to any person or
group other than the Board of Directors, or (iv) a geographic relocation of the Company’s primary business operations
outside of the Washington Metropolitan Area.

Mr. Kang. On April 9, 2015, we entered into an employment agreement with Jin Kang, our Executive Vice President
and Chief Executive Officer of iSYS LLC and Chief Operations Officer, which replaced Mr. Kang’s prior employment
agreement, dated November 27, 2012. The agreement is for a term ending on December 31, 2016 and provides for (1)
a base salary of $265,000 per year, (2) reimbursement for business expenses, (3) medical and other benefits consistent
with our existing policies with respect to our key executives, as such policies may be amended from time to time in
the future, and (4) bonus compensation in the reasonable discretion of the Compensation Committee of the Board of
Directors.
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Mr. Kang’s employment period will continue from the date of his agreement until December 31, 2016 unless he is
terminated earlier due to (a) Mr. Kang’s death or permanent disability which renders Mr. Kang unable to perform his
duties hereunder (as determined by the Company in its good faith judgment), (b) Mr. Kang’s resignation upon prior
written notice to the Company of one-hundred and eighty (180) days, (c) termination by the Company for Cause or (d)
termination by the Company without Cause upon prior written notice of one-hundred and eighty (180) days. “Cause” is
defined in the Agreement as: (i) the repeated failure or refusal of Mr. Kang to follow the lawful directives of the
Company, or its designee (except due to sickness, injury or disabilities), after prior notice to Mr. Kang and a
reasonable opportunity to cure by Mr. Kang for up to thirty (30) days, (ii) gross inattention to duty or any other
willful, reckless or grossly negligent act (or omission to act) by Mr. Kang, which, in the good faith judgment of the
Company, materially injures the Company, including the repeated failure to follow the policies and procedures of the
Company, after prior written notice to Employee and a reasonable opportunity to cure by Mr. Kang of up to thirty (30)
days, (iii) a material breach of this Agreement by Mr. Kang, after prior written notice to Mr. Kang and a reasonable
opportunity to cure by Mr. Kang of up to thirty (30) days, (iv) the commission by Mr. Kang of a felony or other crime
involving moral turpitude or the commission by Mr. Kang of an act of financial dishonesty against the Company or,
(v) a proper business purpose of the Company, which shall be limited to the elimination of the position filled by Mr.
Kang as a result of a material decrease in revenues and/or profits of the Company, but with other cost cutting
measures and the termination of other employees being first considered and instituted as determined in the sole
judgment of the Company prior to the termination of Mr. Kang; provided, however, that in the event the Company
terminates Mr. Kang under (v) above, then (I) the scope of the non-compete shall be limited to the products and
services offered by the Company as of the termination of Mr. Kang and (II) the Company shall pay to Mr. Kang a
continuation of base salary and benefits each month for the six (6) month period immediately following such
termination. In the event Mr. Kang is terminated without Cause, then the Company shall pay to Mr. Kang a
continuation of base salary and benefits each month for the six (6) month period immediately following such
termination and the non-compete provisions in the agreement shall not apply.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

During the last fiscal year, no member of the Compensation Committee had a relationship with us that required
disclosure under Item 404 of Regulation S-K. During the past fiscal year, none of our executive officers served as a
member of the board of directors or compensation committee, or other committee serving an equivalent function, of
any entity that has one or more executive officers who served as members of our Board of Directors or our
Compensation Committee. None of the members of our Compensation Committee is an officer or employee of our
Company, nor have they ever been an officer or employee of our Company

Compensation Committee Report
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Our Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed the “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” contained
herein with management. Based on our Compensation Committee’s review and discussions with management, our
Compensation Committee recommended to our Board of Directors that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be
included herein.

James M. Ritter (Chair)

Morton S. Taubman

George W. Norwood

Otto J. Guenther
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Certain Related Person Transactions

A related person transaction is a consummated or currently proposed transaction in which the Company has been, is or
will be a participant and the amount involved exceeds $120,000, and in which a related person (i.e., any director or
executive officer or nominee for director, or any member of the immediate family of such person) has or will have a
direct or indirect material interest.

The Company was not a participant in any related person transactions in the past two fiscal years and no such
transactions are currently proposed.

Under the Company’s corporate governance principles (the “Corporate Governance Principles”), a majority of the
Company’s Board will consist of independent directors. An “independent” director is a director who meets the NYSE
MKT definition of independence and other applicable independence standards under SEC guidelines, as determined
by the Board. The Company’s Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee conduct an annual review of the
independence of the members of the Board and its Committees and report its findings to the full Board of Directors.
Based on the report and recommendation of the Corporate and Nominating Governance Committee, the Board has
determined that each of the Company’s non-employee directors—Messrs. Taubman, Ritter, Guenther, and
Norwood—satisfies the independence criteria (including the enhanced criteria with respect to members of the Audit
Committee) set forth in the applicable NYSE MKT listing standards and SEC rules. Each Board Committee consists
entirely of independent, non-employee directors.

Non-management members of the Board of Directors conduct at least two regularly-scheduled meetings per year
without members of management being present. Mr. Ritter serves as the presiding director of such meetings.
Following an executive session of non-employee directors, the presiding director may act as a liaison between the
non-employee directors and the Chairman, provide the Chairman with input regarding agenda items for Board of
Directors and Committee meetings, and coordinate with the Chairman regarding information to be provided to the
non-employee directors in performing their duties.
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Proposal Two – Independent Accountants

The Audit Committee is recommending that stockholders ratify its appointment of Moss Adams LLP as independent
accountants for WidePoint to audit its consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2015,
to perform audit-related services, including review of our quarterly interim financial information, periodic reports and
registration statements filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and consultation in connection with
various accounting and financial reporting matters. The stockholder vote is not binding on the Audit Committee. If the
appointment of Moss Adams LLP is not ratified by stockholders, the Audit Committee will evaluate the basis for the
stockholders' vote when determining whether to continue the firm's engagement, but may ultimately determine to
continue the engagement of the firm or another audit firm without re-submitting the matter to stockholders. Even if the
appointment of Moss Adams LLP is ratified, the Audit Committee may in its sole discretion terminate the engagement
of the firm and direct the appointment of another independent auditor at any time during the year if it determines that
such an appointment would be in the best interests of our Company and our stockholders.

Moss Adams LLP provided audit and other services in 2015 for the Company’s audit of its consolidated financial
statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014. Moss Adams LLP also provided audit and other services in
2014 for the Company’s audit of its consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013.

A resolution will be presented at the Annual Meeting to ratify the appointment of Moss Adams LLP to serve as the
Company’s independent public accountants for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2015. A representative of Moss
Adams LLP will be available either via phone or in person at the Annual Meeting to answer appropriate questions
concerning the Company’s financial statements and to make a statement if desired.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT STOCKHOLDERS VOTE IN FAVOR OF THE
RATIFICATION OF THE COMPANY’S AUDITORS.
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Audit Committee Report

The Audit Committee has: (a) reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements with the management of the
Company; (b) discussed with the Company’s independent auditors, Moss Adams LLP, the matters required to be
discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61; (c) received from the Company’s independent auditors the
written disclosures and the letter required by applicable requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board, and discussed with the Company’s independent auditors their independence; and (d) based on the review and
discussions referred to in clauses (a), (b) and (c) above, recommended to the Board that the audited financial
statements be included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year 2014.

The foregoing report is submitted by the members of the Audit Committee:

Morton S. Taubman (Chair)
James M. Ritter
George W. Norwood
Otto J. Guenther

Independent Registered Certified Public Accounting Firm Fees and Services

The following table sets forth fees paid to our principal accountants in connection with audit and audit-related, tax and
other non-audit fees for the years ended December 31:

Service Type 2014 2013
Audit and Quarterly Review Fees(1) $174,864 $185,456
Audit-Related Fees(2) 38,415 -
Tax Fees - -
All Other Fees - -
Total $213,279 $185,456

(1) Audit and quarterly review fees for the annual audit and review of financial statements included in the Company’s
quarterly filings, including reimbursable expenses.
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(2) Audit-Related fees for other required regulatory filings including Form S-3 consents included in the Company’s
filings, including reimbursable expenses.

30

Edgar Filing: WIDEPOINT CORP - Form DEF 14A

57



Audit Committee Policies and Procedures For Pre-Approval of Independent Auditor Services

The following describes the Audit Committee’s policies and procedures regarding pre-approval of the engagement of
the Company’s independent auditor to perform audit as well as permissible non-audit services for the Company.

For audit services, the independent auditor will provide the Audit Committee with an engagement letter during the
March-May quarter of each year outlining the scope of the audit services proposed to be performed in connection with
the audit of the current fiscal year. If agreed to by the Audit Committee, the engagement letter will be formally
accepted by the Audit Committee at an Audit Committee meeting held as soon as practicable following receipt of the
engagement letter. The independent auditor will submit to the Audit Committee for approval an audit services fee
proposal after acceptance of the engagement letter.

For non-audit services, Company management may submit to the Audit Committee for approval (during May through
September of each fiscal year) the list of non-audit services that it recommends the Audit Committee engage the
independent auditor to provide for the fiscal year. The list of services must be detailed as to the particular service and
may not call for broad categorical approvals. Company management and the independent auditor will each confirm to
the Audit Committee that each non-audit service on the list is permissible under all applicable legal requirements. In
addition to the list of planned non-audit services, a budget estimating non-audit service spending for the fiscal year
may be provided. The Audit Committee will consider for approval both the list of permissible non-audit services and
the budget for such services. The Audit Committee will be informed routinely as to the non-audit services actually
provided by the independent auditor pursuant to this pre-approval process.

To ensure prompt handling of unexpected matters, the Audit Committee delegates to its Chairman the authority to
amend or modify the list of approved permissible non-audit services and fees. The Chairman will report any action
taken pursuant to this delegation to the Audit Committee at its next meeting.

All audit and non-audit services provided to the Company are required to be pre-approved by the Audit Committee.
The Chief Financial Officer of the Company will be responsible for tracking all independent auditor fees against the
budget for such services and report at least annually to the Audit Committee.

31

Edgar Filing: WIDEPOINT CORP - Form DEF 14A

58



Other Information

We maintain an internet website at http://www.widepoint.com. Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports
on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and any amendment to those reports, are available free of charge on our
website immediately after they are filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission. WidePoint’s
Code of Business Conduct, Corporate Governance Principles and Charters of the Committees of the Board of
Directors are also available free of charge on our website or by writing to WidePoint Corporation, 7926 Jones Branch
Drive, Suite 520, McLean, Virginia 22102, c/o Corporate Secretary. WidePoint’s Code of Business Conduct applies to
all directors, officers (including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer) and employees.
Amendments to or waivers of the Code of Conduct granted to any of the Company’s directors or executive officers will
be published on our website within five business days of such amendment or waiver.

Stockholder Proposals for 2016 Annual Meeting

Proposals of stockholders intended to be presented at the 2016 Annual Meeting must be received by the Secretary of
the Company, 7926 Jones Branch, Suite 520, McLean, Virginia, no later than July 2, 2016 in order for them to be
considered for inclusion in the 2016 Proxy Statement. Any such proposal must comply with Rule 14a-8 of Regulation
14A of the proxy rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission. A stockholder desiring to submit a proposal to be
voted on at next year’s Annual Meeting of Stockholders, but not desiring to have such proposal included in next year’s
proxy statement relating to that meeting, should submit such proposal to the Company no later than July 2, 2016.
Failure to comply with that advance notice requirement will result in the proposal not being placed on the agenda at
the meeting.

Other Matters

Management is not aware of any other matters to be considered at the Annual Meeting. If any other matters properly
come before the Annual Meeting, the persons named in the enclosed Proxy will vote said Proxy in accordance with
their discretion.
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Net loss - basic

 $(0.11) $(0.14) $(0.11) $(0.10) $(0.07)

Loss from continuing operations - diluted

 $(0.11) $(0.14) $(0.11) $(0.10) $(0.07)

Net loss - diluted

 $(0.11) $(0.14) $(0.11) $(0.10) $(0.07)

Cash and equivalents

 $10,701.7  $8,685.6  $3,356.1  $10,170.5  $1,642.3 

Total assets

 $18,457.7  $15,215.3  $7,818.5  $12,874.8  $4,215.1 

Long-term liabilities

 $23,119  $11,727.4  $2,129.4  $3,452.8  $5,055.0 

Shareholders’ equity (deficit)

 $(7,517) $1,486.6  $3,966.2  $8,828.4  $(1,561.3)
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DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

The following table provides the names, positions, ages and principal occupations of our current directors and our
executive officers.

Name and Position
with The Company Age Director1/Officer

Since Principal Occupation

John F. Levy 59
Non-executive
Chairman since 2009,
Director since 2008

CEO of Board Advisory

David A. Taft 58 Director since 2008 President, IBS Capital LLC

Mario Concha 74 Director since 2013 President, Mario Concha &
Associates, LLC

Robert T. Betz 73 Director since 2014 Owner, Personal Care
Ingredients

Bradley Tirpak 44 Director since March
2015 Professional Investor

Ali Zamani 35 Director since 2014 Portfolio Manager, Gefinor
Capital

Andre M. Zeitoun 42
Chief Executive
Officer, President and
Director since 2009

President, Chief Executive
Officer and Director of
Company

Nat Krishnamurti 43 Officer since 2012 Chief Financial Officer
William Gleeson 72 Officer since 2011 General Counsel

(1)The directors are elected to serve until the next annual meeting of shareholders. Officers serve at the pleasure ofthe Board.

Background of Directors and Officers

John F. Levy, Non-Executive Chairman and Director

Since May 2005, Mr. Levy has served as the Chief Executive Officer of Board Advisory, a consulting firm that
advises public companies in the areas of corporate governance, corporate compliance, financial reporting, and
financial strategies. Mr. Levy currently serves on the board of directors of three public companies including Applied
Minerals. Mr. Levy has been a director of China Commercial Credit, a publicly-held Chinese micro-lender, since
2013. Mr. Levy has been a director and audit committee member of Applied Energetics, Inc. (AERG), a
publicly-traded company that specializes in the development and application of high power lasers, high voltage
electronics, advanced optical systems, and energy management systems technologies, since 2009. From 2006 to 2013,
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Mr. Levy was a director and chair of the audit committee of Gilman Ciocia, Inc. (GTAX), a publicly traded financial
planning and tax preparation firm and served as lead director from 2007 to 2013. From 2010 to 2012, he served as
director of Brightpoint, Inc. (CELL), a publicly-traded company that provides supply chain solutions to leading
stakeholders in the wireless industry. From 2008 through 2010, he served as a director of Applied Natural Gas Fuels,
Inc. (formerly PNG Ventures, Inc.). From 2006 to 2010, Mr. Levy served as a director and Audit Committee chairman
of Take Two Interactive Software, Inc., a public company which is a global developer and publisher of video games
best known for the Grand Theft Auto franchise. Mr. Levy served as Interim Chief Financial Officer from 2005 to 2006
for Universal Food & Beverage Company, which filed a voluntary petition under the provisions of Chapter 11 of the
United States Bankruptcy Act on August 31, 2007.  Mr. Levy is a frequent speaker on the roles and responsibilities of
Board members and audit committee members. He has authored The 21st Century Director: Ethical and Legal
Responsibilities of Board Members; Acquisitions to Grow the Business: Structure, Due Diligence, Financing;
Creating the Best Projections You Can: Insights Techniques; and Ethics and Sustainability: A 4-way Path to
Success and Finance and Innovation: Reinvent Your Department and Your Company. All five courses have initially
been presented to various state accounting societies.

Mr. Levy is a Certified Public Accountant with nine years experience with the national public accounting firms of
Ernst & Young, Laventhol & Horwath, and Grant Thornton. Mr. Levy has a B.S. degree in economics from the
Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania and received his M.B.A. from St. Joseph's University (PA).

Key attributes, experience and skills: Mr. Levy has over 30 years of progressive financial, accounting, and business
experience, including having served as Chief Financial Officer of both public and private companies for over 13
years.  Mr. Levy brings to the board expertise in corporate governance and compliance matters along with extensive
experience gained from numerous senior executive positions with public companies. Further, Mr. Levy’s service on the
boards of directors of public companies in a variety of industries also allows him to bring a diverse blend of
experiences to the Company’s board.

David A. Taft, Director

Mr. Taft is the President of IBS Capital LLC, a private investment company based in Boston, Massachusetts, which he
founded in 1990.  Prior to founding IBS Capital LLC, Mr. Taft spent ten years working in corporate finance with
Drexel Burnham Lambert, Winthrop Financial and Merrill Lynch.  Mr. Taft is a graduate of Amherst College and
Amos Tuck School of Business Administration at Dartmouth College.

Key attributes, experience and skills: Mr. Taft has over 30 years experience as a corporate investment banker and the
manager of IBS Capital LLC, a private investment fund.  Mr. Taft brings significant leadership, financial expertise,
business development skills, and corporate restructuring experience to the Company’s Board of Directors.  The
investments Mr. Taft has made through his management of the IBS Turnaround Fund has, on occasion, required him
to advise companies on issues such as corporate governance, capital raising, balance sheet restructuring, and general
business strategy.  IBS Capital LLC, under Mr. Taft’s direction, has been a large shareholder of Applied Minerals, Inc.
for a number of years.  
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Mario Concha, Director

Mr. Concha is the President of Mario Concha and Associates, LLC, a firm providing consulting services to senior
executives and members of boards of directors.   In addition to providing consulting services, he has served as a
director of The Plaza Group, a chemical marketer; Arclin, Ltd., a manufacturer of specialty resins; and Auro
Resources, Corp, a mineral exploration company with holdings in Colombia’s gold region.  Prior to founding Mario
Concha and Associates in 2005, Mr. Concha was an officer of Georgia Pacific Corporation and president of its
Chemical Division from 1998 to 2005.  Prior to Georgia Pacific, Mr. Concha participated in the formation of GS
Industries, a manufacturer of specialty steels for the mining industry, through a leveraged buyout of Armco Inc’s
Worldwide Grinding Systems Division.  He then served as President of its International Division from 1992 to 1998. 
From 1985 to 1992, Mr. Concha was Vice President-International for Occidental Chemical Corporation.  Prior to
OxyChem, he served in several senior management positions at Union Carbide Corporation in the United States and
overseas.

Mr. Concha is a graduate of Cornell University with a degree in Chemical Engineering.  He is a member of the
American Chemical Society and of the American Institute of Chemical Engineers.

Key attributes, experience and skills: Mr. Concha has over 40 years experience as a hands-on corporate executive.  He
has first-hand industry knowledge, gained from senior executive positions in various industries, including chemicals,
plastics, forest products, metals, and mining.  In addition to manufacturing operations, he has had extensive
involvement in marketing, sales, and finance.  Mr. Concha also brings corporate governance experience, having
served on both public and private company boards.

Robert T. Betz

From 2000 through his retirement in 2002, Mr. Betz was the President of Cognis Corp., the North American division
of Cognis GmbH, a $4 billion worldwide supplier of specialty chemicals and nutritional ingredients spun off from
Henkel AG & Company ("Henkel"). From 1989 through 2000, Mr. Betz held a number of management positions at
Henkel including Executive VP and President of its Emery Group, a leading manufacturer of oleochemicals, and
President of its Chemicals Group for North America. 

From 1979 through 1989, Mr. Betz worked in a number of manufacturing and operations capacities for the Emery
Division of National Distillers and Chemicals Corp., eventually rising to President of the division. Mr. Betz began his
career in the specialty chemicals industry by joining Emery Industries in 1963. Between 1963 and 1979 he worked for
the company as Market Development Representative, Manager of Corporate Planning, Vice President of Operations -
Emery (Canada), Manager of Commercial Development, and General Manager of Business Groups. Emery Industries
was sold to National Distillers and Chemicals Corp. in 1979.
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Since 2003, Mr. Betz has been the owner of Personal Care Ingredients, LLC, a privately-owned marketer of natural
products to the personal care industry. Mr. Betz also serves as a director for Bio-Botanica, a manufacturer of natural
extracts, and The Plaza Group, a marketer of petrochemicals. 

Mr. Betz holds a B.S. in Chemical Engineering and an M.B.A. from the University of Cincinnati. He's also attended
the Program for Management Development at Harvard University.

Key attributes experience and skills. During Mr. Betz’s career, he has been involved in developing new products or
new markets for existing products. Several of these products grew into sizeable businesses. He managed multiple
chemical manufacturing facilities and managed a multi-billion dollar polyethylene business. He was responsible for
profit and loss for businesses with sales of $900 million. While heading the chemical operations, he was responsible
for all aspects of the business: manufacturing, sales, R&D, IT, HS&E, HR, purchasing, engineering, and legal. His
career has continuously involved developing, manufacturing, and selling products directed at most of the markets that
Applied Minerals is attempting to penetrate. Since his retirement, he has served on the boards of three
chemical-related, private companies: Plaza, Syrgis, and Bio-Botanica and is currently the Chair of the Plaza Audit
Committee.

Bradley M. Tirpak, Director

Mr. Tirpak is a professional investor with twenty years of investing experience who has been a portfolio manager at
Credit Suisse First Boston, Caxton Associates, and Sigma Capital Management. He is currently the Managing
Member of various investment partnerships. Between 1993 and 1996, he was the founder and CEO of Access
Telecom, Inc., an international telecommunications company doing business in Mexico. Mr. Tirpak has served as a
director and Chairman of the Board of Directors of Full House Resorts, Inc. since 2014.  Mr. Tirpak served as a
director of USA Technologies, Inc. from 2010 to 2012. Mr. Tirpak earned a B.S.M.E. from Tufts University and
earned his M.B.A. from Georgetown University.  

Mr. Tirpak was nominated pursuant to the terms of a Director Nomination Agreement (“Director Nomination
Agreement’) made in 2011 by the Company with Samlyn Onshore Fund, LP, a Delaware limited partnership, and
Samlyn Offshore Master Fund, Ltd., a Cayman Islands exempted company (the “Samlyn Funds”). Subject to the terms
and conditions of the Director Nomination Agreement, until the occurrence of a Termination Event (as defined in the
Director Nomination Agreement), the Samlyn Funds jointly have the right to designate one person to be nominated for
election to the Board. Such right having been exercised by the Samlyn Funds, the Company was obligated to use
commercially reasonable efforts to cause such person to be elected to the Board of Directors.  

Mr. Tirpak is not an affiliate (as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act of 1933) or an employee of either of the
Samlyn Funds or any of their affiliates. Aside from agreeing to be the nominee of the Samlyn Funds, there is no
agreement or arrangement (compensatory or otherwise) between Mr. Tirpak and either of the Samlyn Funds or any of
their affiliates relating to Mr. Tirpak’s service as a director of the Company. 
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Key attributes, experience and skills: The Board believes that Mr. Tirpak is qualified to serve as a Director due to his
knowledge and experience in managing investments and boards and senior management on corporate governance,
strategy and capital allocation.
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Ali Zamani, Director

Ali Zamani has served as a Portfolio Manager at Gefinor Capital Management since February 2014 and as Chief
Investment Officer of the GEF Opportunities Fund, an opportunistic, value-oriented, liquid public markets fund. Prior
to Gefinor. Ali Zamani was a Principal at SLZ Capital Management, a New York-based asset management firm, from
July 2012 to December 2013. Prior thereto, he was a Portfolio Manager at Goldman Sachs from 2004 to 2012 where
he focused on the energy, materials, utilities and industrials sectors. From 2002 to 2004, Mr. Zamani was a mergers
and acquisitions analyst at Dresdner Kleinwort Wasserstein, a boutique New York-based investment bank focused on
the energy and utilities sectors. 

Mr. Zamani holds a B.S. in Economics from the Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania, where he
graduated magna cum laude. 

Key attributes, experience and skills: Mr. Zamani has over 13 years of financial industry experience, including 8 years
as a senior investment professional at Goldman Sachs & Co.  Mr. Zamani brings significant capital markets expertise,
including extensive mining and industrial sector investing experience.  Additionally, Mr. Zamani brings a unique
shareholder/investor perspective to the board having been a major shareholder in numerous similar companies over his
career.  

Andre M. Zeitoun, Chief Executive Officer, President, Director

Mr. Zeitoun is President and CEO and has served in those positions since January 1, 2009.
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Mr. Zeitoun was a Portfolio Manager at SAC Capital/CR Intrinsic Investors from March 2007 through December
2008.  At SAC, he led a team of six professionals and managed a several hundred million dollar investment portfolio
focused on companies that required a balance sheet recapitalization and/or operational turnaround.  Many of these
investments required Mr. Zeitoun to take an active role in the turnaround process.  From 2003 to 2006, Mr. Zeitoun
headed the Special Situations Group at RBC Dain Rauscher as a Senior Vice President and head of the division.  He
managed all group matters related to sales, trading, research and the investment of the firm’s proprietary capital.  From
1999 to 2003 Mr. Zeitoun was a Senior Vice President at Solomon Smith Barney.  In this role, Mr. Zeitoun led a
Special Situations sales trading research team serving middle market institutions.  Mr. Zeitoun is a graduate of
Canisius College.

Key attributes, experience and skills: Mr. Zeitoun has over 15 years experience identifying, allocating capital to, and
taking an active role in corporate situations requiring a balance sheet recapitalization and/or operational
restructuring.  Since January 2009, Mr. Zeitoun has spearheaded effort to stabilize the Company’s balance sheet, raise
critically needed capital, engage industry-leading consultants to quantify and characterize the Company’s Dragon Mine
resource, increase processing capabilities, establish a marketing infrastructure, and lead the marketing effort.   During
his time as President and Chief Executive Officer of Applied Minerals, Inc., Mr. Zeitoun has developed a level of
expertise in the area of the commercialization of halloysite and iron oxide applications.

Nat Krishnamurti, Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Krishnamurti is a CPA with two decades of experience as a financial management and audit professional.  He was
previously employed by inVentiv Health, Inc. (“inVentiv”), a provider of clinical, communications, and commercial
services to the global pharmaceutical, life sciences, and biotechnology industries.  inVentiv was a publicly traded
company until acquired by Thomas H. Lee Partners, LP in August 2010.  During his 11-year tenure at inVentiv, Mr.
Krishnamurti served in various management roles, including Chief Accounting Officer.  Prior to inVentiv, Mr.
Krishnamurti worked in public accounting firms, including PriceWaterhouseCoopers, LLP and Feldman Sherb
Erhlich & Co., PC.  While at PriceWaterhouseCoopers, LLP he focused on consumer and industrial products clients,
which included mining companies.  

William Gleeson, General Counsel

Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Gleeson was a partner at K&L Gates, LLP for eleven years, focusing on various
areas of corporate and securities law.  From January, 2008 until September, 2011 when he joined the Company, he
served as Applied Minerals, Inc.’s outside counsel, a time during which he acquired an in-depth understanding of the
Company’s business.  Mr. Gleeson received his J.D. from the University of Michigan, from which he also received his
undergraduate degree.

BOARD MEETINGS
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There were eight meetings of the Board of Directors held in 2014. Every director attended all board meetings and also
attended all committee meetings of which that director was a member. It is the policy of the Board that all Board
members attend the annual meeting of shareholders, if possible.

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

The following sets forth the Committees of the Board and membership of the committees. The charters of the
committees are available at the Company’s website, appliedminerals.com. The Board of Directors has determined that
all committee members are independent under the independence definition used by NASDAQ.

Audit Committee Nominating Committee Compensation Committee
John Levy X X X
Mario Concha X X
Robert Betz X X
Bradley Tirpak X
Ali Zamani X

In 2014, the Audit Committee and the Compensation Committee each met four times. The Nominating
Committee met once.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT

The Board of Directors has determined that Mr. Levy is an audit committee financial expert as this term is defined in
the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission and is independent under the independence standards of Nasdaq
and the enhanced independence standards of Section 10A-3 of the Securities Exchange  

THE NOMINATION PROCESS

The general criteria that our Board uses to select nominees includes the following: reputation for integrity, honesty
and adherence to high ethical standards; demonstrated business acumen, experience, and ability to exercise sound
judgments in matters that relate to the current and long-term objectives of the Company; willingness and ability to
contribute positively to the decision-making process of the Company; commitment to understand the Company and its
industry and to regularly attend and participate in meetings of the Board and its committees; interest and ability to
understand the sometimes conflicting interests of the various constituencies of the Company, which include
stockholders, employees, customers, creditors and the general public; ability to act in the interests of all stakeholders;
and absence of, and the absence of, and the absence of any appearance of, a conflict of interest that would impair the
nominee's ability to represent the interests of all of the Company’s stockholders and to fulfill the responsibilities of a
director.  There are, however, no specific minimum qualifications that nominees must have in order to be selected.
The Board will consider director candidates recommended by our stockholders. In evaluating candidates
recommended by our stockholders, the Board of Directors applies the same criteria discussed above. Any stockholder
recommendations for director nominees proposed for consideration by the Board should include the nominee's name
and qualifications for Board membership and should be addressed in writing to the President, Applied Minerals, Inc.,
110 Greene St., Suite 1101, NY, NY 10012.  There have been no changes in the procedures by which shareholders
may recommend candidates for director.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

The Board of Directors established a Compensation Committee and adopted a committee charter in November, 2013.
The Committee is to meet at least twice a year. The Committee charter states that the committee will have the
resources and authority necessary to discharge its duties and responsibilities and the committee has sole authority to
retain and terminate outside counsel, compensation consultants, or other experts or consultants, as it deems
appropriate, including sole authority to approve the fees and other retention terms for such persons.

The principal responsibilities of the Compensation Committee are as follows:
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1.Board Compensation. Periodically review the compensation paid to non-employee directors and makerecommendations to the Board for any adjustments.

2.Chief Executive Officer Compensation.

a.Conduct an annual CEO evaluation
b.Assist the Board in establishing CEO annual goals and objectives, if appropriate.
c.Recommend CEO compensation to the other independent members of the Board for approval.

The CEO may not be present during deliberations or voting concerning the CEO's compensation.

3.Other Executive Officer Compensation.

a.Oversee an evaluation of the performance of the Company's executive officers and approve the annualcompensation, including salary and incentive compensation, for the executive officers.

b.

Review the structure and competitiveness of the Company’s executive officer compensation programs considering
the following factors: (i) the attraction and retention of executive officers; (ii) the motivation of executive officers
to achieve the Company’s business objectives; and (iii) the alignment of the interests of executive officers with the
long-term interests of the Company’s shareholders.

c.Review and approve compensation arrangements for new executive officers and termination arrangements forexecutive officers.
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The Compensation Committee may form and delegate authority to subcommittees and may delegate authority to one
or more designated members of the Committee. The Committee may delegate to the Chief Executive Officer the
authority to make grants of equity-based compensation in the form of rights or options to eligible officers and
employees who are not executive officers, such authority including the power to (i) designate officers and employees
of the Company or of any of its subsidiaries to be recipients of such rights or options created by the Company, and (ii)
determine the number of such rights or options to be received by such officers and employees; provided, however, that
the resolution so authorizing the Chief Executive Officer shall specify the total number of rights or options the Chief
Executive Officer may so award. If such authority is delegated, the Chief Executive Officer shall regularly report to
the Committee grants so made and the Committee may revoke any delegation of authority at any time. The
Compensation Committee has not delegated any authority to the Chief Executive Officer.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

Mr. Zeitoun participated in deliberations of the board of directors concerning executive officer compensation other
than his own.

There have not been and there are no interlocks.
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

Option All
Other

Name and Salary Bonus Awards Comp. Total
Principal Position Year ($) ($) ($)(1) ($) ($)

Andre M. Zeitoun, 2014 600,000 400,000 -- -- 1,000,000
CEO, Director (2) 2013 600,000 400,000 -- -- 1,000,000

2012 600,000 850,000 2,408,539 -- 3,858,539

Nat Krishnamurti, 2014 225,000 -- 31,055 5,000 261,055
CFO (3) 2013 225,000 -- 49,686 5,000 279,686

2012 105,000 -- 400,200 2,917 508,117

William Gleeson, 2014 300,000 -- 270,486 -- 545,486
General Counsel 2013 250,000 -- -- -- 250,000

2012 200,000 -- 100,065 -- 300,065

(1)

Pursuant to SEC rules, the amounts shown exclude the impact of estimated forfeitures related to service-based
vesting conditions. For additional information, refer to Note 10 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
found in. These amounts reflect the Company’s accounting expense for these awards, and do not correspond to the
actual value that will be recognized by the named executive officers. The options awards granted were valued
using the Black Scholes Option Valuation Model.

(2)

Mr. Zeitoun's salary and option award for 2012 and $450,000 of his 2012 bonus are his allocable share of the
compensation paid to Material Advisors, LLC, of which he is a member. An additional $400,000 bonus was
awarded directly to Mr. Zeitoun in November, 2011 for services in 2012. See Compensation Analysis &
Discussion for further information.

(4)Mr. Krishnamurti was appointed Chief Financial Officer on May 17, 2012. Other Compensation consists of a carallowance.

PENSIONS
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The Company does not have any pension plan nor does it have any nonqualified defined contribution and other
nonqualified deferred compensation plans.

Potential payments upon termination or change-in-control

In the event Mr. Zeitoun is terminated without Cause or terminates for Good Reason, he will receive, in addition to the
accrued obligations, (i) six months of base salary (that is, $300,000), (ii) one-half of bonus amounts not yet earned,
and (ii) an amount equal to six months of COBRA payments. For 2015, Mr. Zeitoun's base salary is $600,000 and he
is eligible to receive a bonus of up to $400,000 upon achievement of predetermined performance goals.

38

Edgar Filing: WIDEPOINT CORP - Form DEF 14A

75



Table Of Contents

Mr. Gleeson. In the event Mr. Gleeson terminated by the Company without Cause or he terminates his employment
for Good Reason, he shall receive not less than two months of his base salary and (ii) continuation of benefits
(including his family) on the same terms as in effect immediately prior to the date of termination for a period of two
months. Mr. Gleeson's base salary is $300,000.

Mr. Krishnamurti. In the event is terminated by the Company without Cause or he terminates his employment for
Good Reason, Mr. Krishnamurti shall receive, in addition to the accrued obligations, immediate vesting in (i.e.,
exercisability for) such number of unvested shares (including any option shares, option shares of restricted stock)
under any equity grants that would otherwise be vested as of the next anniversary date of his employment if his
employment had continued through the next anniversary date.
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The following table lists the plan-based awards granted under the Long-Term Incentive Plan to Named Executive
Officers in 2014:

All other
option
awards:
Number of
securities
underlying

Exercise
or base
price of
option

Grant
date fair
value of
stock
and
option

Name Grant date options
(#)

awards
($/Share) awards

($)
Nat Krishnamurti, CFO (1) 06-10-2014 75,000 0.84 31,055
William Gleeson (1) 06-10-2014 600,000 0.84 270,486

(1)Options were granted to Mr. Krishnamurti and Mr. Gleeson in June of 2014 under the Company’s Long-TermIncentive Plan, which was approved by shareholders in November, 2012.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at December 31, 2014

The following table provides information on the holdings as of December 31, 2014 of stock options granted to the
named executive officers. This table includes unexercised and unvested option awards. Each equity grant is shown
separately for each Named Executive Officer

OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL YEAR END
OPTION AWARDS

Name Grant
Date

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options:
Exercisable

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options:
Unexercisable

Equity
Incentive
Plan Awards
Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Unearned
Options

Option
Exercise
Price

Option
Expiration
Date

Andre Zeitoun 01-01-09 3,949,966 -- -- $ 0.70 01-01-19
02-08-11 1,742,792 -- -- $ 0.83 01-01-22
11-20-12 1,742,792 -- -- $ 1.66 01-01-23

Nat Krishnamurti 05-29-12 275,001 24,999 -- $ 1.55 05-01-22
05-29-13 65,000 -- -- $ 1.35 05-29-23
06-10-14 75,000 -- -- $ 0.84 06-10-24

William Gleeson 08-18-11 900,000 -- -- $ 1.90 08-18-21
11-20-12 72,406 -- -- $ 1.66 11-20-22
06-10-14 116,669 483,331 -- $ 0.84 06-10-24

Beginning November 20, 2012, all awards were made under the Company's Long Term Incentive Plan approved by
stockholders on November 20, 2012.

Director Compensation for the Year Ended December 31, 2014

The following sets forth compensation to the persons who served as directors in 2014. Every member of the Board can
elect to receive any combination of cash and/or common stock for director compensation
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Name

Fees
Earned
or

Paid in
Cash

Common
Stock
Awards
(5) 

Options

Awards
(1)

Total
($)

John Levy (1) $70,000 $ -- $21,288 $91,288

David Taft (2) $71,288 $ -- $-- $71,288

Mario Concha (1) $58,750 $ -- $21,288 $80,038
Robert Betz (1) (3) $38,733 $16,600 $21,288 $76,621
Ali Zamani (1) (4) $-- $ 45,278 $21,288 $66,566

Andre Zeitoun $-- $ -- $-- $--

(1)
On March 14, 2014, as part of the annual grant process, each member of the Board, except for Mr. Taft and Mr.
Zeitoun, was granted 50,000 options to purchase common shares with a strike price of $0.83, vesting quarterly
starting on April 1, 2014 and ending on December 31, 2014.

(2)In lieu of the annual 50,000 option grant described above to other Board members, Mr. Taft received $21,288 ofcash compensation, which was the Black Scholes value of the option grant.
(3)Mr. Betz joined the Board on January 29, 2014.
(4)Mr. Zamani joined the Board on February 4, 2014.

(5)Beginning in 2015, each non-employee director will receive an annual grant of 50,000 share of restricted stock.The restrictions for 50% of the shares after one year and will lapse as to other 50% after two years.
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Compensation analysis and discussion

Objectives and Strategy

The Company’s objectives are to develop a range of commercial applications for its halloysite clay and to market those
applications to industries seeking enhanced product functionality and to market its iron oxides for pigment and other
uses.  We believe the successful marketing of such applications will generate material profits for the Company, which,
in turn, will create significant value for its stockholders.  To realize this objective, the Company must attract and
retain individuals, including our Named Executive Officers (“Named Executive Officers” or “NEOs”), who possess the
skill sets and experience needed to effectively develop and implement the business strategies and corporate
governance infrastructure necessary to achieve commercial success.

Accordingly, compensation for the Named Executive Officers is designed to:

●Attract, motivate, and retain qualified Named Executive Officers;

●Incentivize the Named Executive Officers to lead the Company to profitable operations and to increase stockholdervalue;

●
Assure that over time a significant part of NEO compensation is linked to the Company’s long-term stock price
performance, which aligns the Named Executive Officers’ financial interests with those of the Company’s
stockholders

●Motivate the Named Executive Officers to develop long-term careers at the Company and contribute to its futureprospects; and

●Permit the Named Executive Officers to remain focused on the development of the Company’s business in the midstof actual or potential change-in-control transactions.

The Company does not have a policy concerning minimum ownership or hedging by officers of Company securities.

Compensation of Mr. Zeitoun
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Mr. Zeitoun has been president and CEO of the Company since 2009.

Management Agreements with Material Advisors

From 2009-2012, the Company was managed pursuant to management agreements with a limited liability company,
Material Advisors LLC (“Material Advisors”), organized solely for the purpose of supplying senior management
services to the Company.  Material Advisors was required to provide to the Company three senior managers who were
the sole members of Material Advisors. One of these individuals was Mr. Zeitoun. The three members of Material
Advisors insisted that the Company engage them indirectly through the entity Material Advisors because the members
believed that Material Advisors would provide them an added layer of protection when in 2009 they assumed the
management responsibilities of a company that faced a challenging liquidity situation, an SEC investigation, and a
stockholder class action lawsuit.
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Allocations by Material Advisors

Material Advisors, in its sole discretion, allocated amounts of the compensation it received from the Company to its
three members.  Material Advisors was under no obligation to tell the Company how allocations were made to its
three members and, until January, 2012, the Company did not know such allocations. With the exception of the bonus
granted to Mr. Zeitoun in November, 2012 for 2012 performance (granted to him directly and not to Material
Advisors), the members used Material Advisors as a means of bargaining as a group and they made allocations of cash
and stock options by agreement among themselves.  The Board’s inability to control allocations effectively took the
issue of internal pay equity out of the hands of the Board.

2012 Compensation

In February, 2011, the Company desired to lock in an agreement for the future services of Material Advisors in order
to assure continuity of management. At the same time, Material Advisors was anxious to resolve any uncertainty
about its future role with the Company. Both sides agreed that it would be appropriate and more efficient to model,
with appropriate changes, the 2012 compensation package on the 2009 Management Agreement, which covered the
years 2009-2011.

Under the 2009 Management Agreement, the cash compensation to Material Advisors in 2011 was $1 million per
year. From that amount, Material Advisors was required to pay certain of the Company’s 2011 expenses (marketing,
office rent, travel, and entertainment, among others) (“Company Expenses”) amounting to $478,000. The Board did not
know the amount of these expenditures until January, 2012. Material Advisors allocated the cash compensation it
received from the Company (after payment of Company Expenses) to its members. In 2011, Mr. Zeitoun was
allocated $282,000. Under the 2009 Management Agreement, Material Advisors was granted options to purchase 10%
of the total outstanding shares of Common Stock determined as of January 1, 2009, on a fully diluted basis (including
the shares subject to the grant of options to Material Advisors).   The option vested over a three-year period.   The
options were granted with an exercise price that was well out of the money.

In February 2011, the Board agreed to a management agreement with Material Advisors for the year 2012 (“2012
Management Agreement”).   The 2012 Management Agreement provided for cash compensation of $1 million.  The $1
million for 2012 was the same annual cash compensation as was paid in the 2009-2011 period.  The 2012
Management Agreement required Material Advisors to pay Company Expenses (just as Material Advisors had done
under the 2009 Management Agreement), but Material Advisors was subsequently relieved of the responsibility, as
described below.  

The 2012 Management Agreement also provided for the grant of an option to acquire 2,907,653 shares of the
Company’s Common Stock to Material Advisors.  Mr. Zeitoun was allocated 1,742,792 options. The Black-Scholes
value of the options allocated to Mr. Zeitoun was $1,181,637 on the grant date.   The per share exercise price was the
current market price on the date of grant ($0.83 per share).  The number of shares subject to the grant to Material
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Advisors was equivalent to 3.5% of the number of fully diluted outstanding shares of Common stock on the date of
grant (including the grant under the 2009 Management Agreement but not the grant under the 2012 Management
Agreement). The February, 2011 option grant was priced at-the-money as compared to the significantly
out-of-the-money option granted in 2009 Agreement.    Given the Company’s operational progress and its improved
financial status that was produced by management’s efforts, the Board and Material Advisors agreed there would be no
reason to grant a deep out-of-the-money option to Material Advisors in order for Material Advisors to demonstrate its
commitment to the Company (as it had in connection with the 2009 Management Agreement).

In considering the number of options to be granted, the Board focused primarily on the number of options as a
percentage of the fully diluted shares as opposed to the Black-Scholes value.
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In February 2011, the Board did not know how Material Advisors allocated cash and stock options to its members or
the amount of Company Expenses borne by Material Advisors. 

Although significant progress had been made by Material Advisors in resolving some of the many problems facing the
Company, benchmarking compensation against peers continued to appear inappropriate because of the difficulties in
finding not only other companies managed under an agreement to supply senior executives to the Company but also
other companies facing the same or a similar array of problems.

Although management had significantly resolved many of the legacy issues that had burdened the Company, it was
still a pre-revenue operation focused on creating products that were to be sold into new markets.  As such, establishing
specific performance goals and associated timelines to evaluate management was deemed not to be feasible.
Accordingly, the compensation package did not link compensation, including vesting of stock options, to the
achievement of predetermined performance goals.

The Board believed that the compensation package was designed to reward short-term performance and to encourage
employee retention through the salary portion of the compensation package and to reward long-term performance and
sustained growth in stock price through the significant amount of shares of Common Stock available for purchase
under the options granted to Material Advisors.  Nevertheless, the cash portion was considered inadequate for the
efforts and skill that the three members of Material Advisors would bring to the task.

In January, 2012, the Board learned for the first time the amounts of Company Expenses that Material Advisors had
been responsible for in 2009-2011 and the allocations that had been made by Material Advisors to its members.  It
also learned that an amount of the 2012 compensation to Material Advisors would be allocated 60% to Mr. Zeitoun.

In December, 2011, the Company had raised $10 million through the sale of Common Stock and warrants, without the
use of an investment banker, in a complex transaction designed to limit dilution.  Thereafter, the Board believed that
for the first time there were sufficient funds to reward Material Advisors appropriately for its past efforts.  In January,
2012, a bonus of $750,000 in respect of outstanding performance in the 2009-2011 period was awarded to Material
Advisors. The size of the cash bonus granted in January, 2012 was determined, in large part, on the amount of money
Material Advisors saved the Company through (i) the assumption of the CFO position, thereby saving the Company
the expense of having to hire and compensate a CFO not affiliated with Material Advisors and (ii) the fees the
Company avoided paying as a result of the members of Material Advisors raising approximately $21.6 million of
capital for the Company without the aid of an agent or broker. The bonus was discretionary and was not based on the
achievement of any pre-determined performance standards.  Of the $750,000 bonus, 60% was allocated to Mr. Zeitoun
($450,000).
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After negotiations with Mr. Zeitoun on behalf of Material Advisors, the Board agreed that it was appropriate to relieve
Material Advisors of its obligation to continue to pay Company Expenses (which are noted above).  Relieving
Material Advisors of this obligation had the effect of increasing the amount of cash distributable in 2012 by Material
Advisors to its three members from approximately $550,000 (based on 2009-2011 experience) to $1 million.

In making these compensation decisions, the Board took into account the substantial progress that the Company had
made during the 2009-2011 period, the fact that the market price of the Common Stock had increased 500% during
the period of the 2009 Management Agreement, and the Company’s improved financial condition (having raised $10
million in December 2011 through the sale of stock and warrants). The Board believed that it was important to make
up for what had seemed to be inadequate past compensation in order to further motivate the members of Material
Advisors to perform services for the Company in the future. For largely the same reasons as noted above in
connection with compensation decisions in February, 2011, the Board did not believe that use of a compensation
consultant or benchmarking or tying any part of cash compensation to the achievement of performance goals was
appropriate.
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On November 20, 2012, the Board and Material Advisors decided that the Company would deal with the three
members of Material Advisors individually and, beginning in 2013, would not engage them through Material
Advisors.

On November 20, 2012, the Board determined to grant Mr. Zeitoun a $400,000 cash bonus for exceptional 2012
performance, payable in the first week of 2013.  The Board believed that the additional cash bonus was an appropriate
means of motivating and retaining Mr. Zeitoun.  The bonus was discretionary and was not based on the achievement
of any pre-determined performance standards.  On Mr. Zeitoun’s recommendation, no bonuses for 2012 were awarded
to the other members of Material Advisors.

In February 2011, the Board believed that the structure of the compensation package was heavily weighted toward
“pay-for-performance” in that the options incentivized the members of Material Advisors to manage the Company in a
manner such that the market price of the Common Stock would increase.  The Board did not believe that either (i)
actions in January, 2012 (the bonus to Material Advisors 2012 and the relief from paying Company Expenses) or (ii)
the bonus to Mr. Zeitoun awarded in November, 2012 undermined the essential incentive structure of the
compensation package because such a significant percentage of his future compensation was represented by his option
grants.   The Board believed that actions discussed above did bring the cash component more in line with the
contribution and efforts of management.

2013 Compensation

On November 20, 2012, the Board agreed to compensate the three members of Material Advisors directly beginning
with calendar year 2013 and determined the 2013 compensation for such persons.  The 2013 cash compensation for
Mr. Zeitoun would be $600,000.   Options to purchase 1,742,581 shares of Common Stock were granted to Mr.
Zeitoun (with a Black-Scholes value of $2,408,539).  The options vested over the period of the employment
agreement (2013), vesting on the first day of the month following a month of the employment agreement beginning
February 1, 2013 with the last vesting on January 1, 2014.  The options have an exercise price equal to market price of
the Common Stock on the date of grant ($0.83).  The Board also agreed that Mr. Zeitoun would be eligible for a target
bonus for 2013 of $400,000 but that the amount could be more or less depending on Mr. Zeitoun’s 2013
performance.  The criteria for determining performance would be decided at the time the Board made a decision as to
whether to award a bonus.  These criteria could include quantitative and qualitative considerations such as sales,
entering to arrangements with joint ventures and similar “reach through” arrangements, increases in market
capitalization, development of corporate staff, management of plant expansions. 

To assist in determining 2013 compensation for Mr. Zeitoun, the Compensation Committee sought advice from a
compensation consultant from Hay Associates.
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The compensation consultant used market data in his analysis that was drawn from the following sources:  public peer
group in the mining and metals sector (13 companies; Comstock Mining Inc., General Moly Inc., Gold Reserve Inc.,
Golden Minerals Co., Midway Gold Corp, Mines Management Inc, Paramount Gold and Silver, Prospect Global
Resources, Rare Element Resources Ltd , Revett Minerals Inc. Ruby Creek Resources Inc., Searchlight Minerals
Corp,  and Vista Gold Corp)  and specialty chemical sector (7 companies; Monarch Cement Co, Northern Tech Intl,
ADA-ES Inc, Chase Corp, Material Sciences Corp, Senonyx Corp, and Zoltek Cos Inc); the 2012 Hay Group Global
Mining Compensation Review for pay-mix purposes; and a sample of companies recently completing an initial public
offering as set forth in the Hay Group IPO Reporter (Matador Resources Company, Bonanza Creek Energy, Inc.,
Carbonite, Inc, C&J Energy, SunCoke Energy, KiOR, Compressco Partners, L.P., Solazyme, Inc., Energy Partners
LP, International Corp., Kinder Morgan, Inc., Gevo, Inc., Primo Water Corporation, Amyris, Inc., Molycorp, Inc.,
Oasis Petroleum LLC, Aluminum Holding Corporation, Douglas Dynamics, Inc., Global Geophysical Services, Inc.,
Metals USA Holdings Corp., Graham Packaging Company Inc., Cellu Tissue Holdings, Inc.)   The consultant stated
that the analysis focused on annual compensation mix and levels relative to market as well as CEO equity ownership
relative to other companies recently completing an initial public offering.  The basis for selecting peer group
companies consisted of the following factors: assets, market capitalization, nature of the business, the talent market,
complexity, and the market share.
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Compared to the peer group companies in the mining sector as well as the specialty chemicals sector and the IPO
Reporter sample, the Board determined that Mr. Zeitoun’s 2012 compensation was above the 75th percentile. It also
determined that Mr. Zeitoun’s 2012 pay mix (as among salary, bonus, and options) was generally well aligned with the
pay mixes in the samples noted above.

The consultant stated that there is no perfect model for determining what the appropriate compensation for a CEO
should be.  He said that the Compensation Committee would have to review the data presented in his report and use its
business judgment to create a package that would be motivational to the CEO and also retain him, as the Board
believed that the CEO is key to the success of the business.  The compensation consultant also said that while the
Company’s CEO position may have a certain “market value,” it is imperative that the Committee should also consider the
contribution and value that Mr. Zeitoun brings to the position and, in particular, the facts that (i) Mr. Zeitoun had
raised substantial sums of money without the Company having to use investment bankers thereby saving substantial
commissions, (ii) Mr. Zeitoun is leading the Company’s technology development to further commercialize its products,
and (iii) Mr. Zeitoun was serving multiple roles (CEO and COO).

Members of the Board noted differences between the Company and many of the mining companies in the peer
group.  In particular, many of the peer group companies were gold companies. They noted that entities involved in the
gold-mining business are not engaged in businesses that have anywhere near the complexity of the Company’s
business. In particular, the Board noted that gold companies have a product with a ready market; thus, they do not
have to develop a market, as the Company must do for halloysite. The Board also noted that the stockholder return
under Mr. Zeitoun’s leadership and, in particular, the Company’s market capitalization, had increased from $10 million
to $150 million under Mr. Zeitoun’s leadership.  Mr. Zeitoun indicated that he believed that for peer-group comparison
purposes, the Company was more like a developmental pharmaceutical company.  Other members of the Board also
agreed that the Company was more like developmental pharmaceutical, biotech and software companies.

2014 Compensation

Compensation Consultant. In November, 2013, the Compensation Committee retained Compensation Resources, Inc.
(“CRI”), a compensation consultant located in Upper Saddle River, New Jersey, as a compensation consultant regarding
the 2014 compensation of Andre Zeitoun, the President and CEO of the Company.

Interactions of CRI with the Compensation Committee and the Board. Representatives of CRI attended meetings of
the Board and/or the Compensation Committee in December, 2013 and February and March, 2014, met
(telephonically or in person) with members of the Compensation Committee on four occasions, met with Mr. Zeitoun
twice, and met with the Company’s General Counsel (in his capacity of as agent for the Compensation Committee in
due diligence matters) four times.
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was delivered to the Compensation Committee and the Board in March, 2014. Below is a summary of the report.
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While the company has previously been identified as a mining company, its operations are much more diversified than
what would be considered as typical mining activities. The Company engages in significant research and development
activities that are aimed at producing uses for its products with broader applications and thus considers itself more of a
specialty chemical company rather than a traditional mining company. Based on the nature of the halloysite clay and
its "exclusivity," the Company believes itself more closely aligned with the pharmaceutical industry, which itself has
significant research and development activities associated with the development and marketing of proprietary
pharmaceuticals. Given that the nature of the Company's business, and the talent needed to expand the business and
make it successful, extends into various industry sectors. CRI considered the nature of Applied Minerals' operations in
the identification of a relevant peer group for purposes of executive compensation benchmarking.

The process of selecting a group of related peers was based on the nature of the Company’s operations and future
strategic direction. The selection was based on the following parameters:

Industry -- comparable industry sectors, from a business perspective, as well as other industries that cultivate a
similar level of talent and ability. CRI identified companies within the following industry sectors: specialty chemical
manufacturing ; biotech and pharmaceuticals; software; mining ; and environmental/sustainable.

Geographic location -- based on national averages, but in this case, however, CRI applied a geographic differential to
the peer data to account for differences in the cost of living between the geographic locations of the peer
companies and that of Applied Minerals, which is located in an area with a high cost of living (New York City);

Market Cap -- Guidelines set forth by ISS indicate that the generally accepted approach is to identify companies that
are approximately 0.2x to 5.0x of the Market Cap of the target company being analyzed. CRI utilized Applied
Minerals' Market Cap of approximately $100 million; this would place the Market Cap range of peer companies
between $20 million and $500 million. Market Cap, rather than revenue, was utilized as the financial metric for peer
selection, as the Company is considered more of a startup with very limited revenue. CRI reviewed the list of peer
group companies with the Compensation Committee, the CEO, and the General Counsel, and the list was further
refined to reflect more closely a group of companies that would be considered competitors for similar talent.

The peer group consisted of the following companies: Accelrys Inc., American Pacific Corp., Amyris, Inc. Amicus
Therapeutics Inc., Authentidate Holding Corp., Biodelivery Sciences, Cytokinetics Inc. International Inc., Energy
Recovery, Inc., General Moly Inc., Hemispherx Biopharma Inc., Kior Inc., Metabolix Inc., Pmfg Inc., Pozen Inc.,
Simulations Plus Inc., Streamline Health Solutions Inc., U S Lime & Minerals, and United-Guardian Inc.
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This compensation study analyzed the position of CEO of the Company, comparing it against other top executives
within the identified peer marketplace. Based on the discussion of peer selection above, CRI concluded that the larger
context of Mr. Zeitoun's responsibilities, based on his knowledge and ability to translate his ideas into creative uses
for the Company's products, validated the use of a broader industry view of competitive compensation. CRI found that
(I) Mr. Zeitoun's commitment to the Company's success was evidenced through his ability to gain financing for the
Company through his personal connections, which enabled him to secure $10 million of capital in 2013 and (ii) Mr.
Zeitoun also had become totally conversant in the chemical properties of the clay and its potential commercial
applications, and realized the value of its iron oxide deposits and thus developed a new business for this product over
the prior two years. CRI indicated that the Company was then at a transition point, where its operations had to move
from "process" to "results"; therefore, the CEO's compensation package needed to be structure in a way that
recognized the competitive marketplace, with sufficient financial motivation to reward the CEO to move forward with
the Company's strategic direction.
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CRI presented its findings with respect to the competitive marketplace for the components of Base Salary and Total
Cash Compensation (Base Salary and Annual Bonus/Incentive), along with the value of Total Direct Compensation
(Total Cash Compensation, the value of equity, and any other compensation). It said that compensation theory
suggests that a Market Range of Compensation around the Market Consensus, rather than a fixed number, is
appropriate. CRI said that typically, the Market Range of Base Salary is conservatively considered to be ±10% of the
Market Consensus, while the range for Total Cash Compensation varies by ±20% of the Market Consensus, while the
range for Total Direct Compensation is wider and usually varies by ±25% of the Market Consensus. Therefore, CRI’s
comparative analysis of actual compensation to the marketplace was based on the identified Market Range for the
indicated component.

For Mr. Zeitoun's actual compensation, CRI represented the following figures: Base Salary of $600,000, equivalent to
his 2013 fixed compensation; Total Cash Compensation which includes Base Salary of $600,000 plus an annual target
incentive opportunity of 100% of Base Salary, or $600,000, for a total of $1,200,000; and Total Direct Compensation,
which typically includes Base Salary and Total Cash Compensation, plus the three year average of equity
compensation, in order to conduct a preliminary comparative analysis with the market findings. However, the
Compensation Committee indicated to CRI that (i) the most recent equity grant was specifically provided to Mr.
Zeitoun as a one-time award, with the clear understanding that future at-risk compensation will be in the form of
short-term incentives; (ii) the short-term incentive opportunity is intended to drive performance towards the
Company's most immediate goals of revenue generation and is commensurate with the Compensation Committee's
short-term incentive target and (iii) over the next two to three years, it is anticipated that additional equity will not be
provided; therefore, CRI’s analysis did not include or provide for any long-term compensation. In this connection, it
was noted that the beneficial stock ownership for the majority of the CEO among the peer companies ranged between
1.10% and 6.80% (excluding the outliers which are 13.7% to 38.03%). Mr. Zeitoun's beneficial ownership is 8.6%.

CRI noted that at market average (50% percentile) without equity compensation, Mr. Zeitoun’s represented Base
Salary and Total Cash Compensation were above the Market Range and the Total Direct Compensation was within the
Market Range, but that at the 75% percentile without equity compensation, Mr. Zeitoun’s represented Base Salary and
Total Cash Compensation were within the Market Range and the Total Direct Compensation was below the Market
Range.

CRI noted that the methodology used to conduct the competitive market analysis was based on the typical duties and
responsibilities associated with the top executive position within the competitive marketplace, and the comparative
analysis did not take into consideration the incumbent or any factors relating to that incumbent. CRI noted, however,
that it was at the Compensation Committee's discretion to consider Mr. Zeitoun in determining whether his value to
the Company was considerable and therefore would justify a higher level of compensation as compared to the
marketplace. CRI said that in some cases, a premium can be applied to the market findings to reflect on the
incumbent's knowledge, expertise, and contributions (both past and anticipated in the future), and therefore would
reflect on a higher percentile positioning due to these factors. CRI noted that in discussions with the Compensation
Committee, the Committee believed that it had a significant level of confidence in Mr. Zeitoun's abilities to drive the
Company. CRI noted that based on multiple in-depth discussions with the Compensation Committee and their strong
belief that Mr. Zeitoun is a crucial and extremely valuable asset to the Company, CRI presented both the Market
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Average and 75th percentile calculations so that the Compensation Committee would have a broader perspective of
the marketplace for pay in consideration of the peer group examined herein.

Compensation Committee Actions. The Compensation Committee met four times regarding Mr. Zeitoun’s
compensation and the Board met three times. At its meeting on June 9, 2014, the Compensation Committee
determined to recommend to the Board that

●Mr. Zeitoun’s salary for 2014 would be $600,000, which was the same salary as in 2013 and was justified by Mr.Zeitoun’s exceptional knowledge and accomplishments.
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●

Mr. Zeitoun’s annual target incentive for 2014 would be $400,000 rather than $600,000 (as represented in CRI’s
report) and that this would bring the Total Direct Compensation at Market Average (no equity) within the Market
Range and Total Cash Compensation at the 75th percentile would still be within the Market Range, but would be
below the Market Consensus. The Compensation Committee further determined that the bonus would be payable in
cash in two tranches: (i) $200,000 payable if there were a commercial sale of iron oxide in 2014 and (ii) $200,000
payable if one of the following three were accomplished in 2014: cumulative revenue (accrued or realized) and/or
backlog of $1 million; sale of all or a substantial portion of Idaho properties; raising at least $2 million of capital by
sale of equity and/or sale of PIK Notes;

●
Mr. Zeitoun would not be awarded any equity compensation for 2014 because he already beneficially owned
(through direct ownership and options) 8.6% of the equity of the Company and that ownership provide him with
sufficient long-term incentive.

On the same day, the Board adopted the recommendations of the Compensation Committee.

In December, 2014, the Nominating and Governance Committee determined that Mr. Zeitoun had satisfied the
conditions of both tranches for payment of the bonus and recommended that the Board approve payment of the bonus.
Thereafter, the Board approved payment of a $400,000 bonus.

Compensation of Mr. Gleeson

William Gleeson, the General Counsel, was hired as of September 15, 2011. Mr. Gleeson’s three-year employment
agreement provides for annual cash compensation of $200,000 plus a 10-year option to purchase up to 900,000 shares
of Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.90 per share, which was above the $1.74 market price on the date of
grant, September 15, 2011. The Black-Scholes value of the options was $1,370,340 on the date of grant.  The options
vested in 36 monthly installments beginning September 15, 2011. Mr. Gleeson’s employment may be terminated at
will.  The Company did not use a compensation consultant in connection with the employment agreement.

The compensation package in the employment agreement reflected Mr. Gleeson’s familiarity with the Company and its
legal issues resulting from his representation of the Company beginning in January, 2008.  The relative mix of cash
and options reflected the Company’s strained cash position and its near-term revenue prospects at the time of the
hiring, with the number of options designed to compensate for the relatively low cash compensation.  The vesting of
the options was not tied to any performance standards because at the time, given the Company’s limited amount of
sales and its lack of profitability, it was deemed that meaningful performance standards could not be established.  For
the same reason, the Company did not establish performance standards for bonus awards. No cash bonus was awarded
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On November 20, 2012, the Board, on the recommendation of Mr., Zeitoun, awarded Mr. Gleeson 72,406 stock
options having an exercise price equal to market price on the date of grant with a Black-Scholes value of $100,065
and increased his compensation to $250,000 per year for 2013 because of exemplary performance.

For 2014, as a result of exceptional performance, Mr. Gleeson’s salary was increased to $300,000 and he was awarded
600,000 options to purchase common stock at $.83 per share, such options vesting monthly over a three-year period
and having an exercise price equal to the market price on the date of grant..

The Company has not used compensation consultants in connection with Mr. Gleeson’s compensation and has not
benchmarked his compensation.
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Compensation of Mr. Krishnamurti

In May, 2012, the Company, on the recommendation of Mr. Zeitoun, hired Mr. Krishnamurti under a three year
employment agreement calling for an annual salary $180,000 and an option grant to purchase 300,000 shares of the
Company’s Common Stock with a exercise price equal to the market price on the day of grant. The options had a
Black-Scholes value of $400,200 determined as of the date of grant.  The terms, including the compensation amounts
and the number of options, as well as the mix between those elements, were negotiated by the parties and the Board
believed that the compensation package reflected Mr. Krishnamurti’s expertise and experience and gave him
appropriate long-term incentive through the stock options.

In May 2013, the Board, on the recommendation of Mr. Zeitoun due to Mr. Krishnamurti’s excellent performance,
increased Mr. Krishnamurti’s cash compensation to $225,000 and granted a 10-year option vesting immediately to
purchase 65,000 shares of Common Stock with an exercise price equal to the market price on the day of grant. The
options had a Black-Scholes value of $49,686 of the date of grant.

Mr. Krishnamurti’s 2014 cash compensation remained the same as in 2013, but he was awarded options to purchase
75,000 shares of common stock at $.84 per share, and the options vested immediately and had an exercise price equal
to the market price on the day of grant. The options had a Black-Scholes value of $31,055 of the date of grant.

The Company has not used compensation consultants in connection with Mr. Krishnamurti’s compensation and has not
benchmarked his compensation.

Tax and Accounting Treatment of Compensation

Deductibility Cap on Executive Compensation

The Compensation Committee is aware that Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code treats certain elements of
executive compensation in excess of $1 million a year as an expense not deductible by the Company for federal
income tax purposes. Depending on the market price of the Company’s Common Stock on the date of exercise of
options that are not performance-based, the compensation of certain executive officers in future years may be in
excess of $1 million for purposes of Section 162(m). The Compensation Committee reserves the right to pay
compensation that may be non-deductible to the Company if it determines that it would be in the best interests of the
Company.
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Tax and Accounting Treatment of Options

We are required to recognize in our financial statements compensation cost arising from the issuance of stock
options.  GAAP requires that such that compensation cost is determined using fair value principles (we use the
Black-Scholes method of valuation) and is recognized in our financial statements over the requisite service period of
an instrument. However, the tax deduction is only recorded on our tax return when the option is exercised. The tax
benefit received at exercise and recognized in our tax return is generally equal to the intrinsic value of the option on
the date of exercise.

Compensation of Policies and Practices as they relate to Risk Management

The Company does not believe that its compensation policies and practices (cash compensation and at-the-market or
above-market five- and ten-year options without or without performance standards and with or without vesting
schedules) are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company as they relate to risk management
practices and risk-taking incentives.
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Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis with
management. Based on such review and discussions, the Compensation Committee recommended to the Board that
the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in the Prospectus and the Company’s next proxy statement for
the election of director.

Mario Concha

John Levy

Robert Betz
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OUTSTANDING SHARES

As of June 1, 2015 the Company had:

●200,000,000 authorized shares of Common Stock;

●96,542,494 issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock

●8,937,546 issuable shares of Common Stock, the number of shares issuable on conversion of 10% PIK ElectionConvertible Notes Due 2023 ("Series 2023 Notes") as of June 1, 2015.

●22,653,163 issuable shares of Common Stock,  the number of shares issuable on the conversion of 10% PIKElection Convertible Notes Due 2018 ("Series A Notes") as of June 1, 2015.

●147,279,605 issued shares of Common Stock on a fully diluted basis as of June 1, 2015.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The following table sets forth, as of June 1, 2015, information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common
stock with respect to each of the named executive officers, each of our directors, each person known by us to own
beneficially more than 5% of the common stock, and all of our directors and executive officers as a group.  Each
individual or entity named has sole investment and voting power with respect to shares of common stock indicated as
beneficially owned by such person, subject to community property laws, where applicable, except where otherwise
noted.  The percentage of common stock beneficially owned is based on 96,542,494 shares of common stock
outstanding as of June 1, 2015 plus the shares that a person has a right to acquire within 60 days of June 1, 2015.

Number of Shares of Percentage of
Common

Common Stock Stock Beneficially
Name and Address (1) Beneficially Owned (2) Owned

Andre Zeitoun (3) (4) (10) 8,762,899 8.4 %
John Levy (3) (5) 580,957 *
David Taft (3) (8) 25,992,796 26.9 %
Mario Concha (3) (7) 167,775 *
Robert Betz (3) (6) 163,107 *
Ali Zamani (3) (9) 205,373 *
Bradley Tirpak 50,066 *
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Nat Krishnamurti (4) (11) 440,000 *
William Gleeson (4) (12) 1,205,744 1.2 %
All Officers and Directors as a Group 37,568,717 35.3 %
IBS Capital, LLC (8) 25,992,796 26.9 %
Samlyn Capital, LLC (13) 21,918,421 22.7 %
Berylson Capital Partners, LLC (14) 5,709,160 5.9 %
James Berylson (14) 6,982,160 7.2 %
Mark Kingdon (15) 5,739,630 5.9 %

* Less than 1%

(1)Unless otherwise indicated, the address of the persons named in this column is c/o Applied Minerals, Inc., 110Greene Street, Suite 1101, New York, NY 10012.

(2)
Included in this calculation are shares deemed beneficially owned by virtue of the individual’s right to acquire
them within 60 days of the date of June 1, 2015 as determined pursuant to Rule 13d-3 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934.   

(3)Director.
(4)Executive officer.

(5)

Mr. Levy’s holdings include: (i) options to purchase 60,000 shares of common stock at $1.00 per share expiring in
October 2015; (ii) options to purchase 100,000 shares of common stock at $0.83 per share expiring November
2016; (iii) options to purchase 100,000 shares of common stock at $1.24 per share expiring in January 2018; (iv)
options to purchase 100,000 shares of common stock at $1.66 per share expiring November 2022; (v) options to
purchase 50,000 shares of common stock at $0.83 per share expiring in March 2024; (vi) options to purchase
25,000 shares of common stock at $0.66 per share expiring in February 2025.

(6)
Mr. Betz’s holdings include: options to purchase 50,000 shares of Common Stock at $0.83 per share expiring in
March, 2024 and options to purchase 25,000 shares of common stock at $0.66 per share expiring in February
2025.

(7)
Mr. Concha’s holdings include options to purchase 50,000 shares of Common Stock at $0.83 per share expiring in
March, 2024 and options to purchase 25,000 shares of common stock at $0.66 per share expiring in February,
2025.

(8)

Mr. Taft is President of IBS Capital LLC and deemed to be the beneficial owner of shares held by the
funds it manages by virtue of the right to vote and dispose of such securities. Based on an SEC Form 4
filed on February 17, 2015, Mr. Taft beneficially owned 22,381,153 shares on February 17, 2015,
including (i) 13,814,050 shares beneficially owned by IBS Turnaround Fund (QP) (A Limited
Partnership), (ii) 6,572,509 shares beneficially owned by IBS Turnaround Fund (A Limited Partnership)
and (iii) 1,994,594 shares beneficially owned by IBS Opportunity Fund, Ltd. In addition, as a result of
the Series A Notes issued in November 2014, the funds beneficially own the following shares, or the
right to acquire them, within 60 days of June 1, 2015: (i) 1,932,347 shares beneficially owned by IBS
Turnaround Fund (QP) (A Limited Partnership), (ii) 919,405 shares beneficially owned by IBS
Turnaround Fund (A Limited Partnership) and (iii) 604,917 shares beneficially owned by IBS
Opportunity Fund, Ltd. Finally, the funds were also issued 154,975 shares as payment of Liquidated
Damages pursuant to the Series A Registration Rights Agreement consisting of: 86,634 shares issued to
IBS Turnaround Fund QP (A Limited Partnership), 41,220 shares issued to IBS Turnaround Fund (A
Limited Partnership) and 27,121 shares issued to IBS Opportunity Fund, Ltd.
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(9)
Mr. Zamani’s holdings include options to purchase 50,000 shares of Common Stock at $0.83 per share expiring in
March, 2024 and options to purchase 25,000 shares of common stock at $0.66 per share expiring in February
2025.

(10)

Mr. Zeitoun’s holdings include (i) options (held through Material Advisors) to purchase 3,949,966 shares of
common stock at $0.70 per share expiring in January 2019; (ii) options (held through Material Advisors) to
purchase 1,742,792 shares of common stock at $0.83 per share expiring in January 2021; and (ii) options to
purchase 1,742,792 shares of common stock at $1.66 per share expiring in November 2022.

(11)
Mr. Krishnamurti’s holdings include options to purchase 300,000 shares of common stock at $1.55 per share
expiring in May 2022, 65,000 shares of common stock at $1.35 per share expiring in May, 2023, and 75,000
shares of common stock at $0.84 per share expiring in May 2024.

(12)

Mr. Gleeson’s holdings include options to purchase 900,000 shares of common stock at $1.90 per share expiring
in September, 2021, options to purchase 72,406 shares of common stock at $1.66 per share expiring in
November, 2022, and options to purchase 233,338 shares of common stock at $0.84 per share expiring in June
2024.

(13)

Based upon the Schedule 13D filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 6, 2014,
Samlyn Capital, LLC, 500 Park Avenue, 2nd Floor, New York, N.Y. 10022, is the beneficial owner of shares of
held by funds it manages by virtue of the right to vote and dispose of the securities.  The 13D indicated that
Samlyn Onshore Fund, L.P. owned 7,632,609 shares, including 3,782,609 shares of common stock issuable
upon conversion of the Series A Notes and Samlyn Offshore Master Fund, Ltd., owned 13,236,956 shares of
Common Stock, including 7,086,956 shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the Series A Notes.
The beneficial ownership listed in the table also includes an additional 187,029 shares of Series A PIK Note
interest for the Samlyn Onshore Fund, L.P. and 350,411 shares of Series A PIK Note interest for the Samlyn
Offshore Masterfund Ltd. Finally, the funds were issued 511,416 shares as payment of Liquidated Damages
pursuant to the Series A Registration Rights Agreement, consisting of 333,443 shares issued to Samlyn Offshore
Masterfund, Ltd. and 177,973 shares issued to Samlyn Onshore Fund, Ltd.  Robert Pohly is the managing
member of Samlyn Capital, LLC.  He has beneficial ownership of shares owned by funds of which Samlyn
Capital, LLC is the general partner or investment manager, Mr. Pohly having sole voting and investment power.

(14)
James Berylson beneficially owns 6,982,160 shares, including 2,304,381 shares beneficially owned by Berylson
Capital Partners, 3,404,779 shares issuable on conversion of Series 2023 Notes, and an additional 1,273,000
shares. The address of Berylson Capital Partners is 33 Arch Street, 31st Floor, Boston, MA 02110.

(15) Mark Kingdon is the managing member of Kingdon Associates, Kingdon Family Partnership, L.P, and M.Kingdon Offshore Master Fund, L.P. Amount of shares is based on 13G filed on May 22, 2015.
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Review, approval or ratification of transactions with related persons.

Our Board of Directors reviews any transaction, except for ordinary business travel and entertainment, involving the
Company and a related party before the transaction or upon any significant change in the transaction or relationship.
For these purposes, the term "related-party transaction" includes any transaction required to be disclosed pursuant to
Item 404 of Regulation S-K of the SEC.

Transactions with Related Persons

In 2014, the funds managed by IBS Capital LLC, of which Mr. Taft, a director is president, purchased $3,030,303 of
Series A Notes for $2,000,000. The Series A Notes purchased by such funds are convertible into common stock at the
rate of $.66 per share. In 2014, funds managed by Samlyn Capital, LLC purchased $10,000,000 of Series A Notes in
exchange for $6,000,000 and the cancellation of a warrant to purchase five million shares of common stock of $2.00
per share. The Series A Notes purchased by the Samlyn funds are convertible into common stock at the rate of $.60
per share.

Eric Basroon, Mr. Zeitoun’s brother-in-law, was employed by the Company in 2014 as Vice President of Business
Development. In 2012-2014, he received an annual salary of $200,000.  During 2012, Mr. Basroon was granted
580,930 stock options with a Black-Sholes value of $802,847. In 2014, Mr. Basroon was granted 75,000 options with
a Black-Sholes value of $31,055. The options had an exercise price equal to the market price as of the date of grant.

DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The directors who are deemed to be independent under the independence standards of NASDAQ are Messrs. Levy,
Concha, Betz, Tirpak, and Zamani. They are also independent under the enhanced independence standards of Section
10A-3 of the Securities Exchange Act.  Messrs. Zeitoun and Taft are not independent under the NASDAQ standards
of independence.  Mr. Zeitoun is an employee.  Mr. Taft is deemed not independent because of the size of his security
holdings.
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THE OFFERING

This prospectus relates to the offer and sale, from time to time, to the following

●  

up to 20,485,019 shares of our common stock with par value of $0.001 (“Common Stock”) issuable on conversion of
$10.5 million of 10% PIK-Election Convertible Notes due 2023 (“Series 2023 Notes”). The interest rate on the Series
2023 Notes is 10% per year and at the Company’s election, interest may be paid in cash or in Series 2023 Notes (i.e.,
may be “paid in kind” or “PIK”ed). As of the date of this prospectus, 7,720,588 shares are issuable on conversion of the
Series 2023 Notes that were issued on August 2, 2013 (the date of the initial issuance of Series 2023 Notes) and
1,216,958 shares are issuable on conversion of Series 2023 Notes that have been issued as interest. If the Company
issues additional Series 2023 Notes in payment of interest, the number of shares to which this Prospectus relates will
increase, and if the Company makes all the interest payments by issuing additional Series 2023 Notes and all the
Series 2023 Notes (including all the Series 2023 Notes issued as interest) remain outstanding until 2023, the
additional shares issuable on conversion of the Series 2023 Notes issued in payment of interest could increase the
number of shares to which this Prospectus relates to 20,485,019 shares. Given the Company’s current financial
position, it is anticipated that for the foreseeable future, the Company will pay interest using Notes issued as
payment-in-kind interest.

ANTIDILUTION PROVISIONS OF SERIES 2023 NOTES

If the Company, while the Series 2023 Notes is outstanding, pays a dividend or make a distribution on its Common
Stock in shares of Common Stock, subdivides its   outstanding shares of Common Stock into a greater number of
shares or combines its outstanding shares of Common Stock into a smaller number of shares, then (i) the conversion
price (initially $1.40) in effect immediately prior to the date on which such change will become effective will be
adjusted by multiplying such conversion price by a fraction, the numerator of which will be the number of shares of
Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to such change and the denominator of which will be the number of
shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to such change and (ii) the number of Shares
issuable upon conversion of the Series 2023 Notes will be adjusted by multiplying the number of Shares issuable upon
conversion of the Series 2023 Notes immediately prior to the date on which such change will become effective by a
fraction, the numerator of which is will be the conversion price in effect immediately prior to the date on which such
change will become effective and the denominator of which will be the conversion price in effect immediately after
giving effect to such change, calculated in accordance with clause (i) above. If the PIK Shares issuable upon
conversion of the Series 2023 Notes will be changed into, or the right to receive, the same or a different number of
shares of any other class(es) or series of stock or other securities or property, whether by reclassification,
reorganization or otherwise, then and in each such event, the Holders will have the right thereafter to receive upon
conversion of the Series 2023 Notes the kind and amount of shares of stock and other securities and property
receivable upon such reclassification, reorganization or other change in respect of a number of shares of Shares equal
to the number of Shares otherwise issuable upon such conversion of the Series 2023 Notes.
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In the event the Company issues additional shares of Common Stock for cash (with convertible securities, options and
warrants being deemed issuances of Common Stock at their respective conversion, strike or exercise prices, as
applicable) without consideration or for a consideration per share less than the conversion price in effect on the date of
and immediately prior to such issue, then the conversion price will be reduced, concurrently with such issue, to a price
(calculated to the nearest cent) determined by multiplying the conversion price by a fraction, (A) the numerator of
which will be the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to such issue plus the number of
shares which the aggregate consideration received by the Company for the total number of additional shares of
Common Stock so issued would purchase at such conversion price immediately prior to such issuance, and (B) the
denominator of which will be the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to such issue
plus the number of such additional shares of Common Stock so issued. For the purpose of the above calculation,   the
number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to such issue will be calculated on a fully-diluted
basis, as if all shares of convertible securities, options and warrants had been fully converted into shares of Common
Stock immediately prior to such issue. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no conversion price will be reduced at such
time if the amount of such reduction would be less than $0.01, but any such amount will be carried forward, and a
reduction will be made with respect to such amount at the time of, and together with, any subsequent reduction which,
together with such amount and any other amounts so carried forward, equal $0.01 or more in the aggregate. For the
purposes of this paragraph, all Shares issuable upon conversion of all outstanding shares of Series 2023 Notes and the
exercise and/or conversion of any other outstanding convertible securities, options and warrants, will be deemed to be
outstanding.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The Company will receive none of the proceeds for the sale of the Common Stock.  The proceeds will go to the
Selling Stockholders.  
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PRICE RANGE OF OUR COMMON STOCK AND OTHER STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Our Common Stock is quoted on OTCQB under the symbol “AMNL”.

The following table sets forth the high and low bid quotations per share of our Common Stock for the periods
indicated. The high and low bid quotations reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down or
commission and may not necessarily represent actual transactions.

2013 High Low
First Quarter $1.72$1.40
Second Quarter $1.47$1.11
Third Quarter $1.19$0.98
Fourth Quarter $1.22$1.00

2014 High Low
First Quarter $1.09 $0.69
Second Quarter $0.85 $0.60
Third Quarter $0.86 $0.67
Fourth Quarter $0.78 $0.59

2015
First Quarter $0.74 $0.63
Second Quarter through June 1, 2015 $0.75 $0.58
Source:  http://www.yahoofinance.com.

The Company has about 929 record stockholders.  

At June 1, 2015, our authorized capital stock consisted of 200,000,000 shares of Common Stock, par value $0.001 per
share and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share.  As of June 1, 2015, 96,542,494 shares of
Common Stock were issued and outstanding and no shares of preferred stock were issued and outstanding.

DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK
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Set forth below is a description of certain provisions relating to our capital stock.  For additional information
regarding our capital stock please refer to our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws.

COMMON STOCK

Each share of Common Stock entitles the holder to one vote on each matter that may come before a meeting of the
stockholders.  There is no right to cumulative voting; thus, except as noted below, the holders of fifty percent or more
of the shares outstanding can, if they choose to do so, elect all of the directors. Samlyn Onshore Fund, LP  and Samlyn
Offshore Masterfund Ltd are referred hereafter to as the “Samlyn Stockholders.” Until the Samlyn Stockholders,
together with their respective affiliates, cease to beneficially own at least 9,700,000 shares of Common Stock (they
beneficially own 21,918,421 shares of Common Stock prior to this offering), the Samlyn Stockholders jointly shall
have the right to designate one person to be nominated for election to the Board (an “Initial Nominee”), and the Samlyn
Stockholders jointly shall exercise this right, in their sole discretion, anytime and from time to time by providing
written notice to the Company. Until the earlier of (i) the Samlyn Stockholders, together with their respective
affiliates, ceasing to beneficially own at least 9,700,000 shares of Common and (ii) December 22, 2016, if Andre
Zeitoun ceases to serve as a named executive officer of the Company or as chairman of the Board, the Samlyn
Stockholders jointly, during such period in which Mr. Andre Zeitoun is not serving in such capacity, shall be entitled
to designate a number of additional nominees (each an “Additional Nominee,” and together with the Initial Nominee, the
“Nominees”) who, together with the Initial Nominee, shall comprise at least 20% of the total number of Directors, and
the number of Directors representing such 20% shall be rounded up to the nearest whole number.  The Stockholders
jointly shall exercise the rights in their sole discretion, anytime and from time to time by providing written notice to
the Company.
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In the event of a voluntary or involuntary liquidation, all stockholders are entitled to a pro rata distribution after
payment of liabilities and after provision has been made for each class of stock, if any, having preference over the
Common Stock.  

The holders of the Common Stock have no preemptive rights with respect to future offerings of shares of Common
Stock except that the Samlyn Stockholders have preemptive rights by contract under investment agreements
(“Investment Agreements”) as follows. If the Company proposes to issue any (i) equity securities or (ii) securities
convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for equity securities, other than any Excluded Securities (the “Dilutive
Securities”), the Company shall deliver to each Samlyn Stockholder a written notice (which notice shall state the
number of Dilutive Securities proposed to be issued, the purchase price thereof and any other material terms or
conditions of the proposed Dilutive Securities and of their issuance, including any linked or grouped securities which
comprise Dilutive Securities) of such issuance (the “Preemptive Offer Notice”) at least 5 business days prior to the date
of the proposed issuance (such period beginning on the date that the Preemptive Offer Notice is delivered to the
Investors and the 5 Business Days following such date being the “Preemptive Offer Period”). Each Investor shall have
the option, exercisable at any time during the Preemptive Offer Period by delivering a written notice to the Company
(a “Preemptive Offer Acceptance Notice”), to subscribe for up to a number of such Dilutive Securities, equal to the
number of such Dilutive Securities proposed to be offered multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the total
number of shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by such Investor and any of its affiliates at the time the
Company proposes to issue any the securities and the denominator of which is the total number of shares of Common
Stock issued and outstanding at such time (“Pro Rata Portion”). The preemptive rights do not apply to the following
securities issued by the Company at any time in compliance with the Investment Agreements (the “Excluded
Securities”): (i) equity securities or securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for equity securities, in
each case issued to directors, officers, employees, or consultants of the Company as compensation for services
rendered by such directors, officers, employees, or consultants; (ii) shares of Common Stock issued as a dividend on
shares of Common Stock or upon any stock split, reclassification, recapitalization, exchange or readjustment of shares
or other similar transaction; (iii) securities issued as consideration in a merger, consolidation, acquisition of all or
substantially all of the another person’s assets or any similar transaction involving the Company and a Person (other
than the Investors or an Affiliate of the Company), in each case to the extent that such transaction is conducted in
compliance with this Agreement; and (iv) securities issued upon the exercise, conversion or exchange of any options,
warrants or other derivative securities of the Company issued in compliance with (or otherwise not in violation of) the
Investment‎ Agreements.

Holders of Common Stock are entitled to dividends if, as, and when declared by the Board out of the funds legally
available therefore.  The Series A Notes prohibit dividends without the approval of the holders of a majority of the
principal amount of the Series A Notes. It is our present intention to retain earnings, if any, for use in our
business.  The payment of dividends on our Common Stock is unlikely in the foreseeable future.  
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The Board of Directors is not classified.

The Company’s Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws have no restrictions on alienability of the Common Stock and
do not contain any provision discriminating against any existing or prospective holder of such Common Stock as a
result of such security holder owning or acquiring a substantial amount of Common Stock.

The Delaware General Corporation Law (“GCL”) has a provision called “Business Combinations with Interested
Stockholders Act,” by which the Company has elected to be governed.

The Delaware Business Combinations with Interested Stockholders Act generally operates to prevent a wide variety of
transactions between the corporation, on one hand, and an “interested shareholder” and its affiliates, on the other
hand.  It generally prohibits a publicly held Delaware corporation from engaging in a “business combination” with an”
interested stockholder” for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person became an
interested stockholder, unless (i) prior to such date the Board of Directors of the corporation approved either the
business combination or the transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder, (ii) upon
consummation of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested
stockholder owns at least 85% of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation excluding shares owned by officers
or directors of the corporation and by certain employee stock plans, or (iii) on or after such date the business
combination is approved by the Board of Directors of the corporation and by the affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3%
of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation that is not owned by the interested stockholder.  The term “business
combination” generally includes mergers, asset sales, and similar transactions between the corporation and the
interested stockholder, and other transactions resulting in a financial benefit to the stockholder.  An “interested
stockholder” is a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns 15% or more of the corporation’s voting
stock or who is an affiliate or associate of the corporation and, together with his affiliates and associates, has owned
15% or more of the corporation’s voting stock within three years.

SEC POSITION ON INDEMNIFICATION FOR SECURITIES ACT LIABILITIES

As permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, the Bylaws of the Company provide that (i) the Company is
required to indemnify its directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation
Law, (ii) the Company is required to advance expenses, as incurred, to its directors and officers in connection with a
legal proceeding to the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, subject to certain very
limited exceptions, (iii) the Company may indemnify any other person as set forth in the Delaware General
Corporation Law, and (iii) the indemnification rights conferred in the Bylaws are not exclusive.
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Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to our directors,
officers, and controlling persons pursuant to the provisions described above or otherwise, we have been advised that in
the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is,
therefore, unenforceable.  In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment
of expenses incurred or paid in a successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director,
officer or controlling person in connection with the Common Stock being registered, we will, unless in the opinion of
our counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to the court of appropriate jurisdiction the
question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be
governed by the final adjudication of such issue.
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SELLING STOCKHOLDERS

The Selling Stockholders are named in the table below. Each Selling Stockholder acquired the Common Stock to be
sold using this prospectus in a private transaction offered and sold by the Company in reliance upon exemptions from
registration pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act or in open market transactions.

The term “Selling Stockholders ” includes persons listed in the table below and also includes donees, pledgees,
transferees or other successors-in-interest selling shares of Common Stock, or interests in shares of Common Stock,
received after the date of this prospectus from a Selling Stockholder as a gift, pledge, partnership distribution or
similar transaction. The Selling Stockholders may sell all or any portion of their shares of Common Stock in one or
more transactions on any stock exchange, market or trading facility on which the shares are traded or in private,
negotiated transactions. Each Selling Stockholder will determine the prices at which the Selling Stockholder’s shares
will be sold.

The information below is based in part on information provided by or on behalf of the Selling Stockholders.
Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC, and includes voting or investment power
with respect to shares, as well as any shares as to which the Selling Stockholder has the right to acquire beneficial
ownership within sixty (60) days after June 1, 2015 through the exercise or conversion of any stock options, warrants,
convertible debt or otherwise. No estimate can be given as to the amount or percentage of our Common Stock that will
be held by the Selling Stockholders after any sales or other dispositions made pursuant to this prospectus because the
Selling Stockholders are not required to sell any of the shares being registered under this prospectus. The table below
assumes that the Selling Stockholders will sell all of the shares listed in this prospectus.

Unless otherwise indicated in the footnotes to the table, (i) the named persons possess sole voting and investment
control with respect to the shares listed (except to the extent such authority is shared with spouses under applicable
law) as of June 1, 2015. (ii) the Selling Stockholders have not held any position or office or had any material
relationship with our Company or any of its subsidiaries within the past three years, and (iii) the Selling Stockholder is
not a broker-dealer, or an affiliate of a broker-dealer.

Selling Stockholder

Shares
beneficially

Owned before
the

Offering

Maximum
number of

Shares to be Sold
(1)

Shares Beneficially

Owned after the
Offering

Percentage
ownership

after the Offering

(* indicates less than
1%) (2)

10,108,198 7,803,817 2,304,381 2.4 %
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Berylson Master Fund, L.P.(3)
(4)
Kingdon Associates (3) (5) 2,875,421 1,828,044 1,047,377 1.1 %
Kingdon Family Partnership,
L.P. (3) (5) 600,303 311,372 288,931 *

M. Kingdon Offshore Master
Fund, L.P. (3) (5) 5,013,304 2,737,969 2,275,335 2.3 %

Conegliano Ventures LP (3) (6) 7,803,817 7,803,817 0 *

(1)
The number or percentage of shares owned in this column assumes the sale of all shares of Common Stock
registered pursuant to this prospectus, although the Selling Stockholders are under no obligations known to us to
sell any shares of Common Stock at this time.

(2) At June 1, 2015, 96,542,494 shares of Common Stock were issued and outstanding.

(3)
The maximum number of shares to be sold reflects stock issuable to the selling Stockholder upon the conversion
of Series 2023 Notes, issued in August, 2013 and maturing in August, 2023, and stock issuable upon the
conversion of Series 2023 Notes, maturing in August, 2023,  issued as payment of interest.

(4) The natural person who exercises voting or investment control with respect to the shares being registered forresale pursuant to this prospectus is James Berylson.

(5) The natural person who exercises voting or investment control with respect to the shares being registered forresale pursuant to this prospectus is Mark Kingdon.

(6)
The natural person who exercises voting or investment control with respect to the shares being registered for
resale pursuant to this prospectus is Noam Ohana. Conegliano Ventures LP is assignee of Athelas Investment
Limited.
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PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

The term “Selling Stockholders ” includes the persons listed in the table under “Selling Stockholders ” and also includes
donees, pledgees, transferees or other successors-in-interest selling shares of Common Stock or interests in shares of
Common Stock received after the date of this prospectus from a Selling Stockholder as a gift, pledge, partnership
distribution or similar transaction.

Each Selling Stockholder will determine the prices at which the Stockholder’s Common Stock will be sold. These sales
may be at fixed or negotiated prices. 

The Selling Stockholders may sell all or any portion of their Common Stock in one or more transactions on any stock
exchange, market or trading facility on which the Common Stock are traded or in private transactions. 

The Selling Stockholders may use any method or combination of methods, for sale of the Common Stock to the extent
permitted by law. Such methods may include: 

●ordinary brokerage transactions and transactions in which the broker-dealer solicits purchasers

●block trades in which the broker-dealer will attempt to sell the Common Stock as agent but may position and resell aportion of the block as principal to facilitate the transaction;

●purchases by a broker-dealer as principal and resale by the broker-dealer for its account;

●an exchange distribution in accordance with the rules of the applicable exchange;

●privately negotiated transactions;

●short sales;

●broker-dealers may agree with the Selling Stockholders to sell a specified number of such Common Stock at astipulated price per share;
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●a combination of any such methods of sale; and

●puts and calls and other transactions in our Common Stock or derivatives of our Common Stock, which mayinvolve the sale or delivery of Common Stock in connection with these transactions

The Selling Stockholders may also sell the Common Stock under exemptions for registration under Section 5 of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (“Securities Act”), including sales under Rule 144 under the Securities Act, if
available, rather than under this prospectus. 
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The Selling Stockholders and any broker-dealers or agents that are involved in selling Common Stock may be deemed
to be “underwriters” within the meaning of the Securities Act in connection with such sales. In such event, any
commissions received by such broker-dealers or agents and any profit on the resale of the Common Stock purchased
by them may be deemed to be underwriting commissions or discounts under the Securities Act.

The Selling Stockholders may indemnify any broker-dealer that participates in transactions involving the sale of the
Securities against certain liabilities, including liabilities arising under the Securities Act.

The Selling Stockholders may from time to time pledge or grant a security interest in some or all of the Common
Stock owned by them and, if they default in the performance of their secured obligations, the pledgees or secured
parties may offer and sell the Common Stock from time to time under this prospectus after we have filed a supplement
to this prospectus under Rule 424(b)(3) (or other applicable provision under the Securities Act) amending the list of
Selling Stockholders to include the pledgee, transferee or other successors in interest as Selling Stockholders under
this prospectus.

The Selling Stockholders also may transfer the Common Stock in other circumstances, in which case the transferees,
or other successors in interest will be the selling beneficial owners for purposes of this prospectus and may sell the
Common Stock from time to time under this prospectus after we have filed a supplement to this prospectus under Rule
424(b)(3) (or other applicable provision under the Securities Act) amending the list of Selling Stockholders to include
the transferee or other successors in interest as Selling Stockholders under this prospectus.

Each Selling Stockholder has advised the Company that it acquired the Series 2023 Notes or the Common Stock in the
ordinary course of such Selling Stockholder’s business, that it has not entered into any agreements, understandings or
arrangements with any underwriters or broker-dealers regarding the sale of their Securities, and there is no underwriter
or coordinating broker acting in connection with a proposed sale of Common Stock by any Selling Stockholder. If we
are notified by any Selling Stockholder that any material arrangement has been entered into with a broker-dealer for
the sale of Common Stock, we will file a supplement, if required, to this prospectus disclosing the material facts
relating to the arrangement and the related transactions.
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If the Selling Stockholders use this prospectus for any sale of the Common Stock, they will be subject to the
prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act.

The Company has advised each Selling Stockholder that it may not use Common Stock registered on the registration
statement of which this prospectus is a part to cover short sales of Common Stock made prior to the date on which this
registration statement shall have been declared effective by the SEC.

The Selling Stockholders and other persons participating in the sale or distribution of the Common Stock will be
subject to the applicable provisions of the Securities Act and Securities Exchange Act, and the rules and regulations
thereunder promulgated, including, without limitation, Regulation M, as applicable to such Selling Stockholders in
connection with resales of their respective Common Stock under this registration statement.

In order to comply with the securities laws of some states, if applicable, the Common Stock may be sold in these
jurisdictions only through registered or licensed brokers or dealers. In addition, in some states the Common Stock may
not be sold unless it has been registered or qualified for sale or an exemption from registration or qualification
requirements is available and is complied with.

Although we will incur expenses in connection with the registration of the Common Stock offered under this
prospectus, we will not receive any proceeds from the sale of the Common Stock by the Selling Stockholders .

We have agreed to indemnify certain Selling Stockholders against liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities
Act and state securities laws, relating to the registration of the Common Stock offered by this prospectus.
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EXPERTS

The consolidated balance sheets of Applied Minerals, Inc. as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 and the related
consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the years in
the three-year period ended December 31, 2014 have been audited by EisnerAmper LLP, independent registered
public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is included herein, which report expresses an unqualified
opinion on the financial statements. Such financial statements have been included herein in reliance on the report of
such firm given upon their authority as experts in accounting and auditing.

LEGAL MATTERS

Unless otherwise indicated in any applicable prospectus supplement, the validity of the Common Stock being offered
hereby has been passed upon for us by William Gleeson Esq., the General Counsel of the Company.  Mr. Gleeson
owns options to purchase 1,572,406 shares of Common Stock.
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WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We are subject to the informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and, in accordance
therewith, file reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC.  Our reports, proxy statements and other
information filed pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are available to the public over the Internet from the
SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov and may be inspected and copied at the public reference facilities maintained by
the SEC at 100 F. Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 20549.    The public may obtain information on the
operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains an Internet site
that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically
with the SEC and the address of that site is http://www.sec.gov.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW

Applied Minerals, Inc. is a leading global producer of DRAGONITE halloysite clay and AMIRON advanced natural
iron oxides. We are a vertically integrated operation focused on developing grades of DRAGONITE and AMIRON
that can be utilized for both traditional and advanced end-market applications. We have mineral production capacity
of up to 55,000 tons per year. See “BUSINESS” for further details regarding both our business strategy and our recent
developments. 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following accounting policies have been identified by management as policies critical to the Company’s financial
reporting:

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. In these consolidated
financial statements, the derivative liability, stock compensation, impairment of long-lived assets and valuation
allowance on income taxes involve extensive reliance on management’s estimates. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all highly-liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at the date of
purchase. The Company minimizes its credit risk by investing its cash and cash equivalents, which sometimes exceeds
FDIC limits, with major financial institutions located in the United States with a high credit rating. The Company’s
management believes that no concentration of credit risk exists with respect to the investment of its cash and cash
equivalents.

Property and Equipment
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Property and equipment are carried at cost. Depreciation and amortization is computed on the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of the assets, or the life of the lease, whichever is shorter, as follows:

Estimated
Useful Life

Building and Building Improvements 5 – 40 years
Mining equipment 2 – 7 years
Office and shop furniture and equipment 3 – 7 years
Vehicles 5 years

During the fourth quarter of 2015, the Company started using a five-year depreciation schedule with respect to its new
processing plant that was commissioned in 2014. The five-year depreciation schedule is a change from the 40 years
utilized for the building and 7 years utilized for the equipment relating to the new processing plant in the quarterly
financial statements for the quarters ended March 31, June 30 and September 30, 2014. This change in useful life
resulted in $587,427 of additional depreciation expense, which was recorded during the fourth quarter of 2014. The
impact of the change in the depreciation schedule did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial
statements for the three quarters previously reported on Form 10-Q.

Fair Value

ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement and Disclosures, defines fair value as the exchange price that would be
received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the
asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. This topic also
establishes a fair value hierarchy, which requires classification based on observable and unobservable inputs when
measuring fair value. The fair value hierarchy distinguishes between assumptions based on market data (observable
inputs) and an entity’s own assumptions (unobservable inputs). The hierarchy consists of three levels:

Level 1 – quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities

Level 2 – observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities

Level 3 –significant unobservable inputs

The recorded value of certain financial assets and liabilities, which consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable, other current assets, and accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate the fair value at
March 31, 2015, December 31, 2014 and 2013 based upon the short-term nature of the assets and liabilities. Based on
borrowing rates currently available to the Company for loans with similar terms, and the remaining short term period
outstanding, the carrying value of notes payable materially approximate fair value. For the Company’s warrant and
PIK note derivative liabilities fair value was estimated using a Monte Carlo Model.
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Revenue Recognition

Revenue includes sales for halloysite and, commencing in June 2013, iron oxide and is recognized when title passes to
the buyer and when collectability is reasonably assured. Title passes to the buyer based on terms of the sales contract.
Product pricing is determined based on contractual arrangements with the Company’s customers.

Mining Exploration and Development Costs

Land and mining property are carried at cost. The Company expenses prospecting and mining exploration costs. At
the point when a property is determined to have proven and probable reserves, subsequent development costs are
capitalized. When these properties are developed and operations commence, capitalized development costs will be
charged to operations using the units-of-production method over proven and probable reserves. Upon abandonment or
sale of a mineral property, all capitalized costs relating to the specific property are written off in the period abandoned
or sold and a gain or loss is recognized.

Through March 31, 2015 all costs associated with prospecting and exploration of the Company's mines have been
deemed to have indeterminable recoverability and therefore have been expensed.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets are tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying
amount may not be recoverable. When such events occur, the Company compares the sum of the undiscounted cash
flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset to its carrying amount. If this comparison
indicates that there is impairment, the amount of the impairment is typically calculated using discounted expected
future cash flows where observable fair values are not readily determinable. Considerable management judgment is
necessary to estimate the fair value of assets. Assets to be disposed of are carried at the lower of their financial
statement carrying amount or fair value, less cost to sell.

Provision for Income Taxes

We use the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Deferred income taxes are provided for the
temporary difference between the financial reporting basis and tax basis of our assets and liabilities. Deferred tax
benefits result principally from certain tax carryover benefits and from recording certain expenses in the financial
statements that are not currently deductible for tax purposes and from differences between the tax and book basis of
assets and deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more
likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Deferred tax liabilities result
principally from deductions recorded for tax purposes in excess of that recorded in the financial statements or income
for financial statement purposes in excess of the amount for tax purposes. The effect of changes in tax rates is
recognized in the period the rate change is enacted.

Stock Options and Warrants

The Company follows ASC 718 (Stock Compensation) and 505-50 (Equity-Based Payments to Non-employees),
which provide guidance in accounting for share-based awards exchanged for services rendered and requires
companies to expense the estimated fair value of these awards over the requisite service period. The Company
instituted a formal long-term and short-term incentive plan on November 20, 2012, which was approved by its
shareholders. Prior to that date, we did not have a formal equity plan, but all equity grants, including stock options and
warrants, were approved by our Board of Directors. We determine the fair value of the stock-based compensation
awards granted as either the fair value of the consideration received or the fair value of the equity instruments issued,
whichever is more reliably measurable. If the fair value of the equity instruments issued is used, it is measured using
the stock price and other measurement assumptions as of the earlier of either of (1) the date at which a commitment
for performance by the counterparty to earn the equity instruments is reached, or (2) the date at which the
counterparty’s performance is complete. During the quarter ended June 30, 2013 the Company employed the simplified
method to determine the expected term for any options granted because the Company did not have sufficient historical
exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate expected term. The Company previously utilized
the contractual term as the expected term.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
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In August 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2014-15, "Presentation of Financial
Statements - Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40): Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity's Ability to Continue as a
Going Concern" ("ASU 2014-15"). ASU 2014-15 is intended to define management's responsibility to evaluate
whether there is substantial doubt about an entity's ability to continue as a going concern and to provide related
footnote disclosures. Specifically, ASU 2014-15 provides a definition of the term substantial doubt and requires an
assessment for a period of one year after the date that the financial statements are issued. It also requires certain
disclosures when substantial doubt is alleviated as a result of consideration of management's plans and requires an
express statement and other disclosures when substantial doubt is not alleviated. The new standard will be effective
for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, with early adoption permitted. Management is currently
evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU 2014-14 on our financial statement disclosures.

On June 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-12, Accounting for Share-Based Payments When the Terms of an
Award Provide That a Performance Target Could Be Achieved after the Requisite Service Period, which clarifies that
entities should treat performance targets that can be met after the requisite service period of a share-based payment
award as performance conditions that affect vesting. Under the ASU, an entity would not record compensation
expense related to an award for which transfer to the employee is contingent on the entity's satisfaction of a
performance target until it becomes probable that the performance target will be met. The adoption of this ASU will
be required, either on a retrospective basis or prospective basis, beginning with our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ending March 31, 2016. The adoption of this ASU is not expected to have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

In June 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) ASU 2014-10 Development Stage Entities. The
amendments in ASU 2014-10 remove the definition of a development stage entity from Topic 915 Development Stage
Entities, thereby removing the distinction between development stage entities and other reporting entities from US
GAAP. In addition, the amendments eliminate the requirements for development stage entities to (1) present
inception-to-date information in the statements of operations, cash flows, and shareholder’s equity, (2) label the
financial statements as those of a development stage entity, (3) disclose a description of the development stage
activities in which the entity is engaged, and (4) disclose in the first year in which the entity is no longer a
development stage entity that in prior years it had been in the development stage. The amendments also clarify that the
guidance in Topic 275, Risks and Uncertainties, is applicable to entities that have not commenced planned principal
operations. ASU 2014-10 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2014, and interim
periods therein. The Company could early adopt ASU 2014-10 for any annual reporting period or interim period for
which the entity’s financial statements have not yet been issued. The Company has elected to adopt this ASU effective
with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014 and its adoption resulted in the removal
of inception-to-date information in the Company’s financial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The amendments in ASU
2014-09 affects any entity that either enters into contracts with customers to transfer goods or services or enters into
contracts for the transfer of nonfinancial assets unless those contracts are within the scope of other standards (e.g.,
insurance contracts or lease contracts). This ASU will supersede the revenue recognition requirements in Topic
605 Revenue Recognition, and most industry-specific guidance, and creates a Topic 606 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers.
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The core principle of the guidance is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. To achieve that core principle, an entity should apply the following steps:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer.

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract.

Step 3: Determine the transaction price.

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract.

Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

ASU 2014-09 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods
within that reporting period. Early application is not permitted. In April 2015, the FASB proposed a deferral of the
effective date of this ASU by one year, but permits entities to adopt one year earlier if they choose. The Company is
currently evaluating these new requirements to determine the method of implementation and any resulting estimated
effects on the financial statements.

In April 2015, the FASB issued an ASU which requires that debt issuance costs be presented in the balance sheet as a
direct reduction to the carrying amount of the associated debt liability, consistent with debt discounts. Currently debt
issuance costs are recognized as an asset. The ASU is effective for the Company in the first quarter of 2016 and is
required to be applied retrospectively. Early adoption is permitted. The Company does not expect the adoption of this
standard to have a material impact on its results of operations, financial position, and cash flows.
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Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2014

Results of Operations

The following sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain components of our operating earnings, including such data
stated as percentage of revenues: 

Three Months Ended March 31, Variance
2015 2014 Amount %

REVENUES $ 162,747 $ 11,014 $ 151,733 1378 %

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Production costs 2,235 3,749 (1,514 ) (40 %)
Exploration costs 1,327,281 1,197,156 130,125 (11 %)
General and administrative 1,182,309 1,254,016 (71,707 ) (6 %)
Depreciation expense 326,222 108,386 217,836 201 %
Total Operating Expenses 2,838,047 2,563,307 274,740 11 %

Operating Loss (2,675,300 ) (2,552,293 ) (123,007 ) 5 %

OTHER INCOME
(EXPENSE):
Interest expense, net, including
amortization of deferred
financing cost and debt discount

(1,028,627 ) (300,167 ) (728,460 ) 243 %

Gain on revaluation of warrant
derivative -- 725,000 (725,000 ) (100 %)

Gain (loss) on revaluation of
stock awards -- 38,000 (38,000 ) (100 %)

(Loss) gain on revaluation of
PIK note derivative (92,741 ) 1,792,500 (1,885,241 ) (105 %)

Other income (expense) (397,797 ) (60,265 ) (337,532 ) 560 %
Total Other Income (Expense) (1,519,165 ) 2,195,068 ) (3,714,233 ) (169 %)

Net Loss $ (4,194,465 ) $ (357,225 ) $ (3,837,240 ) 1074 %

Revenue generated during the three months ended March 31, 2015 was $162,747, compared to $11,014 of revenue
generated during the same period in 2014. The increase in first quarter 2015 revenues involved various customers,
including the sale to Lorama, as described in Recent Business Developments; sales of Dragonite to a ceramic
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formulator; and sales to customers that use Dragonite as an additive to improve the mechanical properties of a
polymer and as a nucleating agent to reduce the cycle time of molded plastic composites. Quarterly revenues may be
unpredictable as we are in various stages of product development and production trials with potential customers. We
believe that a number of these potential customers are at various stages of the commercialization process and there are
positive indications (but no assurances) that such potential customers may commercialize the use of our halloysite
and/or iron ore.

Total operating expenses for the three months ending March 31, 2015 were $2,838,047 compared to $2,563,307 of
operating expenses incurred during the same period in 2014, an increase of $274,740.

Exploration costs incurred during the three months ended March 31, 2015 were $1,327,281 compared to $1,197,156
of exploration costs incurred during the same period in 2014, an increase of $130,125, or 11%. Our exploration costs
are related to the continued exploration activities at our Dragon Mine property and the mineralogical analysis of the
material mined from the property. The Company hired new mining personnel in 2014 and 2015 to facilitate the sorting
and processing of our minerals. The increase in mine personnel costs, including health benefits and workers
compensation expense, coupled with an increase in equipment purchases, were offset by reductions in minerals testing
and an expired contract with OPF consulting for ceramics and proppants during the third quarter of 2014. The expired
OPF contract, which was previously fixed, has been converted to a variable contract based on future sales leads.

General and administrative expenses incurred during the three months ended March 31, 2015 totaled $1,182,309
compared to $1,254,016 of expense incurred during the same period in 2014, a reduction of $71,707 or 6%. The
reduction was driven primarily by a $114,913 decrease in noncash stock compensation expense. This was slightly
offset by increased consulting expense relating to cosmetics, as discussed in Recent Business Developments.

Net Loss for the three-month period ending March 31, 2015 was $4,194,465 compared to a loss of $357,225 incurred
during the same period in 2014, an increase of $3,837,240 or 1074%. The increase in the Net Loss was primarily due
to higher interest expense during the first quarter of 2015 relating to the issuance of PIK Notes, loss on revaluation of
PIK Note derivative and PIK notes registration penalty.

67

Edgar Filing: WIDEPOINT CORP - Form DEF 14A

125



Table Of Contents

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES - March 31, 2015

The Company has a history of recurring losses from operations and use of cash in operating activities. For the three
months ended March 31, 2015, the Company's net loss was $4,194,465 and cash used in operating activities was
$2,856,815. As of March 31, 2015, the Company had working capital of $5,494,148, which will not be sufficient to
support its current operations for the next twelve months based on its business plan without obtaining additional
financing. Collectively, these factors raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

Besides continuing its strategic business plan on generating revenue, the Company intends to explore various strategic
alternatives, including the sale of equity, debt or the disposal of certain non-core assets to raise additional capital. ln
November 2014, the Company raised $12.5 million in capital financing through the issuance of PIK Notes. During
2013, the Company raised gross proceeds of $16,060,000 pursuant to the sale of common stock and issuance of
convertible PIK Notes. Management can also take steps to reduce the Company's future operating expenses as needed.
However, the Company cannot provide any assurance that it will be able to raise additional capital as needed.  The
condensed consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and
classification of asset carrying amounts or the amount and classification of liabilities that might result should the
Company be unable to continue as a going concern. 

Cash used in operating activities in 2015 was $2,856,815 compared to $2,375,850 of cash used during the same period
in 2014. The key difference is in the timing of certain payments made over both periods.

Cash used in investing activities during 2015 was $-0- compared to a use of $315,708 during the same period in 2014.
The 2014 costs mainly relate to the construction of the new mill.

Cash used in financing activities during 2015 was $113,558 compared to $122,898 of cash used during the same
period in 2014 as payment to notes payable.

 Our total assets as of March 31, 2015 were $15,153,592 compared to $18,457,702 at December 31, 2014, or a
decrease of $3,304,110, mainly due to funding operations. Total liabilities were $26,647,011 at March 31, 2015,
compared to $25,974,467 at December 31, 2014. The increase is mainly due to the establishment of a new PIK Note
liability and related derivative resulting from the issuance of PIK Notes in November 2014 (See next section- Issuance
of Convertible Debt).
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Results of Operations- 2014 Compared to 2013

The following sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain components of our operating earnings, including such data
stated as percentage of revenues:

Twelve Months Ended December 31, Variance

2014 % of
Rev. 2013 % of Rev. Amount %

REVENUES $234,221 100 % $54,825 100 % $179,396 327 %

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Production costs 49,464 21 % 17,244 31 % 32,220 187 %
Exploration costs 4,626,139 1975 % 4,551,666 8302 % 74,473 2 %
General and administrative * 5,195,830 * 2218 % 8,569,413 * 15630 % (3,373,583) (39 %)
Depreciation expense 1,164,366 497 % 317,570 579 % 846,796 267 %
Loss on impairment and disposition
of land and equipment -- 0 % 2,482 5 % (2,482 ) (100 %)

Total Operating Expenses 11,035,799 4712 % 13,458,375 24548 % (2,422,576) (18 %)

Operating Loss (10,801,578) (4612%) (13,403,550) (24448 %) 2,601,972 (19 %)

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):
Interest expense, net, including
amortization of deferred financing
cost and debt discount

(1,667,285 ) (712 %) (497,187 ) (907 %) (1,170,098) 235 %

Gain on revaluation of warrants
derivative 830,000 354 % 995,000 1815 % (165,000 ) (17 %)

Gain on revaluation of stock awards 110,000 47 % 44,000 80 % 66,000 150 %
Gain (Loss) on revaluation of PIK
Notes 1,470,798 628 % (195,000 ) (356 %) 1,665,798 854 %

Other (expense) (258,252 ) (110 %) (6,789 ) (12 %) (251,463 ) 3,704%
Total Other Income (Expense) 485,261 207 % 340,024 620 % 145,237 43 %

Net Loss $(10,316,317) (4405%) $(13,063,526) (23828%) $2,747,209 (21% )

* Includes $865,716 and $4,707,381 of noncash stock compensation expense for 2014 and 2013, respectively, relating
to employee and consultant stock options.
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Revenue generated during 2014 was $234,221, compared to $54,825 of revenue generated during the same period in
2013. Sales of halloysite clay increased to existing and new customers for various uses, including as a nucleating
agent, a binder for ceramic-based sanity ware, and a binder for clay-based molecular sieves. The increase in iron oxide
sales stems mainly from usage as a hydrogen sulfide scavenger. We believe that a number of potential customers are
at various stages of the commercialization process and there are positive indications (but no assurances) that such
potential customers may commercialize the use of our halloysite or iron oxide.

Total operating expenses for 2014 were $11,035,799 compared to $13,458,375 of expenses incurred during the same
period in 2013, a decrease of $2,422,576 or 18%. The decrease was due primarily to a $3,373,583, or 39%, decrease in
general and administrative expenses due primarily from lower stock compensation expense incurred from the vesting
of stock options, partially offset by increases in exploration costs and depreciation expense from the new mill plant,
which was commissioned in 2014.

Exploration costs incurred during 2014 were $4,626,139 compared to $4,551,666 of costs incurred during the same
period in 2013, an increase of $74,473 or 2%. The majority of our exploration expenses were related to the continued
exploration activities at our Dragon Mine property and the mineralogical analysis of the material mined from the
property. The Company hired new mining personnel in 2014 to facilitate the sorting and processing of our minerals,
leading to increased personnel costs, including health benefits and workers compensation. The new mill plant
constructed also increased utilities, maintenance, insurance and property taxes. These increases were offset by reduced
laboratory testing expenses as the Company utilized the newly constructed laboratory and the absence of exploratory
drilling cost.

General and administrative expenses for 2014 totaled $5,195,830 compared to $8,569,413 of expense incurred during
the same period in 2013, a decrease of $3,373,583 or 39%. The reduction was driven primarily by a $3,841,665
decrease in noncash stock compensation expense due primarily to the absence of expense associated with the vesting
of certain management options, partially offset by expenses associated with the hiring of additional personnel in late
2013, including the head of our iron oxide business, increased shareholder expenses relating to additional meetings
held during 2014 to increase awareness of the company stock, increased travel-related expenditures, and increased
expenses related to the election of two additional directors.

Net Loss for 2014 was $10,316,317 compared to a loss of $13,063,526 incurred during 2013, a decrease of $2,747,209
or 21%. The reduction in the Net Loss was mainly due to reduced stock compensation expense, as described above,
and an increase in Other Income, mainly due to a reduction in the derivative liability during 2014.
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Results of Operations- 2013 compared to 2012

The following sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain components of our operating earnings, including such data
stated as percentage of revenues:

Twelve Months Ended December 31, Variance

2013 % of
Rev. 2012 % of

Rev. Amount %

REVENUES $54,825 100 % $165,742 100 % $(110,917 ) (67 %)

OPERATING (INCOME)
EXPENSES:
Production costs 17,244 31 % 103,238 62 % (85,994 ) (83 %)
Exploration costs 4,551,666 8302 % 3,542,977 2138 % 1,008,689 28 %
General and administrative 8,569,413 15630 % 6,541,043 3947 % 2,028,370 31 %
Depreciation expense 317,570 579 % 280,991 170 % 36,579 13 %
Loss on impairment and disposition of
land and equipment 2,482 5 % 9,913 6 % (7,431 ) (75 %)

Total Operating Expenses 13,458,375 24548 % 10,478,162 6322 % 2,980,213 28 %

Operating Loss (13,403,550) (24448%) (10,312,420) (6222%) (3,091,130) 30 %

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):
Interest expense, net, including
amortization of deferred financing cost
and debt discount

(497,187 ) (907 %) (12,993 ) (8 %) (484,194 ) 3727%

Gain on revaluation of warrants
derivative 995,000 1815 % 630,000 380 % 365,000 58 %

Gain (Loss) on revaluation of stock
awards 44,000 80 % (27,000 ) (16 %) 71,000 (263 %)

(Loss) on revaluation of PIK Notes (195,000 ) (356 %) -- -- (195,000 ) n/a
Other (expense) (6,789 ) (12 %) (9,986 ) (6 %) 3,197 (32 %)
Total Other Income 340,024 620 % 580,021 350 % (239,997 ) (41 %)

Net Loss $(13,063,526) (23828%) $(9,732,399 ) (5872%) $(3,331,127) 34 %

Revenue for 2013 was $54,825, compared to $165,742 generated during the same period in 2012. The Company
originated and increased sales of its Dragonite ™ product to select customers for use as a reinforcing additive for certain
plastic applications in the past year. We are in various stages of product development, ongoing trials and building our
stockpile levels. In 2012, we were approved as vendors for approximately 23 potential customers, which we believe
can materialize into future business.
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Total operating expenses for 2013 were $13,458,375 compared to $10,478,162 of expenses incurred during 2012, an
increase of $2,980,213 or 28%. The increase was due primarily to a $867,960, or 32%, increase in exploration costs,
and a $2,284,184, or 54%, increase in general and administrative expense.

Exploration costs incurred during 2013 were $4,551,666 compared to $3,542,977 of costs incurred during the same
period in 2012, an increase of $1,008,689 or 28%. The majority of our exploration costs during the respective periods
were related to the continued exploration activities at our Dragon Mine property and the mineralogical analysis of the
material mined from the property. The increase in exploration costs was related, primarily, to management’s decision
to further expand its drilling and testing program, both for clay and iron ore, to additional areas of the Dragon Mine
property, the testing of which has indicated the presence of clay mineral and an iron ore deposit. The additional
mining activity was also performed to prepare for potential client visits and to break ground on a more innovative and
efficient mining facility with more cutting-edge technology. The Company has invested in its minesite as it continues
its commercialization and research efforts. See Property, Plant and Equipment schedule in the Liquidity and Capital
Resources section below for further details. The primary drivers of the increase in exploration costs included a
$332,712, or 46%, increase in employee wages primarily due to an increase in the number of miners from 15 to 20
and additional overtime required for the additional mining activity described above; the incurrence of $153,227 of
employee health insurance expense not incurred during the same period in 2011 as the health insurance plan was not
previously offered; a $146,097, or 41% increase in geologist consulting and sample testing activity; a $99,052, or
97%, increase in materials and supplies due to the increase in drilling and development activity at the mine; and a
$159,660, or 270%, increase in equipment rentals utilized for the new facility.

General and administrative expenses incurred during 2013 totaled $8,569,413 compared to $6,541,043 of expense
incurred during the same period in 2012, an increase of $2,028,370 or 31%. The increase was driven primarily by
performance bonus payments to key management totaling $1,150,000; a $111,705, or 5% increase, in expense related
to the issuance of options to certain employees; a $267,395, or 89%, increase in wage expense due to the addition of a
Chief Technology Officer, General Counsel and Chief Financial Officer; a $112,853 increase in travel and related
expense due primarily to a change in the terms of the Management Agreement with Material Advisors, LLC- prior to
2012, under the Management Agreement, Material Advisors was required to pay all travel, entertainment, office and
marketing expenses and all other ordinary and necessary business expenses incurred by the Material Advisors and the
Management Personnel in connection with the performance of the Management Agreement (“Expenses”); the incurrence
of $132,533 of additional rent expense related to the lease of the corporate office; a $111,942 increase in legal, audit
and accounting service fees; and a $322,828 increase in consulting partially relating to financial and investment
banking services.

Other Income decreased by $239,997, or 41%. About $500,000 of this variance was due to additional interest expense
recorded in 2011 due to an increase in the average balance of our PIK Notes, which we converted into common stock
in October 2011. In addition, the Company also recorded an additional $405,000 gain on the revaluation of our
warrant derivative liability in 2012 when compared to 2011.
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Net loss for 2013 was $13,063,526 compared to a loss of $9,732,399 incurred during 2012, an increase of $3,331,127
or 34%.

71

Edgar Filing: WIDEPOINT CORP - Form DEF 14A

133



Table Of Contents

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES- December 31, 2014

The Company has incurred material recurring losses from operations while in the process of developing and
commercializing halloysite clay and iron oxide. At December 31, 2014, we had a total accumulated deficit of
$72,138,289. For the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, we sustained losses from continuing operations of
$10,316,317 and $13,063,526, respectively. From December 2008 through December 2014, our activities have been
financed primarily through the sale of convertible debt and equity securities. During the first quarter of 2013, the
Company raised $5,560,000 of cash proceeds through the sale of common stock, and in August 2013, the Company
raised $10,500,000 of financing through the private placement of 10% Mandatorily Convertible PIK Notes due 2023.
In November 2014, the Company raised $12,500,000 of financing through the private placement of 10% Mandatorily
Convertible PIK Notes due 2018, but containing various terms that may effectively reduce or increase the maturity.
We believe that we have sufficient resources to fund operations for the next 12 months and are continuing to evaluate
our strategic direction aimed at achieving profitability and positive cash flow.

Cash used in operating activities in 2014 was $8,003,851 compared to $8,205,101 of cash used during the same period
in 2013. The key difference is in the timing of certain payments made over both periods.

Cash used in investing activities during 2014 was $2,039,562 compared to a use of $2,046,358 during the same period
in 2013. The costs during both periods mainly relate to the construction of the new mill.

Cash provided by financing activities during 2014 was $12,059,527 compared to $15,580,908 of cash generated
during the same period in 2013. The following capital raises occurred over the last two years:

●January 2013- Sale of 3,756,757 shares of its common stock at $1.48 per share for gross proceeds of $5,560,000.

●
August 2013- the Company announced that it successfully raised an additional $10,500,000 of financing through the
private placement of 10% Mandatorily Convertible PIK Notes due 2023. The Series 2023 Notes have a strike price of
$1.40 per share and convert into 7,500,000 shares of the common stock of Applied Minerals, Inc.

●

November 2014- the Company raised $12,500,000 of financing through the private placement of $19,848,486 10%
Series A Convertible Notes due 2018 with a strike price of $0.92. The Series A Notes are mandatorily convertible by
the Company after the second anniversary of their issuance, if certain conditions are satisfied. Additionally, under
certain conditions, the Company has an option to extend the maturity date of the Notes.

No broker was used and no commission was paid for any of the foregoing transactions.
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Our total assets as of December 31, 2014 were $18,457,702 compared to $15,215,287 as of December 31, 2013, or an
increase of $3,242,415. As described above, the Company raised $12.5 million in financing in November 2014 and
plans to utilize this cash in operational investments into the corporate infrastructure. The Company also utilized part
of its proceeds from the August 2013 capital raise to fund its new mill plant. Total liabilities were $25,974,467 at
December 31, 2014 compared to $13,728,720 at December 31, 2013. The increase is mainly due to the establishment
of a new PIK Note liability and related derivative resulting from the issuance of PIK Notes in November 2014 (See
next section- Issuance of Convertible Debt).

ISSUANCE OF CONVERTIBLE DEBT

The Company raised $23 million of financing through the issuance of two series of Paid-In-Kind (“PIK”)-Election
Convertible Notes in 2013 and 2014, with key terms highlighted in the table below:

Key Terms Series 2023 Notes Series A Notes
Inception Date08/05/2013 11/03/2014
Cash Received$10,500,000 $12,500,000
Principal $10,500,000 $19,848,486
Original Issue
Discount
(OID)

N/A $7,348,486

Maturity
(Term)

10 years, but convertible after 1 year based on
the market price of the Company’s stock

4 years, but may range between 2 years to the full
maturity of the Series 2023 Notes, depending on
whether a Specified Event occurs and/or an Extension
Option is elected (see below for further details)

Exercise Price
$1.40 at inception, adjusted downward based
on antidilution provisions/downround
protection

$0.92 at inception, adjusted downward based on
antidilution provisions; also may be reduced by $0.10 if
Extension Option is elected (see below)

Stated Interest 10% per annum, due semiannually 10% per annum, due semiannually, may be reduced to
1% if Specified Event (see below) occurs

Derivative
Liability

$2,055,000 established at inception due to
existence of antidilution provisions; revalued
every quarter using Monte Carlo model

$9,212,285 established at inception due to existence of
antidilution provisions; revalued every quarter using
Monte Carlo model

Series A Notes 

On November 3, 2014 (“Issue Date”), the Company issued, in a private placement pursuant to investment agreements,
$19,848,486 principal amount of 10% PIK-Election Convertible Notes due 2018 ("Series A Notes") in exchange for
$12,500,000 in cash and the cancellation of previously-issued warrants held by one investor.
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Below are key terms of the Series A Notes:

o

Maturity- November 3, 2018, provided that the Stated Maturity Date may be extended to November 3, 2019 at the
option of the Company (the “Extension Option”) if (i) the Company has delivered written notice of its exercise of the
Extension Option to the Holder not more than ninety (90) nor less than thirty (30) days prior to November 3, 2018
and (ii) the Company has delivered a certificate, dated as of November 3, 2018, certifying that no Default or Event
of Default has occurred and is continuing; provided, further that the Stated Maturity Date shall be extended to the
maturity date of the Series 2023 Notes or any Replacement Financing, as applicable, upon the occurrence of a
Specified Event (“Specified Extension”).

oExercise Price- initially $0.92 per share and will be (i) adjusted from time to time pursuant antidilution provisionsand (ii) reduced by $0.10 per share if the Company elects to exercise its Extension Option.

oStated Interest: 10% payable semiannually in arrears, provided that the interest rate shall be reduced to 1% perannum on the principal amount of the Note upon the occurrence of the Specified Event, as defined below.

o

Specified Event- means the event that may occur after the second anniversary of the Issuer Date if: (i) any amounts
under the Series 2023 Notes or any Replacement Financing are outstanding, (ii) the VWAP for the preceding 30
consecutive Trading Days as determined by the Board of Directors of the Issuer in good faith is in excess of the
Exercise Price, (iii) the closing Market Price of the Common Stock is in excess of the Exercise Price on the date
immediately preceding the date on which the Specified Event occurs, (iv) no Default or Event of Default has
occurred and is continuing and (v) the Issuer has delivered a certificate to each holder of Series A Notes certifying
that the conditions set forth in clauses (i) through (iv) above have been met.

o
Extension Option- If stock price is lower than current exercise price ($0.92) prior to the stated maturity
(November 3, 2018), then the Company can elect an Extension Option, whereby the maturity is extended by
one year (see Maturity definition), but with a reduction in exercise price by $0.10.

o

Liquidated Damages- The company is required to pay the noteholders 1% of the principal amount of the Series A
Notes if a Registration statement is not filed and effective within 90 days of the inception date (and further damages
for every 30 days thereafter). The Company has accrued $200,000 as Other Expense as of December 31, 2014 due
to a delay in such filing.

o

The number of shares issuable under the Notes may be affected by the antidilution provisions of the Notes. The
antidilition provisions adjust the Exercise Price of the Notes in the event of stock dividends and splits, issuance
below the market price of the Common Stock, issuances below the conversion price of the Notes, pro rata
distribution of assets, rights plans, tender offers, and exchange offers.
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Series 2023 Notes 

In August 2013, the Company received $10,500,000 of financing through the private placement of 10% mandatory
convertible Notes due 2023 ("Series 2023 Notes"). The principal amount of the Notes is due on maturity.  The
Company can elect to pay semi-annual interest on the Series 2023 Notes with additional PIK Notes containing the
same terms as the Series 2023 Notes, except interest will accrue from issuance of such notes. The Company can also
elect to pay interest in cash. In February 2014 and August 2014, the Company issued $525,000 and $551,250,
respectively, in additional PIK Notes to the holders to pay the semi-annual interest.

The Series 2023 Notes convert into the Company’s common stock at a conversion price of $1.40 per share, which is
subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments; these antidilution adjustments reduced the conversion price to $1.36
after the issuance of the Series A Notes. As of issuance, the Series 2023 Notes were convertible into 7,500,000 shares
of the common stock. The holders may convert the Series 2023 Notes at any time.  The Series 2023 Notes are
mandatorily convertible after one year when the weighted average trading price of a share of the common stock for the
preceding ten trading days is in excess of the conversion price.  The Series 2023 Notes contain customary
representations and warranties and several covenants. The proceeds are being used for general corporate purposes. No
broker was used and no commission was paid in connection with the sale of the Series 2023 Notes.  

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

There are no off-balance sheet arrangements between the Company and any other entity that have, or are reasonably
likely to have, a current or future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or
expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures, or capital resources that is material to investors.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2014 that require us to make future
cash payments. For contractual obligations, we included payments that we have an unconditional obligation to make:

Payment due by period

Total < 1 year 1 – 3 years 3 – 5years
> 5
years

Contractual Obligations:
Rent obligations $309,871 $152,296 $157,575 -- --

Total $309,871 $152,296 $157,575 -- --
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Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $174,091, $164,961 and $138,100,
respectively. Facility lease obligation is under a 2-year extension period and does not contain escalation clauses.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders

Applied Minerals, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Applied Minerals, Inc. (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity
(deficit), and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2014. The financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of Applied Minerals, Inc. as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the consolidated results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2014 in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), Applied Minerals, Inc.‘s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on criteria
established in the 2013 Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”), and our report dated March 27, 2015 expressed an unqualified opinion
thereon.
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/s/ EisnerAmper LLP

New York, New York

March 27, 2015
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APPLIED MINERALS, INC.

(An Exploration Stage Mining Company)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December
31,

December
31,

2014 2013

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $10,701,666 $8,685,552
Accounts receivable 112,831 5,756
Deposits and prepaid expenses 289,644 282,639
Total Current Assets 11,104,141 8,973,947

Property and Equipment, net 7,055,874 6,031,549

Other Assets
Deferred Financing Costs 28,750 --
Deposits 268,937 209,791
Total Other Assets 297,687 209,791

TOTAL ASSETS $18,457,702 $15,215,287

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $2,608,364 $1,580,146
Stock award payable -- 110,000
Current portion of notes payable 246,894 311,165
Total Current Liabilities 2,855,258 2,001,311

Long-Term Liabilities
Long-term portion of notes payable 59,145 40,826
Warrant derivative -- 950,000
PIK notes payable, net of $18,400,297 and $2,020,750 debt discount, respectively 13,024,439 8,486,583
PIK Note derivatives 10,035,625 2,250,000
Total Long-Term Liabilities 23,119,209 11,727,409

Total Liabilities 25,974,467 13,728,720

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 15)

Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity
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Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, none issued and
outstanding
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 200,000,000 shares authorized, 95,054,552 and
94,646,013 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively 95,055 94,646

Additional paid-in capital 64,526,469 63,213,893
Accumulated deficit prior to the exploration stage (20,009,496) (20,009,496)
Accumulated deficit during the exploration stage (52,128,793) (41,812,476)
Total Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity (7,516,765 ) 1,486,567

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY $18,457,702 $15,215,287

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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APPLIED MINERALS, INC.

(An Exploration Stage Mining Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the year ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012

REVENUES $234,221 $54,825 $165,742

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Production costs 49,464 17,244 103,238
Exploration costs 4,626,139 4,551,666 3,542,977
General and administrative 5,195,830 8,569,413 6,541,043
Depreciation expense 1,164,366 317,570 280,991
Loss from disposition and impairment of land and equipment -- 2,482 9,913
Total Operating Expenses 11,035,799 13,458,375 10,478,162

Operating Loss (10,801,578) (13,403,550) (10,312,420)

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):
Interest expense, net, including amortization of deferred financing cost
and debt discount (1,667,285 ) (497,187 ) (12,993 )

Gain on revaluation of warrant derivative 830,000 995,000 630,000
Gain (Loss) on revaluation of stock awards 110,000 44,000 (27,000 )
Gain (Loss) on revaluation of PIK Note derivatives 1,470,798 (195,000 ) --
Other expense (258,252 ) (6,789 ) (9,986 )
Total Other Income (Expense), net 485,261 340,024 580,021

Net loss (10,316,317) (13,063,526) (9,732,399 )

Net Loss Per Share (Basic and Diluted) $(0.11 ) $(0.14 ) $(0.11 )

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding (Basic and Diluted) 94,895,194 94,303,264 89,552,788

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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APPLIED MINERALS, INC.

(An Exploration Stage Mining Company)

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

For each of the years ended December 31, 2012 through 2014

Accumulated Accumulated Total
Common Stock Deficit Deficit Stock-

Additional Prior to During holders’
Paid-In Exploration Exploration Equity

Shares Amount Capital Stage Stage (Deficit)

Balance, December 31, 2011 89,119,405 89,120 47,765,350 (20,009,496) (19,016,551) 8,828,423
Reclassification from warrant
derivative liability due to
change in valuation
methodology

-- -- 780,000 -- -- 780,000

Shares issued for directors fees
and other services 103,580 103 150,956 -- -- 151,059

Shares issued for cashless
option and warrant exercise 146,459 146 (146 ) -- -- --

Shares issued for cash 1,250,000 1,250 1,623,750 -- -- 1,625,000

Stock-based compensation
expense -- -- 2,314,154 -- -- 2,314,154

Net Loss -- -- -- -- (9,732,399 ) (9,732,399 )

Balance, December 31, 2012 90,619,444 90,619 52,634,064 (20,009,496) (28,748,950) 3,966,237

Shares issued for directors fees
and other services 269,812 270 316,205 -- -- 316,475

Shares issued for cash 3,756,757 3,757 5,556,243 -- -- 5,560,000

Stock-based compensation
expense -- -- 4,707,381 -- -- 4,707,381

Net Loss -- -- -- -- (13,063,526) (13,063,526)
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Balance, December 31, 2013 94,646,013 94,646 63,213,893 (20,009,496) (41,812,476) 1,486,567

Shares issued for directors fees
and other services 408,539 409 326,860 -- -- 327,269

Warrant Cancellation -- -- 120,000 -- -- 120,000

Stock-based compensation
expense -- -- 865,716 -- -- 865,716

Net Loss -- -- -- -- (10,316,317) (10,316,317)

Balance, December 31, 2014 95,054,552 $95,055 $64,526,469 $(20,009,496) $(52,128,793) $(7,516,765 )

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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APPLIED MINERALS, INC.

(An Exploration Stage Mining Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $(10,316,317) $(13,063,526) $(9,732,399 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities
Depreciation 1,164,366 317,570 280,991
Amortization of discount – PIK Notes 218,031 41,583 --
Amortization of deferred financing costs 1,250 -- --
Accrued interest on PIK Notes 1,076,250 -- --
Stock issued for director and consulting services 327,269 316,475 151,059
Stock-based compensation expense 865,716 4,707,381 2,314,154
(Gain) on revaluation of warrant derivative (830,000 ) (995,000 ) (630,000 )
(Gain) Loss on revaluation of PIK note derivative (1,470,798 ) 195,000 --
(Gain) Loss on revaluation of stock awards for non-employees (110,000 ) (44,000 ) 27,000
Loss of disposal of equipment -- 2,482 9,913
Provision for (Reversal of) doubtful accounts -- (25,106 ) 13,168
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (107,075 ) 27,128 (482 )
Deposits and prepaid expenses 149,239 189,656 55,148
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 1,028,218 125,256 759,185
Net cash used in operating activities (8,003,851 ) (8,205,101 ) (6,752,263 )

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (2,039,562 ) (64,345 ) (321,440 )
Construction-in-progress -- (1,982,013 ) (1,051,537 )
Net cash used in investing activities (2,039,562 ) (2,046,358 ) (1,372,977 )

Cash flows from financing activities:
Payments on notes payable (440,471 ) (479,092 ) (304,099 )
Payments on leases payable -- -- (10,094 )
Proceeds from PIK notes payable 12,499,998 10,500,000 --
Proceeds from sale of common stock -- 5,560,000 1,625,000
Net cash provided by financing activities 12,059,527 15,580,908 1,310,807

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2,016,114 5,329,449 (6,814,433 )
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 8,685,552 3,356,103 10,170,536
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $10,701,666 $8,685,552 $3,356,103
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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APPLIED MINERALS, INC.

(An Exploration Stage Mining Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest $10,460 $23,180 $18,206
Income Taxes $1,431 $3,841 $--

Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and financing activities:
Property and equipment financed with note payable $149,129 $-- $438,250

Construction-in-progress in accounts payable $120,000 $299,563 $105,000

Prepaid insurance financed with note payable $245,390 $233,187 $170,600

Reclassification of Construction in Progress to building and equipment $3,091,163

Land reclassified from assets held for sale to land and mining property $-- $-- $445,180

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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APPLIED MINERALS, INC.

(An Exploration Stage Mining Company)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Applied Minerals, Inc. (the “Company”) is the owner of the Dragon Mine located in the Tintic Mining District of the
State of Utah from where it produces halloysite clay and iron oxide.  The Company is currently in various phases of
commercial scale trials with several organizations in various markets with respects to uses of halloysite clay and iron
oxide.

Applied Minerals, Inc. is a publicly traded company incorporated in the state of Delaware. The common stock trades
on the OTC Bulletin Board under the symbol AMNL.

NOTE 2 – LIQUIDITY

The Company has incurred recurring losses from operations and used cash in operating activities while in the process
of developing and commercializing halloysite clay and iron oxide.  The Company's activities have been financed
primarily through the sale of convertible debt and equity securities.  In November 2014, the Company raised
$12,500,000 of financing through the private placement of 10% Mandatorily Convertible PIK Notes due 2018, but
containing various terms that may effectively reduce or increase the maturity.  At December 31, 2014, the Company
has working capital of approximately $8,200,000, which management believes should fund its operations through
December 31, 2015.  Besides continuing its strategic business plan on generating revenue, the Company intends to
explore various strategic alternatives, including the sale of equity, debt or the disposal of certain non-core assets to
raise additional capital. Management can also take steps to reduce the Company's future operating expenses as
needed. 

NOTE 3 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Exploration-Stage Company 
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From 1997 through 2008, the Company’s sole source of revenue and income was derived from its contract mining
business through which it provided shaft sinking, underground mine development and mine labor services. At
December 31, 2008, the Company discontinued its contract mining efforts due to economic conditions and the desire
to concentrate its efforts on the commercialization of the halloysite clay deposit at the Dragon Mine.

Effective January 1, 2009, the Company was, and still is, classified as an exploration company as the existence of
proven or probable reserves have not been demonstrated and no significant revenue has been earned from the mine.
Under the SEC’s Industry Guide 7, a mining company is considered an exploration stage company until it has declared
mineral reserves determined in accordance with the guide and staff interpretations thereof.

Principles of Consolidation 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Applied Minerals, Inc. and its inactive
subsidiary, which holds 100 acres of timber and mineral property in northern Idaho.

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. In these consolidated financial statements, the warrant
and PIK note derivative liabilities, stock compensation, impairment of long-lived assets and valuation allowance on
income taxes involve extensive reliance on management’s estimates. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include all highly-liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less. The Company
minimizes its credit risk by investing its cash and cash equivalents, which sometimes exceeds FDIC limits, with major
financial institutions located in the United States with a high credit rating.

Receivables 

Trade receivables are reported at outstanding principal amounts, net of an allowance for doubtful accounts.

Management evaluates the collectability of receivable account balances to determine the allowance, if any.
Management considers the other party’s credit risk and financial condition, as well as current and projected economic
and market conditions, in determining the amount of the allowance. Receivable balances are written off when
management determines that the balance is uncollectable.  No allowance was required at December 31, 2014 and
2013.
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Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment are carried at cost net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and
amortization is computed on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, or the life of the
lease, whichever is shorter, as follows:

Estimated
Useful Life *

Building and Building Improvements 5 – 40 years
Mining equipment 2 – 7 years
Office and shop furniture and equipment 3 – 7 years
Vehicles 5 years

* See Note
4 for
explanation
of a change
in useful
life in 2014.

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and, 2012 totaled $1,164,366, $317,570, and
$280,991, respectively.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets 

The Company periodically reviews the carrying amounts of long-lived assets to determine whether current events or
circumstances warrant adjustment to such carrying amounts. Long-lived assets are tested for recoverability whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying amount may not be recoverable. When such events occur,
the Company compares the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual
disposition of the asset to its carrying amount. If this comparison indicates that there is an impairment, the amount of
the impairment is typically calculated using discounted expected future cash flows where observable fair values are
not readily determinable. Considerable management judgment is necessary to estimate the fair value of assets. Assets
to be disposed of are carried at the lower of their financial statement carrying amount or fair value, less cost to sell.

81

Edgar Filing: WIDEPOINT CORP - Form DEF 14A

152



Table Of Contents

Revenue Recognition 

Revenue includes sales of halloysite clay and iron oxide, and is recognized when title passes to the buyer and when
collectability is reasonably assured. Title passes to the buyer based on terms of the sales contract. Product pricing is
determined based on contractual arrangements with the Company’s customers.

Mining Exploration and Development Costs 

Land and mining property are carried at cost. The Company expenses prospecting and mining exploration costs. At
the point when a property is determined to have proven and probable reserves, subsequent development costs will be
capitalized and will be charged to operations using the units-of-production method over proven and probable reserves.
Upon abandonment or sale of a mineral property, all capitalized costs relating to the specific property are written off
in the period abandoned or sold and a gain or loss is recognized.

Income taxes 

The Company uses an asset and liability approach which results in the recognition of deferred tax liabilities and assets
for the expected future tax consequences or benefits of temporary differences between the financial reporting basis
and the tax basis of assets and liabilities, as well as operating loss and tax credit carry forwards, using enacted tax
rates in effect in the years in which the differences are expected to reverse.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some
portion or all of its deferred tax assets will not be realized. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred
tax liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. A valuation
allowance has been provided for the portion of the Company’s net deferred tax assets for which it is more likely than
not that they will not be realized.

The Company is subject to U.S. federal income tax as well as income tax of various state jurisdictions. Federal income
tax returns subsequent to 2010 are subject to examination by major tax jurisdictions.

Authoritative guidance provides that the tax effects from an uncertain tax position taken or expected to be taken in a
tax return can be recognized in our financial statements only if the position is more likely than not of being sustained
on audit based on the technical merits of the position.  As of December 31, 2014 no benefit from uncertain tax
positions was recognized in our financial statements.  The Company has elected to classify interest and/or penalties
related to income tax matters in income tax expense.
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Stock Options and Warrants 

The Company follows ASC 718 (Stock Compensation) and 505-50 (Equity-Based Payments to Non-employees),
which provide guidance in accounting for share-based awards exchanged for services rendered and requires
companies to expense the estimated fair value of these awards over the requisite service period. The Company
instituted a formal long-term and short-term incentive plan on November 20, 2012, which was approved by its
shareholders. Prior to that date, we did not have a formal equity plan, but all equity grants, including stock options and
warrants, were approved by our Board of Directors. We determine the fair value of the stock-based compensation
awards granted to non-employees as either the fair value of the consideration received or the fair value of the equity
instruments issued, whichever is more reliably measurable. If the fair value of the equity instruments issued is used, it
is measured using the stock price and other measurement assumptions as of the earlier of either of (1) the date at
which a commitment for performance by the counterparty to earn the equity instruments is reached, or (2) the date at
which the counterparty’s performance is complete. Beginning in the quarter ended June 30, 2013 the Company began
using the simplified method to determine the expected term for any options granted because the Company did not
have sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate expected term. The
Company previously utilized the contractual term as the expected term.

Environmental Matters 

Expenditures for ongoing compliance with environmental regulations that relate to current operations are expensed or
capitalized as appropriate. Expenditures resulting from the remediation of existing conditions caused by past
operations that do not contribute to future revenue generations are expensed. Liabilities are recognized when
environmental assessments indicate that remediation efforts are probable and the costs can be reasonably estimated.

Estimates of such liabilities are based upon currently available facts, existing technology and presently enacted laws
and regulations taking into consideration the likely effects of inflation and other societal and economic factors, and
include estimates of associated legal costs. These amounts also reflect prior experience in remediating contaminated
sites, other companies’ clean-up experience and data released by The Environmental Protection Agency or other
organizations. Such estimates are by their nature imprecise and can be expected to be revised over time because of
changes in government regulations, operations, technology and inflation. Recoveries are evaluated separately from the
liability and, when recovery is assured, the Company records and reports an asset separately from the associated
liability.

Based upon management’s current assessment of its environmental responsibilities, it does not believe that any
reclamation or remediation liability exists at December 31, 2014. 
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

On June 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-12, Accounting for Share-Based Payments When the Terms of an
Award Provide That a Performance Target Could Be Achieved after the Requisite Service Period, which clarifies that
entities should treat performance targets that can be met after the requisite service period of a share-based payment
award as performance conditions that affect vesting. Under the ASU, an entity would not record compensation
expense related to an award for which transfer to the employee is contingent on the entity's satisfaction of a
performance target until it becomes probable that the performance target will be met. The adoption of this ASU will
be required, either on a retrospective basis or prospective basis, beginning with our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ending March 31, 2016. The adoption of this ASU is not expected to have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

In June 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) ASU
2014-10 Development Stage Entities. The amendments in ASU 2014-10 remove the definition of a development stage
entity from Topic 915 Development Stage Entities, thereby removing the distinction between development stage
entities and other reporting entities from US GAAP. In addition, the amendments eliminate the requirements for
development stage entities to (1) present inception-to-date information in the statements of operations, cash flows, and
shareholder’s equity, (2) label the financial statements as those of a development stage entity, (3) disclose a description
of the development stage activities in which the entity is engaged, and (4) disclose in the first year in which the entity
is no longer a development stage entity that in prior years it had been in the development stage. The amendments also
clarify that the guidance in Topic 275, Risks and Uncertainties, is applicable to entities that have not commenced
planned principal operations. ASU 2014-10 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15,
2014, and interim periods therein. The Company could early adopt ASU 2014-10 for any annual reporting period or
interim period for which the entity’s financial statements have not yet been issued. The Company has elected to adopt
this ASU effective with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014 and its adoption
resulted in the removal of inception-to-date information in the Company’s financial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The amendments in ASU
2014-09 affects any entity that either enters into contracts with customers to transfer goods or services or enters into
contracts for the transfer of nonfinancial assets unless those contracts are within the scope of other standards (e.g.,
insurance contracts or lease contracts). This ASU will supersede the revenue recognition requirements in Topic
605 Revenue Recognition, and most industry-specific guidance, and creates a Topic 606 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers.

The core principle of the guidance is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. To achieve that core principle, an entity should apply the following steps:
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Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer.

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract.

Step 3: Determine the transaction price.

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract.

Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

ASU 2014-09 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods
within that reporting period. Early application is not permitted. The Company is currently evaluating these new
requirements to determine the method of implementation and any resulting estimated effects on the
consolidatedfinancial statements.

In August 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2014-15, "Presentation of Financial
Statements - Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40): Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity's Ability to Continue as a
Going Concern" ("ASU 2014-15"). ASU 2014-15 is intended to define management's responsibility to evaluate
whether there is substantial doubt about an entity's ability to continue as a going concern and to provide related
footnote disclosures. Specifically, ASU 2014-15 provides a definition of the term substantial doubt and requires an
assessment for a period of one year after the date that the financial statements are issued. It also requires certain
disclosures when substantial doubt is alleviated as a result of consideration of management's plans and requires an
express statement and other disclosures when substantial doubt is not alleviated. The new standard will be effective
for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, with early adoption permitted. Management is currently
evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU 2014-14 on our financial statement disclosures.

NOTE 4 – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

The following is a summary of property, plant, and equipment – at cost, less accumulated depreciation:

2014 2013
Land (a) $945,180 $945,180
Land improvements 164,758 164,758
Buildings 3,308,465 631,299
Mining equipment 1,684,197 1,569,635
Milling equipment 2,620,300 333,594
Laboratory equipment 594,451 65,934
Office equipment 72,174 60,992
Vehicles 148,673 140,002

9,538,198 3,911,394
Less: Accumulated depreciation 2,482,324 1,317,958
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7,055,874 2,593,436
Construction in progress (b) - 3,438,113
Total $7,055,874 $6,031,549

(a)Includes the Atlas Mine near Mullan, Idaho with a carrying value of $445,180 (Note 3), and the Dragon Mine witha carrying value of $500,000.

(b)Represents investments in a new plant facility and related equipment at the mine site, which were transferred tothe respective accounts in 2014.
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The Company is using a five-year depreciation schedule with respect to its new processing plant that was
commissioned in 2014.  The five-year depreciation schedule is a change from the 40 years utilized for the building
and 7 years utilized for the equipment relating to the new processing plant in the quarterly financial statements for the
quarters ended March 31, June 30 and September 30, 2014.  This change in useful life resulted in $587,427 of
additional depreciation expense, which was recorded during the fourth quarter of 2014.  The impact of the change
in the depreciation schedule did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements for the three
quarters previously reported on Form 10-Q.

NOTE 5 – STOCK AWARD PAYABLE

The stock award payable amount of $110,000 at December 31, 2013 relates to 100,000 shares of the Company's
common stock issuable, but not issued, under a 2007 employment agreement. The Company recorded the stock grant
as a liability which was revalued based on the quoted price of the Company's stock at the end of each period. During
the second quarter of 2014, the Company received a release in writing from the former employee absolving the
Company of the stock award and accordingly the $72,000 balance of the liability was reversed into Other Income.
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NOTE 6 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement and Disclosures, defines fair value as the exchange price that would be
received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the
asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. This topic also
establishes a fair value hierarchy, which requires classification based on observable and unobservable inputs when
measuring fair value. The fair value hierarchy distinguishes between assumptions based on market data (observable
inputs) and an entity’s own assumptions (unobservable inputs). The hierarchy consists of three levels:

●Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities;

●Level 2 – Inputs other than level one inputs that are either directly or indirectly observable; and

●Level 3 – Unobservable inputs developed using estimates and assumptions, which are developed by the reporting entityand reflect those assumptions that a market participant would use.

Liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized as follows:

Fair value
measurement using
inputs

Carrying amount

Level
1

Level
2 Level 3 December

31, 2014
December
31, 2013

Financial instruments:
Warrant derivative * -- -- $950,000
Series 2023 PIK Note Derivative $478,149 $478,149 $2,250,000
Series A PIK Note Derivative $9,557,476 $9,557,476 --
* The warrant was cancelled in November 2014. See Note 10.

The following table summarizes the activity for financial instruments at fair value using Level 3 inputs:

Balance at December 31, 2013 $-
Transfer into Level 3 (a) 2,250,000

Edgar Filing: WIDEPOINT CORP - Form DEF 14A

159



Issuance of Series A PIK Note 9,212,285
Issuance of additional Series 2023 PIK Note 44,138
Net unrealized losses included in earnings (loss) (1,470,798 )

Balance at December 31, 2014 $10,035,625

(a)
In the course of preparing its financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company
reclassified the Series 2023 PIK note derivative to Level 3 fair value hierarchy to match with the Series A PIK note
derivative since it based off of a similar model.

The recorded value of certain financial assets and liabilities, which consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents,
receivables, other current assets, and accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate the fair value at December
31, 2014 and 2013 based upon the short-term nature of the assets and liabilities. Based on borrowing rates currently
available to the Company for loans with similar terms, and the remaining short term period outstanding, the carrying
value of notes payable other than PIK notes materially approximate fair value. Estimated fair value of the PIK Notes
Payable approximate $27,488,811 and $10,500,000, respectively, at December 31, 2014 and 2013 (Level 2).
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For the Company's warrant and PIK note derivative liabilities, Level 3 fair value hierarchy was estimated using a
Monte Carlo Model using the following assumptions:

Series 2023 PIK Note derivative liability Fair Value
Measurements
Using Inputs
December
31,
2014

December
31, 2013

Market price and estimated fair value of stock $0.73 $ 1.10
Exercise price $1.36 $ 1.40
Term (years) 8.58 9.58
Dividend yield $-- $ --
Expected volatility * 52.0% 76.9 %
Risk-free interest rate 2.08% 2.96 %

Series A PIK Note derivative liability Fair Value
Measurements
Using Inputs
December 31,
2014

Market price and estimated fair value of stock $ 0.73
Exercise price $ 0.92
Term (years) 3.83
Dividend yield $ --
Expected volatility 52.0 %
Risk-free interest rate 2.08 %

Warrant derivative liability Fair Value
Measurements
Using Inputs
December 31,
2013

Market price and estimated fair value of stock $ 1.10
Exercise price $ 1.93
Term (years) 3
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Dividend yield $ --
Expected volatility * 76.9 %
Risk-free interest rate 0.78 %

* During the first quarter of 2014, the Company revised its assumption for expected volatility by switching from a
peer-group average volatility to the Company’s three-year historical volatility in measuring the value of the derivative
liabilities mentioned above. Prior to 2011, the occurrence of certain corporate events would not have made the
historical volatility calculations meaningful or accurate if included. This reduction in volatility led to a reduced
valuation for both the Warrant and Series 2023 PIK Note derivative liabilities of approximately $118,500 and
$126,000, respectively. The remaining decrease in the valuation is attributable to the decline in stock price.
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NOTE 7 - NOTES PAYABLE

Notes payable at December 31, 2014 and 2013 consist of the following:

December 31,
2014 2013

Note payable for mining equipment, payable $5,556 monthly, including interest (a) $-- $42,927
Note payable for mining equipment, payable $950 monthly, including interest (b) 14,057 23,302
Note payable for mining equipment, payable $6,060 monthly, including interest (c) 6,033 76,313
Note payable for lab equipment, payable $9,122 monthly, including interest (d) 18,246 --
Note payable for mining equipment, payable $1,339 monthly, including interest (e) 55,720 --
Note payable for mine site vehicle, payable $628 monthly (f) 20,736 28,276
Note payable for mining equipment, payable $5,000 monthly, including interest (g) -- 9,932
Note payable for mining equipment, payable $2,250 monthly, including interest (h) -- 8,898
Note payable to an insurance company, payable $21,531monthly, including interest (i) 149,036 --
Note payable to an insurance company, payable $6,094 monthly, including interest (j) 42,211 --
Note payable to an insurance company, payable $4,447 monthly, including interest (k) -- 132,576
Note payable to an insurance company, payable $4,447 monthly, including interest (l) -- 29,767

306,039 351,991
Less: Current Portion (246,894) (311,165)
Notes Payable, Long-Term Portion $59,145 $40,826

(a)
On July 7, 2011, the Company purchased mining equipment for $198,838 by issuing a note with an implicit
interest rate of 9.34%. The note is collateralized by the mining equipment with payments of $5,556 for 36 months,
which started on August 15, 2011.

(b)
On April 17, 2012, the Company purchased mining equipment for $40,565 by issuing a note with an effective
interest rate of 11.279%. The note is collateralized by the mining equipment with payments of $950 for 48
months, which started on May 1, 2012.

(c)
On July 23, 2012, the Company purchased mining equipment for $169,500 by issuing a note with an interest rate
of 5.5%. The note is collateralized by the mining equipment with payments of $6,060 for 30 months, which started
on August 25, 2012.

(d)
On April 16, 2014, the Company purchased lab equipment for $109,493 by depositing and issuing a non-interest
bearing note in the amount of $91,229. The note is collateralized by the lab equipment with payments of $9,122
for ten months, which started in May 2014.

(e)
On October 31, 2014, the Company purchased mining equipment for $65,120 by depositing and issuing a note in
the amount of $57,900 with an interest rate of 5.2%. The note is collateralized by the mining equipment with
payments of $1,339 for 48 months, which started on November 30, 2014.

(f)
On September 20, 2012, the Company purchased a vehicle for the mine site for $37,701 by issuing a non-interest
bearing note. The note is collateralized by the vehicle with payments of $628 for 60 months, which started on
October 20, 2012.
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(g)
On November 16, 2012, the Company purchased a piece of mining equipment that had been leased for $67,960 by
issuing a note with an effective interest rate of 5.5%. The note is collateralized by the mining equipment with
payments of $3,518 for three months, then $5,000 for twelve months.

(h)
On November 16, 2012, the Company purchased a piece of mining equipment that had been leased for $33,748 by
issuing a note with an effective interest rate of 5.5%. The note is collateralized by the mining equipment with
payments of $1,632 for five months, then $2,250 for twelve months

(i)The Company signed a note payable with an insurance company dated October 31, 2014 for directors’ and officers’insurance, due in monthly installments, including interest at 3.15%. The note will mature on July 2015.

(j)The Company signed a note payable with an insurance company dated October 31, 2014 for liability insurance,due in monthly installments, including interest at 3.15%. The note will mature on July 2015.

(k)
The Company signed a note payable with an insurance company dated October 17, 2012 for directors' and
officers' insurance, due in monthly installments, including interest at 3.15%. The note matured in September 2013
and was repaid.

(l)The Company signed a note payable with an insurance company dated October 17, 2012 for liability insurance,due in monthly installments, including interest at 4.732%. The note matured in July 2013 and was repaid.

The following is a schedule of the principal maturities on these notes for the next four years:

2015 $246,894
2016 25,457
2017 20,615
2018 13,073
Total Notes Payable $306,039

During the 2014 and 2013, the Company's interest payments totaled $10,460 and $23,180, respectively.
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NOTE 8 – CONVERTIBLE DEBT (PIK NOTES)

The Company raised $23 million of financing through the issuance of two series of Paid-In-Kind (“PIK”)-Election
Convertible Notes in 2013 and 2014, with key terms highlighted in the table below:

Key Terms Series 2023 Notes Series A Notes
Inception Date08/05/2013 11/03/2014
Cash Received$10,500,000 $12,500,000
Principal
(Initial
Liability)

$10,500,000 $19,848,486

Original Issue
Discount
(OID)

N/A $7,348,486

Maturity
(Term)

10 years, but convertible after 1 year based on
the market price of the Company’s stock

4 years, but may range between 2 years to the full
maturity of the Series 2023 Notes, depending on
whether a Specified Event occurs and/or an Extension
Option is elected (see below for further details)

Exercise Price
$1.40 at inception, adjusted downward based
on antidilution provisions/downround
protection

$0.92 at inception, adjusted downward based on
antidilution provisions; also may be reduced by $0.10 if
Extension Option is elected (see below)

Stated Interest 10% per annum, due semiannually 10% per annum, due semiannually, may be reduced to
1% if Specified Event (see below) occurs

Derivative
Liability

$2,055,000 established at inception due to
existence of antidilution provisions; revalued
every quarter using Monte Carlo model

$9,212,285 established at inception due to existence of
antidilution provisions; revalued every quarter using
Monte Carlo model

As of 12/31/2014, the liability components of the PIK Notes on the Company’s balance sheet are listed in the
following table:

(in $$) Series 2023
Notes

Series A
Notes Total

PIK Note Payable, Gross 11,576,250 19,848,486 31,424,736
Less: Discount (1,949,555 ) (16,450,742) (18,400,297)
PIK Note Payable, Net 9,626,695 3,397,744 13,024,439

PIK Note Derivative Liability 478,149 9,557,476 10,035,625

As of 12/31/2013, the liability components of the PIK Notes on the Company’s balance sheet are listed in the
following table:
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(in $$) Series 2023
Notes

Series
A
Notes

Total

PIK Note Payable, Gross 10,507,333 -- 10,507,333
Less: Discount (2,020,750 ) -- (2,020,750 )
PIK Note Payable, Net 8,486,583 -- 8,486,583

PIK Note Derivative Liability 2,250,000 -- 2,250,000

Series A Notes

On November 3, 2014 (“Issue Date”), the Company issued, in a private placement pursuant to investment agreements,
$19,848,486 principal amount of 10% PIK-Election Convertible Notes due 2018 ("Series A Notes") in exchange for
$12,500,000 in cash and the cancellation of previously-issued warrants held by one investor.

Below are key terms of the Series A Notes:

o

Maturity- November 3, 2018, provided that the Stated Maturity Date may be extended to November 3, 2019 at the
option of the Company (the “Extension Option”) if (i) the Company has delivered written notice of its exercise of the
Extension Option to the Holder not more than ninety (90) nor less than thirty (30) days prior to November 3, 2018
and (ii) the Company has delivered a certificate, dated as of November 3, 2018, certifying that no Default or Event
of Default has occurred and is continuing; provided, further that the Stated Maturity Date shall be extended to the
maturity date of the Series 2023 Notes or any Replacement Financing, as applicable, upon the occurrence of a
Specified Event (“Specified Extension”).

oExercise Price- initially $0.92 per share and will be (i) adjusted from time to time pursuant antidilution provisionsand (ii) reduced by $0.10 per share if the Company elects to exercise its Extension Option.

oStated Interest: 10% payable semiannually in arrears, provided that the interest rate shall be reduced to 1% perannum on the principal amount of the Note upon the occurrence of the Specified Event, as defined below.

o

Specified Event- means the event that may occur after the second anniversary of the Issuer Date if: (i) any amounts
under the Series 2023 Notes or any Replacement Financing are outstanding, (ii) the VWAP for the preceding 30
consecutive Trading Days as determined by the Board of Directors of the Issuer in good faith is in excess of the
Exercise Price, (iii) the closing Market Price of the Common Stock is in excess of the Exercise Price on the date
immediately preceding the date on which the Specified Event occurs, (iv) no Default or Event of Default has
occurred and is continuing and (v) the Issuer has delivered a certificate to each holder of Series A Notes certifying
that the conditions set forth in clauses (i) through (iv) above have been met.
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o
Extension Option- If stock price is lower than current exercise price ($0.92) prior to the stated maturity
(November 3, 2018), then the Company can elect an Extension Option, whereby the maturity is extended by
one year (see Maturity definition), but with a reduction in exercise price by $0.10.

o

Liquidated Damages- The company is required to pay the noteholders 1% of the principal amount of the Series A
Notes if a Registration statement is not filed and effective within 90 days of the inception date (and further damages
for every 30 days thereafter). The Company has accrued $200,000 as Other Expense as of December 31, 2014 due
to a delay in such filing.

o

The number of shares issuable under the Notes may be affected by the antidilution provisions of the Notes. The
antidilition provisions adjust the Exercise Price of the Notes in the event of stock dividends and splits, issuance
below the market price of the Common Stock, issuances below the conversion price of the Notes, pro rata
distribution of assets, rights plans, tender offers, and exchange offers.

These Series A Notes were not issued with the intent of effectively hedging any future cash flow, fair value of any
asset, liability or any net investment in a foreign operation. In addition to the customary antidilution provisions the
notes contain a down-round provision whereby the conversion price would be adjusted downward in the event that
additional shares of the Company’s common stock or securities exercisable, convertible or exchangeable for the
Company’s common stock were issued for cash consideration (e.g. a capital raise) at a price less than the conversion
price. Therefore, the estimated fair value of the conversion feature of $9,212,285 (based on observable inputs using a
Monte Carlo model) was bifurcated from the Series A Notes and accounted for as a separate derivative liability, which
resulted in a corresponding amount of debt discount on the Series A Notes. In addition, an additional debt discount of
$7,348,486 was recorded as a result of the difference between the $12,500,000 of cash received and the $19,848,486
of principal on the Series A Notes. This combined debt discount of $16,560,771 is being amortized using the effective
interest method over the 4-year term of the Notes as Interest Expense, while the PIK Note Derivative is carried at fair
value (using a Monte Carlo model) until the Notes are converted or otherwise extinguished. Any changes in fair value
are recognized in earnings.

At December 31, 2014, the fair value of the Series A PIK Note Derivative was estimated to be $9,557,476, an increase
in valuation of $345,191 from the November 3, 2014 inception date. In addition, the Company amortized $110,031 of
debt discount relating to the Series A PIK Notes Payable, increasing the Series A PIK Notes Payable carrying value to
$3,397,744 as of December 31, 2014.

Series 2023 Notes

In August 2013, the Company received $10,500,000 of financing through the private placement of 10% mandatory
convertible Notes due 2023 ("Series 2023 Notes"). The principal amount of the Notes is due on maturity.  The
Company can elect to pay semi-annual interest on the Series 2023 Notes with additional PIK Notes containing the
same terms as the Series 2023 Notes, except interest will accrue from issuance of such notes. The Company can also
elect to pay interest in cash. In February 2014 and August 2014, the Company issued $525,000 and $551,250,
respectively, in additional PIK Notes to the holders to pay the semi-annual interest.

Edgar Filing: WIDEPOINT CORP - Form DEF 14A

167



The Series 2023 Notes convert into the Company’s common stock at a conversion price of $1.40 per share, which is
subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments; these antidilution adjustments reduced the conversion price to $1.36
after the issuance of the Series A Notes. As of issuance, principal amount of the Series 2023 Notes were convertible
into 7,500,000 shares of the common stock and into 7,720,588 shares after the issuance of the Series A Notes. The
holders may convert the Series 2023 Notes at any time.  The Series 2023 Notes are mandatorily convertible after one
year when the weighted average trading price of a share of the common stock for the preceding ten trading days is in
excess of the conversion price.  The Series 2023 Notes contain customary representations and warranties and several
covenants. The proceeds are being used for general corporate purposes. No broker was used and no commission was
paid in connection with the sale of the Series 2023 Notes. As of December 31, 2014, the Company was in compliance
with the covenants.

These Series 2023 Notes were not issued with the intent of effectively hedging any future cash flow, fair value of any
asset, liability or any net investment in a foreign operation. In addition to the customary anti-dilution provisions the
notes contain a down-round provision whereby the conversion price would be adjusted downward in the event that
additional shares of the Company’s common stock or securities exercisable, convertible or exchangeable for the
Company’s common stock were issued for cash consideration (e.g. a capital raise) at a price less than the conversion
price. Therefore, the estimated fair value of the conversion feature of $2,055,000 (based on observable inputs using a
Monte Carlo model) was bifurcated from the Series 2023 Notes and accounted for as a separate derivative liability,
which resulted in a corresponding amount of debt discount on the Series 2023 Notes. The debt discount is being
amortized using the effective interest method over the 10-year term of the Series 2023 Notes as Interest Expense,
while the PIK Note Derivative is carried at fair value (using a Monte Carlo model) until the Series 2023 Notes are
converted or otherwise extinguished. Any changes in fair value are recognized in earnings.

At December 31, 2014, the fair value of the PIK Note Derivative was estimated to be $478,149, which includes the
value of the additional PIK Notes issued in February and August 2014, for the semi-annual interest payments due.
Total gain from the revaluation of the original PIK Notes derivative was $1,815,989 for 2014. In addition, during
2014, the Company recorded $48, 075 of additional debt discount from the February 2014 and August 2014 issuances
above, and also amortized $119, 270 of debt discount relating to the Series 2023 PIK Notes Payable, resulting in a
total debt discount of $1,949,555 as of December 31, 2014, and increasing the Series 2023 PIK Notes Payable
carrying value to $9,626,695 as of December 31, 2014.

NOTE 9 – STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Preferred Stock
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2014

During 2014 the Company issued a total of 408,539 shares of common stock valued at $327,269 to directors and
consultants as payments of fees.

2013

During 2013 the Company issued a total of 269,812 shares of common stock valued at $316,475 to directors and
consultants as payments of fees. In addition, on January 23, 2013 the Company sold, in a privately negotiated
transaction, 3,756,757 shares of its common stock at $1.48 per share for gross proceeds of $5,560,000. No broker was
used and no commission was paid as part of this transaction.

2012

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company issued a total of 103,574 shares of common stock to
directors and consultants as payment of fees. The value of the restricted shares was recorded at $151,059. During the
year ended December 31, 2012, warrant holders received 106,774 shares of the Company’s common stock through
cashless exercises. During the year ended December 31, 2012 option holders received 39,685 shares of the Company’s
common stock through a cashless exercise. Also during the year ended December 31, 2012 the Company sold a total
of 1,250,000 shares of common stock priced at $1.30 per share, at the then current share price.

NOTE 10 – OPTIONS AND WARRANTS TO PURCHASE COMMON STOCK

Derivative Instruments - Warrants

The Company issued 5,000,000 warrants (“Samlyn warrants”) in connection with the December 22, 2011 private
placement of 10,000,000 shares of common stock. The strike price of these warrants was $2.00 per share at the date of
grant. These warrants were not issued with the intent of effectively hedging any future cash flow, fair value of any
asset, liability or any net investment in a foreign operation. In addition to the customary antidilution provisions the
notes contain a down-round provision whereby the exercise price would be adjusted downward in the event that
additional shares of the Company's common stock or securities exercisable, convertible or exchangeable for the
Company's common stock were issued at a price less than the exercise price. Therefore, the fair value of these
warrants (based on observable inputs using a Monte Carlo model) was recorded as a liability in the balance sheet until
they are exercised or expire or are otherwise extinguished. During the first quarter of 2013, the Company issued
3,756,757 shares of its common stock for gross proceeds of $5,560,000, which triggered a down-round adjustment of
$0.03 from $2.00 to $1.97 in the strike price of the Samlyn warrants at that time. As discussed in Note 8, during
August 2013, the Company issued $10,500,000 of 10% mandatorily convertible Series 2023 PIK Notes in a private
placement, which triggered a down-round adjustment of $0.04 from $1.97 to $1.93 in the strike price of the Samlyn
warrants. On November 3, 2014, the Company cancelled the warrant arrangement, resulting in the fair value of the
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warrant at such date of $120,000 being credit to equity.

During 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Company recorded other income of $830,000, $995,000 and $630,000, respectively,
resulting from the changes in the fair value of the warrant liability, mainly due to a lower stock price and a change in
the volatility utilized by the Company, as discussed in Note 6.

Outstanding Stock Warrants

Warrants Outstanding and
Exercisable

Exercise Price Number
Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life (years)

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

$ 0.75 139,340 0.75 $ 0.75
$ 0.78 213,402 1.09 $ 0.78
$ 0.80 124,481 1.00 $ 0.80
$ 1.00 180,000 0.81 $ 1.00
$ 1.15 461,340 6.33 $ 1.15
$ 2.00 54,367 1.59 $ 2.00

1,172,930 3.08 $ 1.01

No warrants were issued during 2013 and 2014. The intrinsic value of the outstanding warrants at December 31, 2014
was $0. Compensation expense of $210,067 has been recognized for the vesting of warrants in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2012.
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Outstanding Stock Options

On November 20, 2012, the shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of the Applied Minerals, Inc. 2012
Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) and the Short-Term Incentive Plan (“STIP”) and the performance criteria used in
setting performance goals for awards intended to be performance-based. Under the LTIP, 8,900,000 shares are
authorized for issuance. The STIP does not refer to a particular number of shares under the LTIP, but would use the
shares authorized in the LTIP for issuance under the STIP. The CEO, the CFO, and named executive officers, and
directors, among others are eligible to participate in the LTIP and STIP. Prior to the adoption of the LTIP and STIP,
stock options were granted under individual arrangements between the Company and the grantees, and approved by
the Board of Directors.

The fair value of each of the Company's stock option awards is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model that uses the assumptions noted in the table below. Expected volatility is based on an average of
historical volatility of the Company's common stock. The risk-free interest rate for periods within the contractual life
of the stock option award is based on the yield curve of a zero-coupon U.S. Treasury Bond on the date the award is
granted with a maturity equal to the expected term of the award.

The significant assumptions relating to the valuation of the Company's options issued for 2014 and 2013 were as
follows on a weighted average basis:

2014 2013
Dividend Yield 0 % 0 %
Expected Life (years) 5.5 4.4
Expected Volatility 56.1 % 63.5 %
Risk Free Interest Rate 1.79 % 1.48 %

A summary of the status and changes of the options granted under stock option plans and other agreements for 2014
and 2013 is as follows:

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013

Shares

Weighted

Average

Exercise
Price

Shares

Weighted

Average

Exercise
Price

Outstanding at beginning of period 15,878,116 $ 1.03 15,455,471 $ 1.04
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Issued 1,175,000 0.84 760,867 1.19
Exercised -- -- -- --
Forfeited -- -- (338,222 ) $ 1.73
Outstanding at end of period 17,053,116 $ 1.02 15,878,116 $ 1.03
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During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company granted 1,175,000 options to purchase the Company’s
common stock with a weighted average exercise price of $0.84. Of the 1,175,000 options granted, the options vest
immediately or monthly as follows:

Vesting Information
Shares Frequency Begin Date End Date
200,000 Quarterly 03/31/2014 12/31/2014
375,000 Immediately 06/10/2014 06/10/2014
600,000 Monthly 06/10/2014 06/09/2017

A summary of the status of the options outstanding at December 31, 2014 is presented below:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Number

Outstanding

Weighted

Average

Remaining

Contractual
Life
(years)

Weighted

Average

Exercise

Price

Number

Exercisable

Weighted

Average

Exercise

Price

7,358,277 3.94 $ 0.70 7,358,277 $ 0.70
3,405,134 6.69 $ 0.83 3,405,134 $ 0.83
975,000 9.45 $ 0.84 491,667 $ 0.84
60,000 1.50 $ 1.00 60,000 $ 1.00
300,000 8.64 $ 1.10 100,000 $ 1.10
300,000 8.48 $ 1.15 133,333 $ 1.15
100,000 3.09 $ 1.24 100,000 $ 1.24
115,000 6.24 $ 1.35 115,000 $ 1.35
125,000 3.09 $ 1.45 125,000 $ 1.45
330,000 6.95 $ 1.55 296,667 $ 1.55
7,645 3.09 $ 1.58 7,645 $ 1.58
3,077,060 7.89 $ 1.66 3,077,060 $ 1.66
900,000 6.64 $ 1.90 900,000 $ 1.90
17,053,116 5.87 $ 1.02 16,169,783 $ 1.02

The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted during 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $0.43, $0.64 and
$1.33, respectively.
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Compensation expense of $865,716, $4,707,381, and $2,314,154 has been recognized for the vested options for the
years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of the outstanding options
at December 31, 2014 was $220,748. At December 31, 2014, $474,645 of unamortized compensation expense for
unvested options is expected to be recognized over the next 1.85 years on a weighted average basis.

92

Edgar Filing: WIDEPOINT CORP - Form DEF 14A

174



Table Of Contents

NOTE 11 - PER SHARE DATA

The computation of basic earnings (loss) per share of common stock is based on the weighted average number of
shares outstanding during the years. The computation of diluted earnings per common share is based on the weighted
average number of shares outstanding during the year plus the common stock equivalents that would arise from the
exercise of stock options and warrants outstanding under the treasury method and the average market price per share
during the year as well as the conversion of notes. As of December 31, 2014, common stock equivalents aggregated
48,312,435 shares consisting of outstanding options and warrants to purchase 17,053,116 and 1,172,930 shares of
Company common stock, respectively and notes payable which were convertible into 30,086,389 shares of Company
common stock. Common stock equivalents at December 31, 2013 aggregated 29,583,046 shares of which 15,878,116
consisted of options and 6,204,930 were in warrants and notes payable which were convertible into 7,500,000 shares
of Company common stock. Common stock equivalents at December 31, 2012 aggregated 21,660,400 shares of which
15,455,470 consisted of options and 6,204,930 were in warrants. Common stock equivalents during 2012 through
2014 were not included in the computation of loss per share because they would have been anti-dilutive.

Net Loss Shares Per-Share
(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount

For the year ended December 31, 2014:
Basic and Diluted EPS
Net loss $(10,316,317) 94,895,194 $ (0.11 )

For the year ended December 31, 2013:
Basic and Diluted EPS
Net loss $(13,063,526) 94,303,264 $ (0.14 )

For the year ended December 31, 2012:
Basic and Diluted EPS
Net loss $(9,732,399 ) 89,552,788 $ (0.11 )

NOTE 12 – INCOME TAXES

At December 31, 2014, the Company had deferred tax assets principally arising from net operating loss carry-forwards
and stock based compensation for income tax purposes.  The Company calculates its deferred tax assets using the
federal tax rate of 35% and the following effective state rates, net of federal benefits: Idaho (0.1%), Utah (2.3%), and
New York State/New York City (0.45%).  Due to operating losses and the uncertainty of future profitability, a
valuation allowance has been recorded to fully offset the Company’s deferred tax assets.
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The tax effect of items that give rise to the deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

December
31, 2014

December
31, 2013

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforward $23,246,809 $18,454,164
Stock-based compensation 4,121,311 3,685,646
Stock Award Payable -- 40,792
Total deferred tax assets 27,368,120 22,180,602

Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment (673,241 ) (421,025 )

Less: valuation allowance (26,694,879) (21,759,577)
$-- $--

In assessing the realization of deferred tax assets, management determines whether it is more likely than not some, or
all, of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.  The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the
generation of future taxable income during the carryforward period as well as the period in which those temporary
differences become deductible.  Management considers the reversal of taxable temporary differences, projected
taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment.  Based upon historical losses and the possibility
of continued losses over the periods that the deferred tax assets are deductible, management believes it is more likely
than not that the Company will not realize the benefits of these deferred tax assets and thus recorded a valuation
allowance against the entire deferred tax asset balance.  The valuation allowance increased by $4,935,303, $5,034,877,
and $3,903,777 in the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively.
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At December 31, 2014, the Company had net operating loss carry-forwards of $62,196,737 for federal income tax
purposes and $39,533,764 for state and local income tax purposes.  The federal net operating loss carry-forwards are
available to be utilized against future taxable income through fiscal year 2034 and state loss carry-forwards expire
from 2024 through 2034, subject to substantial restrictions on the utilization of net operating losses in the event of an
“ownership change” as defined by the Internal Revenue Code.  Utilization of the Company’s federal and state net
operating loss carry-forwards are subject to limitations as a result of these restrictions. No amounts were provided for
unrecognized tax benefits attributable to uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2014 and 2013. All tax years prior
to 2011 are not subject to IRS and state tax authorities’ audit, except for examination of the net operating loss
carryforward, which dates back to 2003.

A reconciliation of the differences between the effective and statutory income tax rates is as follows:

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Federal statutory rate $(3,610,711) 35.0 % $(4,572,234) 35.0 % $(3,406,340) 35.0 %
State income taxes – Idaho (11,016 ) 0.1 % (14,264 ) 0.1 % (37,982 ) 0.4 %
State income taxes - Utah (239,093 ) 2.3 % (199,166 ) 1.5 % (227,169 ) 2.3 %
State and local income taxes - NY (46,372 ) 0.4 % (58,721 ) 0.5 % -- --
Change in valuation allowance 4,935,302 (47.8%) 5,034,877 (39.0%) 3,903,777 (40.1%)
Net nontaxable gain on derivative (843,861 ) 8.2 % (290,623 ) 2.2 % (232,286 ) 2.4 %
Miscellaneous (184,249 ) 1.8 % 100,131 (0.3% ) - --

$-- 0 % $-- 0 % $-- 0 %

NOTE 13 – RELATED PARTIES

David A. Taft, a director, is the president of IBS Capital LLC (“IBS”), a Massachusetts limited liability company, whose
principal business is investing in securities. IBS is the general partner of the IBS Turnaround Fund (QP), which is a
Massachusetts limited partnership, IBS Turnaround Fund (LP), which is a Massachusetts limited partnership and the
IBS Opportunity Fund, Ltd.  

Mr. Taft participated in the Series A PIK Note financing described in Note 8, with the following investments, which
were utilized by the Company to fund its operations:
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Investor Investment OID/Discount Principal

Shares
Issuable

@0.92,
excluding

interest

IBS Turnaround Fund (A Limited Partnership) 531,960 $ 0.66 806,000 876,087

IBS Turnaround Fund QP (A Limited Partnership) 1,118,040 $ 0.66 1,694,000 1,841,304

IBS Opportunity Fund, Ltd. 350,000 $ 0.66 530,303 576,416
$2,000,000 $3,030,303 3,293,807

Material Advisors LLC

On December 30, 2008, the Company entered into a Management Agreement with Material Advisors LLC, a
management services company (“Manager”). The Management Agreement had a term ending on December 31, 2010
with automatic renewal for successive one-year periods unless either Manager or Company provided 90 days prior
notice of cancellation to the other party or pursuant to the termination provisions of the Management Agreement.
Under the Management Agreement, Manager would perform or engage others, including Andre Zeitoun, a principal of
Manager, Chris Carney and Eric Basroon (“Management Personnel”), to perform senior management services including
such services as are customarily provided by a chief executive officer but not (unless otherwise agreed) services
customarily provided by a chief financial officer. Pursuant to the Management Agreement, Andre Zeitoun would serve
as Company’s Chief Executive Officer and would be appointed as a member of the Company’s Board of Directors.

The services provided by Manager included, without limitation, consulting with the Board of Directors and the
Company’s management on business and financial matters. Manager was paid an annual fee of $1,000,000 per year,
payable in equal monthly installments of $83,333. Manager was solely responsible for the compensation of the
Management Personnel, including Mr. Zeitoun and the Management Personnel was not entitled to any direct
compensation or benefits from the Company (including, in the case of Mr. Zeitoun, for service on the Board). In
January 2009, the Company granted Manager non-qualified stock options to purchase, for $0.70 per share, up to
6,583,277 shares of the Company’s stock. In February 2011, the Company’s Board of Directors extended the
Management Agreement for one additional year, thus extending the termination date of the agreement to December
31, 2012. As part of the extension of the Management Agreement, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the
issuance of 2,904,653 warrants to purchase shares of common stock of the Company at $0.83 per share. The warrants
have a term of 5 years and vest equally on a monthly basis beginning January 2012. On January 2012, the Company’s
Board of Directors unanimously agreed to pay a performance bonus of $750,000 to the Manager.

On November 20, 2012, it was decided that effective January 1, 2013 the Company would engage the three members
of Material Advisors individually rather than through Material Advisors.
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NOTE 14 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Contingencies

The Company was named as the defendant in a lawsuit filed on April 18, 2014 in state district court in Salt Lake City,
Utah.  The plaintiff is Tekko Enterprises, Inc., which was hired in 2012 as project manager for the construction of a
processing plant at the Company’s Dragon Mine property and terminated in 2013 before the completion of the plant. 
The complaint seeks damages of $346,000, unpaid amounts that the plaintiff claims it is entitled to under the project
management agreement and two purchase orders.  The Company intends to vigorously defend against the claims and
to counterclaim.

In accordance with ASC Topic 450, when applicable, we record accruals for contingencies when it is probable that a
liability will be incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. In addition to the matter described
above, we may become involved in or subject to, routine litigation, claims, disputes, proceedings and investigations in
the ordinary course of business, could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, cash flows or results
of operations.

Office Lease

The Company extended their lease agreement for office space through December 31, 2015 at a monthly rent of
$12,691 and intends to extend it further for an additional year through 2016 for an aggregate commitment of
approximately $309,871 at December 31, 2014, payable over the next two years.

Note 15A - FINANCIAL INFORMATION BY QUARTER (UNAUDITED)

2014 For Quarter Ended December
31

September
30 June 30 March 31

Revenue $119,533 $55,681 $47,993 $11,014
Operating loss $(3,147,929) $(2,389,291) $(2,712,065) $(2,552,293)
Net loss $(4,346,638) $(2,576,750) $(3,035,704) $(357,225 )
Loss Per Share (Basic and Diluted) $(0.05 ) $(0.03 ) $(0.03 ) $(0.00 )

2013 For Quarter Ended December
31

September
30 June 30 March 31
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Revenue $10,088 $6,773 $12,878 $25,086
Operating loss $(3,795,077) $(3,250,990) $(2,774,969) $(3,582,514)
Net loss $(3,510,651) $(3,869,099) $(2,604,885) $(3,078,891)
Loss Per Share (Basic and Diluted) $(0.04 ) $(0.04 ) $(0.03 ) $(0.03 )
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APPLIED MINERALS, INC.

(An Exploration Stage Mining Company)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

March 31, December 31,
2015 2014

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,731,293 $ 10,701,666
Accounts receivable 144,270 112,831
Deposits and prepaid expenses 252,510 289,644
Total Current Assets 8,128,073 11,104,141

Property and Equipment, net 6,729,652 7,055,874

Other Assets
Deferred Financing Costs 26,875 28,750
Deposits 268,992 268,937
Total Other Assets 295,867 297,687

TOTAL ASSETS $ 15,153,592 $ 18,457,702

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 2,491,508 $ 2,608,364
Current portion of notes payable 142,417 246,894
Total Current Liabilities 2,633,925 2,855,258

Long-Term Liabilities
Long-term portion of notes payable 50,064 59,145
PIK notes payable, net of $18,195,280 and $18,400,297 debt
discount, respectively 13,808,269 13,024,439

PIK Note derivatives 10,154,753 10,035,625
Total Long-Term Liabilities 24,013,086 23,119,209

Total Liabilities 26,647,011 25,974,467

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 10)

Stockholders’ Deficit
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized,
none issued and outstanding
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Common stock, $0.001 par value, 200,000,000 shares authorized,
95,450,047 and 95,054,552 shares issued and outstanding at
March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively

95,450 95,055

Additional paid-in capital 64,743,885 64,526,469
Accumulated deficit prior to the exploration stage (20,009,496 ) (20,009,496 )
Accumulated deficit during the exploration stage (56,323,258 ) (52,128,793 )
Total Stockholders’ Deficit (11,493,419 ) (7,516,765 )

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT $ 15,153,592 $ 18,457,702

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements
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APPLIED MINERALS, INC.

(An Exploration Stage Mining Company)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited)

For the Three Months
ended
March 31,
2015 2014

REVENUES $162,747 $11,014

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Production costs 2,235 3,749
Exploration costs 1,327,281 1,197,156
General and administrative 1,182,309 1,254,016
Depreciation expense 326,222 108,386
Total Operating Expenses 2,838,047 2,563,307

Operating Loss (2,675,300 ) (2,552,293 )

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):
Interest expense, net, including amortization of deferred financing cost and debt discount (1,028,627 ) (300,167 )
Gain on revaluation of warrant derivative -- 725,000
Gain on revaluation of stock awards -- 38,000
(Loss) gain on revaluation of PIK Note derivative (92,741 ) 1,792,500
Other expense (397,797 ) (60,265 )
Total Other Income (Expense) (1,519,165 ) 2,195,068

Net loss (4,194,465 ) (357,225 )

Net Loss Per Share (Basic and Diluted) $(0.04 ) $-0-

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding (Basic and Diluted) 95,107,112 94,692,696

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements
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APPLIED MINERALS, INC.

(An Exploration Stage Mining Company)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

(Unaudited)

Accumulated Accumulated
Common Stock Deficit Deficit Total

Additional Prior to During Stock-
Paid-In Exploration Exploration holders’

Shares Amount Capital Stage Stage Equity

Balance, December 31, 2014 95,054,552 $95,055 $64,526,469 $(20,009,496) $(52,128,793) $(7,516,765 )

Shares issued for directors fees
and other services 145,495 145 117,728 -- -- 117,873

Stock-based compensation
expense for consultants and
directors

250,000 250 99,688 -- -- 99,938

Net Loss -- -- -- -- (4,194,465 ) (4,194,465 )

Balance, March 31, 2015 95,450,047 $95,450 $64,743,885 $(20,009,496) $(56,323,258) $(11,493,419)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements
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APPLIED MINERALS, INC.

(An Exploration Stage Mining Company)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)

For the Three Months
ended
March 31,
2015 2014

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net loss $(4,194,465 ) $(357,225 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operations
Depreciation 326,222 108,386
Amortization of discount – PIK Notes 231,404 26,331
Amortization of deferred financing costs 1,875 --
Issuance of PIK Notes in payment of interest 578,813 525,000
Stock issued for director fees and other services 117,873 110,914
Stock-based compensation expense for consultants and directors 99,938 214,850
Gain on revaluation of stock warrant derivative -- (725,000 )
(Gain) loss on revaluation of PIK Note derivative 92,741 (1,792,500)
Gain on revaluation of stock awards -- (38,000 )
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) Decrease in:
Accounts receivable (31,439 ) (5,188 )
Deposits and prepaids 37,079 85,196
Increase (Decrease) in:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (116,856 ) (528,614 )
Net cash used in operating activities (2,856,815 ) (2,375,850)

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Purchases of property and equipment -- (18,539 )
Construction-in-progress -- (297,169 )
Net cash used in investing activities -- (315,708 )

Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Payments on notes payable (113,558 ) (122,898 )
Net cash used in financing activities (113,558 ) (122,898 )

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (2,970,373 ) (2,814,456)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 10,701,666 8,685,552
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Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $7,731,293 $5,871,096

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements
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APPLIED MINERALS, INC.

(An Exploration Stage Mining Company)

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)

For the Three
Months ended
March 31,
2015 2014

Cash Paid For:
Interest $4,198 $3,745
Income Taxes $-- $1,403

Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities:
Reclassification of construction in progress to buildings $-- $2,405,648
Reclassification of construction in progress to milling equipment $-- $1,857,727
Reclassification of construction in progress to lab equipment $-- $96,077
Construction-in-progress in accounts payable $-- $120,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements
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APPLIED MINERALS, INC.

(An Exploration Stage Mining Company)

Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 1 – BASIS OF PRESENTATION

In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited, condensed, consolidated financial statements contain all
adjustments necessary to present fairly the financial position of Applied Minerals, Inc. ("Applied Minerals" or "the
Company" or "we") and its results of operations and cash flows for the interim periods presented. Such financial
statements have been condensed in accordance with the applicable regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and, therefore, do not include all disclosures required by accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company's audited
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014, included in the Company's Annual Report filed on Form
10-K for such year. The results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2015 are not necessarily indicative
of the results to be expected for the entire year.

NOTE 2 – ORGANIZATION AND DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Applied Minerals, Inc. (the “Company”) is the owner of the Dragon Mine located in the Tintic Mining District of the
State of Utah from where it produces halloysite clay and iron oxide. The Company is currently in various phases of
commercial scale trials with several organizations in various markets with respect to uses of its products.

Applied Minerals is a publicly traded company incorporated in the state of Delaware. The common stock trades on the
OTC Bulletin Board under the symbol AMNL.

NOTE 3 – LIQUIDITY
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The Company has a history of recurring losses from operations and use of cash in operating activities. For the three
months ended March 31, 2015, the Company's net loss was $4,194,465 and cash used in operating activities was
$2,856,815. As of March 31, 2015, the Company had working capital of $5,494,148, which will not be sufficient to
support its current operations for the next twelve months based on its business plan without obtaining additional
financing. Collectively, these factors raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.  

Besides continuing its strategic business plan on generating revenue, the Company intends to explore various strategic
alternatives, including the sale of equity, debt or the disposal of certain non-core assets to raise additional capital. ln
November 2014, the Company raised $12.5 million in capital financing through the issuance of convertible PIK
Notes. During 2013, the Company raised gross proceeds of $16,060,000 pursuant to the sale of common stock and
issuance of convertible PIK Notes. Management can also take steps to reduce the Company's future operating
expenses as needed. However, the Company cannot provide any assurance that it will be able to raise additional
capital as needed.  The condensed consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the
recoverability and classification of asset carrying amounts or the amount and classification of liabilities that might
result should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. 

NOTE 4– SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Exploration-Stage Company

Effective January 1, 2009, due to the shutdown of our contract mining business, we were, and still are, classified as an
exploration company as the existence of proven or probable reserves has not been demonstrated and no significant
revenue has been earned from the mine. Under the SEC’s Industry Guide 7, a mining company is considered an
exploration stage company until it has declared mineral reserves determined in accordance with the guide and staff
interpretations thereof.
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Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Applied Minerals, Inc. and its inactive
subsidiary in northern Idaho.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. In these condensed consolidated financial statements,
the warrant and PIK note derivative liability, stock compensation and impairment of long-lived assets involve
extensive reliance on management’s estimates. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments with a term of three months or less. The Company
minimizes its credit risk by investing its cash and cash equivalents, which sometimes exceeds FDIC limits, with major
financial institutions located in the United States with a high credit rating.

Receivables

Trade receivables are reported at outstanding principal amounts, net of an allowance for doubtful
accounts. Management evaluates the collectability of receivable account balances to determine the allowance, if any.
Management considers the other party’s credit risk and financial condition, as well as current and projected economic
and market conditions, in determining the amount of the allowance. Receivable balances are written off when
management determines that the balance is uncollectable.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation and amortization is computed
on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, or the life of the lease, whichever is shorter, as
follows:

Estimated
Useful
Life
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(years)
Building and Building Improvements 5 – 40
Mining equipment 2 – 7
Office and shop furniture and equipment 3 – 7
Vehicles 5

During the fourth quarter of 2014, the Company started using a five-year depreciation schedule with respect to its new
processing plant that was commissioned in 2014.  The five-year depreciation schedule is a change from the 40 years
utilized for the building and 7 years utilized for the equipment relating to the new processing plant in the quarterly
financial statements for the quarters ended March 31, June 30 and September 30, 2014.  This change in useful life
resulted in $587,427 of additional depreciation expense, which was recorded during the fourth quarter of 2014.  The
impact of the change in the depreciation schedule would not have had a material impact on the consolidated financial
statements for the three quarters previously reported on Form 10-Q.

Depreciation expense for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 totaled $326,222 and $108,386,
respectively. The Company currently does not capitalize any amounts related to proven or probable reserves and
therefore does not have any depletion expense.

Fair Value

ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement and Disclosures, defines fair value as the exchange price that would be
received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the
asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. This topic also
establishes a fair value hierarchy, which requires classification based on observable and unobservable inputs when
measuring fair value. The fair value hierarchy distinguishes between assumptions based on market data (observable
inputs) and an entity’s own assumptions (unobservable inputs). The hierarchy consists of three levels:

●Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities;

●Level 2 – Inputs other than level one inputs that are either directly or indirectly observable; and

●Level 3 – Unobservable inputs developed using estimates and assumptions, which are developed by the reporting entityand reflect those assumptions that a market participant would use.
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Liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized as follows:

Fair value
measurement using
inputs

Carrying amount

Level
1

Level
2 Level 3 March 31,

2015

December
31,
2014 (a)

Financial instruments:
Series 2023 PIK Note Derivative $554,128 $554,128 $478,149
Series A PIK Note Derivative $9,600,625 $9,600,625 $9,557,476

The following table summarizes the activity for financial instruments at fair value using Level 3 inputs:

Balance at December 31, 2014 $10,035,625
Issuance of additional Series 2023 PIK Note 26,387
Net unrealized loss 92,741

Balance at March 31, 2015 $10,154,753

(a)
In the course of preparing its financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company
reclassified the Series 2023 PIK note derivative to Level 3 fair value hierarchy to match with the Series A PIK note
derivative since it based off of a similar model.

The recorded value of certain financial assets and liabilities, which consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents,
receivables, other current assets, and accounts payable and accrued expenses approximates the fair value at March 31,
2015 and December 31, 2014 based upon the short-term nature of the assets and liabilities. Based on borrowing rates
currently available to the Company for loans with similar terms, and the remaining short term period outstanding, the
carrying value of notes payable other than PIK notes materially approximates fair value. Estimated fair value of the
PIK Notes Payable approximate $27,870,828 and $27,488,811, respectively, at March 31, 2015 and December 31,
2014.

For the Company's warrant and PIK note derivative liabilities, Level 3 fair value hierarchy was estimated using a
Monte Carlo Model using the following assumptions:
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Series 2023 PIK Note derivative liability Fair Value
Measurements
Using Inputs
March
31,

2015

December
31,

2014

Market price and estimated fair value of stock $0.70 $ 0.73
Exercise price $1.36 $ 1.36
Term (years) 8.33 8.58
Dividend yield $-- $ --
Expected volatility 60.9% 52.0 %
Risk-free interest rate 1.81% 2.08 %

Series A PIK Note derivative liability Fair Value
Measurements
Using Inputs
March
31,

2015

December
31,

2014

Market price and estimated fair value of stock $0.70 $ 0.73
Exercise price $0.92 $ 0.92
Term (years) 3.58 3.83
Dividend yield $-- $ --
Expected volatility 60.9% 52.0 %
Risk-free interest rate 1.81% 2.08 %
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Impairment of Long-lived Assets

The Company periodically reviews the carrying amounts of long-lived assets to determine whether current events or
circumstances warrant adjustment to such carrying amounts. Long-lived assets are tested for recoverability whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying amount may not be recoverable. When such events occur,
the Company compares the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual
disposition of the asset to its carrying amount.

If this comparison indicates impairment, the amount of the impairment is typically calculated using discounted
expected future cash flows where observable fair values are not readily determinable. Considerable management
judgment is necessary to estimate the fair value of assets. Assets to be disposed of are carried at the lower of their
financial statement carrying amount or fair value, less cost to sell.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue includes sales of halloysite clay and, commencing in June 2013, iron oxide, and is recognized when title
passes to the buyer and when collectability is reasonably assured. Title passes to the buyer based on terms of the sales
contract. Product pricing is determined based on related contractual arrangements with the Company’s customers.

Mining Exploration and Development Costs

Land and mining property are carried at cost. The Company expenses prospecting and mining exploration costs. At
the point when a property is determined to have proven and probable reserves, subsequent development costs will be
capitalized and will be charged to operations using the units-of-production method over proven and probable reserves.
Upon abandonment or sale of a mineral property, all capitalized costs relating to the specific property are written off
in the period abandoned or sold and a gain or loss is recognized.

Income taxes

The Company uses an asset and liability approach which results in the recognition of deferred tax liabilities and assets
for the expected future tax consequences or benefits of temporary differences between the financial reporting basis
and the tax basis of assets and liabilities, as well as operating loss and tax credit carry forwards, using enacted tax
rates in effect in the years in which the differences are expected to reverse. In assessing the realizability of deferred
tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of its deferred tax assets
will not be realized. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable
income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. A valuation allowance has been provided for the
portion of the Company’s net deferred tax assets for which it is more likely than not that they will not be realized.
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The Company is subject to U.S. federal income tax as well as income tax of certain state jurisdictions. Federal income
tax returns subsequent to 2009 are subject to examination by major tax jurisdictions. The Company’s practice is to
recognize interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense.

The Company follows the provision of ASC Topic 740-10, “Income Taxes”, relating to recognition thresholds and
measurement attributes for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken, or expected to
be taken, in a tax return. It also provides guidance on de-recognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting
in interim periods and requires increased disclosures. This guidance provides that the tax effects from an uncertain tax
position can be recognized in our financial statements, only if the position is more likely than not of being sustained
on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. As of March 31, 2015, no amounts are included in the financial
statements for unrecognized tax benefits.

Stock Options and Warrants

The Company follows ASC 718 (Stock Compensation) and 505-50 (Equity-Based Payments to Non-employees),
which provide guidance in accounting for share-based awards exchanged for services rendered and requires
companies to expense the estimated fair value of these awards over the requisite service period.

Per share data

Loss per share for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, is calculated based on 95,107,112
and 94,692,696 weighted average outstanding shares of common stock.

At March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, the Company had outstanding options and warrants to purchase 18,626,046
and 22,083,046 shares of Company common stock, and had notes payable which were convertible into 30,086,390 and
8,106,618 shares, respectively, of the Company common stock, none of which were included in the diluted
computation as their effect would be anti-dilutive.
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Environmental Matters

Expenditures for ongoing compliance with environmental regulations that relate to current operations are expensed or
capitalized as appropriate.  Expenditures resulting from the remediation of existing conditions caused by past
operations that do not contribute to future revenue generations are expensed.  Liabilities are recognized when
environmental assessments indicate that remediation efforts are probable and the costs can be reasonably estimated.

Estimates of such liabilities are based upon currently available facts, existing technology and presently enacted laws
and regulations taking into consideration the likely effects of inflation and other societal and economic factors, and
include estimates of associated legal costs.  These amounts also reflect prior experience in remediating contaminated
sites, other companies’ clean-up experience and data released by The Environmental Protection Agency or other
organizations.  Such estimates are by their nature imprecise and can be expected to be revised over time because of
changes in government regulations, operations, technology and inflation.  Recoveries are evaluated separately from
the liability and, when recovery is assured, the Company records and reports an asset separately from the associated
liability.

Based upon management’s current assessment of its environmental responsibilities, it does not believe that any
reclamation or remediation liability exists at March 31, 2015.  
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The amendments in ASU
2014-09 affects any entity that either enters into contracts with customers to transfer goods or services or enters into
contracts for the transfer of nonfinancial assets unless those contracts are within the scope of other standards (e.g.,
insurance contracts or lease contracts). This ASU will supersede the revenue recognition requirements in Topic
605 Revenue Recognition, and most industry-specific guidance, and creates a Topic 606 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers.

The core principle of the guidance is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. To achieve that core principle, an entity should apply the following steps:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer.

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract.

Step 3: Determine the transaction price.

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract.

Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

ASU 2014-09 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods
within that reporting period. Early application is not permitted. In April 2015, the FASB proposed a deferral of the
effective date of this ASU by one year, but permits entities to adopt one year earlier if they choose. The proposal to
defer the effective date is currently not approved.The Company is currently evaluating these new requirements to
determine the method of implementation and any resulting estimated effects on the consolidated financial statements.

In April 2015, the FASB issued an ASU which requires that debt issuance costs be presented in the balance sheet as a
direct reduction to the carrying amount of the associated debt liability, consistent with debt discounts. Currently debt
issuance costs are recognized as an asset. The ASU is effective for the Company in the first quarter of 2016 and is
required to be applied retrospectively. Early adoption is permitted. The Company does not expect the adoption of this
standard to have a material impact on its results of operations, financial position, and cash flows.
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NOTE 5 - INCOME TAX

Income tax provisions or benefits for interim periods are computed based on the Company's estimated annual effective
tax rate. Based on the Company's historical losses and its expectation of the continuation of losses for the foreseeable
future, the Company has determined that it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets will not be realized and,
accordingly, has provided a full valuation allowance as of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014.

NOTE 6 - NOTES PAYABLE

Notes payable at March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 consist of the following:

March 31, December
31,

2015 2014

Note payable for mining equipment, payable $1,339 monthly, including interest (a) $52,414 $55,720
Note payable for mining equipment, payable $950 monthly, including interest (b) 11,579 14,057
Note payable for mining equipment, payable $6,060 monthly, including interest (c) -- 6,033
Note payable for lab equipment, payable $9,122 monthly, including interest (d) ---- 18,246
Note payable for mine site vehicle, payable $628 monthly (e) 18,851 20,736
Note payable to an insurance company, payable $21,531monthly, including interest (f) 85,422 149,036
Note payable to an insurance company, payable $6,094 monthly, including interest (g) 24,215 42,211

192,481 306,039
Less: Current Portion (142,417) (246,894)
Notes Payable, Long-Term Portion $50,064 $59,145

(a)
On October 31,2014, the Company purchased mining equipment for $57,900 by issuing a note with an interest rate
of 5.2%. The note is collateralized by the mining equipment with payments of $1,339 for 48 months, which started
on November 30,2014.

(b)
On April 17, 2012, the Company purchased mining equipment for $40,565 by issuing a note with an effective
interest rate of 11.279%. The note is collateralized by the mining equipment with payments of $950 for 48
months, which started on May 1, 2012.

(c)
On July 23, 2012, the Company purchased mining equipment for $169,500 by issuing a note with an interest rate
of 5.5%. The note is collateralized by the mining equipment with payments of $6,060 for 30 months, which started
on August 25, 2012.

(d)
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On April 16, 2014, the Company purchased lab equipment for $109,493 by depositing and issuing a non-interest
bearing note in the amount of $91,229. The note is collateralized by the lab equipment with payments of $9,122
for ten months, which started in May 2014.

(e)
On September 20, 2012, the Company purchased a vehicle for the mine site for $37,701 by issuing a non-interest
bearing note. The note is collateralized by the vehicle with payments of $628 for 60 months, which started on
October 20, 2012.

(f)The Company signed a note payable with an insurance company dated October 31, 2014 for directors’ and officers’insurance, due in monthly installments, including interest at 3.15%. The note will mature on July 2015.

(g)The Company signed a note payable with an insurance company dated October 31, 2014 for liability insurance,due in monthly installments, including interest at 3.15%. The note will mature on July 2015.
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The following is a schedule of the principal maturities on these notes for the next four years:

April 2015 – March 2016 $142,417
April 2016 – March 2017 21,929
April 2017 – March 2018 18,925
April 2018 – March 2019 9,210
Total Notes Payable $192,481

During the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company's interest payments totaled $4,178 and
$3,745, respectively.

NOTE 7 – CONVERTIBLE DEBT (PIK NOTES)

The Company raised $23 million of financing through the issuance of two series of Paid-In-Kind (“PIK”)-Election
Convertible Notes in 2013 and 2014, with key terms highlighted in the table below:

Key Terms Series 2023 Notes Series A
Notes

Issuance Date August 5, 2013 November 3,
2014

Cash Received $ 10,500,000 $ 12,500,000
Principal (Initial Liability) $ 10,500,000 $ 19,848,486
Original Issue Discount (OID) N/A $ 7,348,486
Maturity (Term) 10 years, but

convertible after 1 year
based on the market
price of the
Company’s stock

4 years, but
may range
between 2
years to the
full maturity
of the Series
2023 Notes,
depending on
whether a
Specified
Event occurs
and/or an
Extension
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Option is
elected (see
below for
further details)

Exercise Price

$1.40 at inception,
adjusted downward
based on antidilution
provisions/downround
protection

$0.92 at
inception,
adjusted
downward
based on
antidilution
provisions;
also may be
reduced by
$0.10 if
Extension
Option is
elected (see
below)

Stated Interest 10% per annum, due
semiannually

10%
per annum,
due
semiannually,
may be
reduced to 1%
if Specified
Event (see
below) occurs

Derivative Liability

$2,055,000 established
at inception due
to existence of
antidilution provisions;
revalued every quarter
using Monte Carlo
model

$9,212,285
established at
inception due
to existence of
antidilution
provisions;
revalued every
quarter using
Monte Carlo
model

As of 03/31/2015, the liability components of the PIK Notes on the Company’s balance sheet are listed in the
following table:

(in $$) Series 2023
Notes

Series A
Notes Total

PIK Note Payable, Gross 12,155,063 19,848,486 32,003,549
Less: Discount (1,944,922 ) (16,250,358) (18,195,280)
PIK Note Payable, Net 10,210,141 3,598,128 13,808,269

PIK Note Derivative Liability 554,128 9,600,625 10,154,753
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As of 12/31/2014, the liability components of the PIK Notes on the Company’s balance sheet are listed in the
following table:

(in $$) Series 2023
Notes

Series A
Notes Total

PIK Note Payable, Gross 11,576,250 19,848,486 31,424,736
Less: Discount (1,949,555 ) (16,450,742) (18,400,297)
PIK Note Payable, Net 9,626,695 3,397,744 13,024,439

PIK Note Derivative Liability 478,149 9,557,476 10,035,625
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Series A Notes

On November 3, 2014 (“Issue Date”), the Company issued, in a private placement pursuant to investment agreements,
$19,848,486 principal amount of 10% PIK-Election Convertible Notes due 2018 ("Series A Notes") in exchange for
$12,500,000 in cash and the cancellation of previously-issued warrants held by one investor.

Below are key terms of the Series A Notes:

o

Maturity- November 3, 2018, provided that the Stated Maturity Date may be extended to November 3, 2019 at the
option of the Company (the “Extension Option”) if (i) the Company has delivered written notice of its exercise of the
Extension Option to the Holder not more than ninety (90) nor less than thirty (30) days prior to November 3, 2018
and (ii) the Company has delivered a certificate, dated as of November 3, 2018, certifying that no Default or Event
of Default has occurred and is continuing; provided, further that the Stated Maturity Date shall be extended to the
maturity date of the Series 2023 Notes or any Replacement Financing, as applicable, upon the occurrence of a
Specified Event (“Specified Extension”).

oExercise Price- initially $0.92 per share and will be (i) adjusted from time to time pursuant antidilution provisionsand (ii) reduced by $0.10 per share if the Company elects to exercise its Extension Option.

oStated Interest: 10% payable semiannually in arrears, provided that the interest rate shall be reduced to 1% perannum on the principal amount of the Note upon the occurrence of the Specified Event, as defined below.

o

Specified Event- means the event that may occur after the second anniversary of the Issuer Date if: (i) any amounts
under the Series 2023 Notes or any Replacement Financing are outstanding, (ii) the VWAP for the preceding 30
consecutive Trading Days as determined by the Board of Directors of the Issuer in good faith is in excess of the
Exercise Price, (iii) the closing Market Price of the Common Stock is in excess of the Exercise Price on the date
immediately preceding the date on which the Specified Event occurs, (iv) no Default or Event of Default has
occurred and is continuing and (v) the Issuer has delivered a certificate to each holder of Series A Notes certifying
that the conditions set forth in clauses (i) through (iv) above have been met.

o
Extension Option- If stock price is lower than current exercise price ($0.92) prior to the stated maturity
(November 3, 2018), then the Company can elect an Extension Option, whereby the maturity is extended by
one year (see Maturity definition), but with a reduction in exercise price by $0.10.

o

Liquidated Damages- The company is required to pay the noteholders 1% of the principal amount of the Series A
Notes if a Registration statement is not filed and effective within 90 days of the inception date (and further damages
for every 30 days thereafter). The Company has accrued $595,455 as Other Expense as of March 31, 2015 due to a
delay in such filing.
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The number of shares issuable under the Notes may be affected by the antidilution provisions of the Notes. The
antidilution provisions adjust the Exercise Price of the Notes in the event of stock dividends and splits, issuance
below the market price of the Common Stock, issuances below the conversion price of the Notes, pro rata
distribution of assets, rights plans, tender offers, and exchange offers.

These Series A Notes were not issued with the intent of effectively hedging any future cash flow, fair value of any
asset, liability or any net investment in a foreign operation. In addition to the customary antidilution provisions the
notes contain a down-round provision whereby the conversion price would be adjusted downward in the event that
additional shares of the Company’s common stock or securities exercisable, convertible or exchangeable for the
Company’s common stock were issued for cash consideration (e.g. a capital raise) at a price less than the conversion
price. Therefore, the estimated fair value of the conversion feature of $9,212,285 (based on observable inputs using a
Monte Carlo model) was bifurcated from the Series A Notes and accounted for as a separate derivative liability, which
resulted in a corresponding amount of debt discount on the Series A Notes. In addition, an additional debt discount of
$7,348,486 was recorded as a result of the difference between the $12,500,000 of cash received and the $19,848,486
of principal on the Series A Notes. This combined debt discount of $16,560,771 is being amortized using the effective
interest method over the 4-year term of the Notes as Interest Expense, while the PIK Note Derivative is carried at fair
value (using a Monte Carlo model) until the Notes are converted or otherwise extinguished. Any changes in fair value
are recognized in earnings.

At March 31, 2015, the fair value of the Series A PIK Note Derivative was estimated to be $9,600,625. In addition,
the Company amortized $200,384 of debt discount relating to the Series A PIK Notes Payable, increasing the Series A
PIK Notes Payable carrying value to $3,598,128 as of March 31, 2015.
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Series 2023 Notes

In August 2013, the Company received $10,500,000 of financing through the private placement of 10% mandatory
convertible Notes due 2023 ("Series 2023 Notes"). The principal amount of the Notes is due on maturity.  The
Company can elect to pay semi-annual interest on the Series 2023 Notes with additional PIK Notes containing the
same terms as the Series 2023 Notes, except interest will accrue from issuance of such notes. The Company can also
elect to pay interest in cash. In February 2014, August 2014, and February 2015 the Company issued $525,000,
$551,250, and $578,813, respectively, in additional PIK Notes to the holders to pay the semi-annual interest.

The Series 2023 Notes originally converted into the Company’s common stock at a conversion price of $1.40 per
share, which is subject to anti-dilution adjustments; these antidilution adjustments reduced the conversion price to
$1.36 after the issuance of the Series A Notes. As of issuance, principal amount of the Series 2023 Notes were
convertible into 7,500,000 shares of the common stock and into 7,720,588 shares after the issuance of the Series A
Notes. The holders may convert the Series 2023 Notes at any time.  The Series 2023 Notes are mandatorily
convertible after one year when the weighted average trading price of a share of the common stock for the preceding
ten trading days is in excess of the conversion price.  The Series 2023 Notes contain customary representations and
warranties and several covenants. The proceeds are being used for general corporate purposes. No broker was used
and no commission was paid in connection with the sale of the Series 2023 Notes. As of March 31, 2015, the
Company was in compliance with the covenants.

These Series 2023 Notes were not issued with the intent of effectively hedging any future cash flow, fair value of any
asset, liability or any net investment in a foreign operation. In addition to the customary anti-dilution provisions the
notes contain a down-round provision whereby the conversion price would be adjusted downward in the event that
additional shares of the Company’s common stock or securities exercisable, convertible or exchangeable for the
Company’s common stock were issued for cash consideration (e.g. a capital raise) at a price less than the conversion
price. Therefore, the estimated fair value of the conversion feature of $2,055,000 (based on observable inputs using a
Monte Carlo model) was bifurcated from the Series 2023 Notes and accounted for as a separate derivative liability,
which resulted in a corresponding amount of debt discount on the Series 2023 Notes. The debt discount is being
amortized using the effective interest method over the 10-year term of the Series 2023 Notes as Interest Expense,
while the PIK Note Derivative is carried at fair value (using a Monte Carlo model) until the Series 2023 Notes are
converted or otherwise extinguished. Any changes in fair value are recognized in earnings.

At March 31, 2015, the fair value of the PIK Note Derivative was estimated to be $554,128, which includes the value
of the additional PIK Notes issued in February 2014, August 2014, and February 2015, for the semi-annual interest
payments due. Total gain from the revaluation of the original PIK Notes derivative was $49,593 for the first quarter of
2015. In addition, during the first quarter of 2015, the Company recorded $26,387 of additional debt discount from
the February 2015 issuance, and also amortized $31,020 of debt discount relating to the Series 2023 PIK Notes
Payable, resulting in a total debt discount of $1,944,922 as of March 31, 2015, and increasing the Series 2023 PIK
Notes Payable carrying value to $10,210,141 as of March 31, 2015.
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NOTE 8 - STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 10,000,000 shares of noncumulative, non-voting, nonconvertible preferred stock,
$0.001 par value per share. At March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, no shares of preferred stock were outstanding.

Common Stock

On November 20, 2012, stockholders of the Company approved to increase the authorized shares of common stock
from 120,000,000 to 200,000,000 shares, $0.001 par value per share. At March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014,
95,450,047 and 95,054,552 shares were issued and outstanding, respectively.

During the three months ended March 31, 2015, the Company issued a total of 145,495 shares of common stock
valued at $107,251 to directors and consultants as payments of fees.

During the three months ended March 31, 2015, the Company issued a total of 250,000 shares of restricted
stock valued at $165,000 to directors as part of the annual grant process. These shares vest 50% at the first anniversary
of the grant date and 50% at the second anniversary of the grant date and will not be counted in the basic earnings per
share calculation until they vest.
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NOTE 9 - OPTIONS AND WARRANTS TO PURCHASE COMMON STOCK

Derivative Instruments - Warrants

The Company issued 5,000,000 warrants (“Samlyn warrants”) in connection with the December 22, 2011 private
placement of 10,000,000 shares of common stock. The strike price of these warrants was $2.00 per share at the date of
grant. These warrants were not issued with the intent of effectively hedging any future cash flow, fair value of any
asset, liability or any net investment in a foreign operation. In addition to the customary antidilution provisions the
notes contained a down-round provision whereby the exercise price would be adjusted downward in the event that
additional shares of the Company's common stock or securities exercisable, convertible or exchangeable for the
Company's common stock were issued at a price less than the exercise price. Therefore, the fair value of these
warrants (based on observable inputs using a Monte Carlo model) was recorded as a liability in the balance sheet until
they are exercised or expire or are otherwise extinguished. During the first quarter of 2013, the Company issued
3,756,757 shares of its common stock for gross proceeds of $5,560,000, which triggered a down-round adjustment of
$0.03 from $2.00 to $1.97 in the strike price of the Samlyn warrants at that time. As discussed in Note 7, during
August 2013, the Company issued $10,500,000 of 10% mandatorily convertible Series 2023 PIK Notes in a private
placement, which triggered a down-round adjustment of $0.04 from $1.97 to $1.93 in the strike price of the Samlyn
warrants.

On November 3, 2014, the Company cancelled the warrant arrangement, resulting in the fair value of the warrant at
such date of $120,000 being credited to equity. During the three months ended March 31, 2014, the Company
recognized $114,000 of Other Income (Expense) resulting from the changes in the fair value of the warrant liability. 

Outstanding Stock Warrants

A summary of the status of the warrants outstanding and exercisable at March 31, 2015 is presented below:

Warrants Outstanding and
Exercisable

Exercise
Price

Number
Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life (years)

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

$ 0.75 139,340 0.50 $ 0.75
$ 0.78 213,402 0.84 $ 0.78
$ 0.80 124,481 0.75 $ 0.80
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$ 1.00 180,000 0.56 $ 1.00
$ 1.15 461,340 6.08 $ 1.15
$ 2.00 54,367 1.34 $ 2.00

1,172,930 2.83 $ 1.01

No warrants were issued during 2014 or the first quarter of 2015. The intrinsic value of the outstanding warrants at
March 31, 2014 was $0.

Outstanding Stock Options

On November 20, 2012, the shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of the Applied Minerals, Inc. 2012
Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) and the Short-Term Incentive Plan (“STIP”) and the performance criteria used in
setting performance goals for awards intended to be performance-based. Under the LTIP, 8,900,000 shares are
authorized for issuance. The STIP does not refer to a particular number of shares under the LTIP, but would use the
shares authorized in the LTIP for issuance under the STIP. The CEO, the CFO, and named executive officers, and
directors, among others are eligible to participate in the LTIP and STIP. Prior to the adoption of the LTIP and STIP,
stock options were granted under individual arrangements between the Company and the grantees, and approved by
the Board of Directors.

The fair value of each of the Company's stock option awards is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model that uses the assumptions noted in the table below. Expected volatility is based on an average of
historical volatility of the Company's common stock. The risk-free interest rate for periods within the contractual life
of the stock option award is based on the yield curve of a zero-coupon U.S. Treasury Bond on the date the award is
granted with a maturity equal to the expected term of the award.

The significant assumptions relating to the valuation of the Company's options issued for the three months ended
March 31, 2015 and 2014 were as follows on a weighted average basis:

2015 2014
Dividend Yield 0 % 0 %
Expected Life (years) 5.6 5.2
Expected Volatility 51 % 58 %
Risk Free Interest Rate 1.47% 1.60%
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A summary of the status and changes of the options granted under stock option plans and other agreements for the
first quarter of 2015 is as follows:

March 31, 2015

Shares

Weighted

Average

Exercise
Price

Outstanding at beginning of period 17,053,116 $ 1.02
Issued 400,000 0.68
Exercised -- --
Forfeited -- --
Outstanding at end of period 17,453,116 $ 1.01

During the three months ended March 31, 2015, the Company granted 400,000 options to purchase the Company’s
common stock with a weighted average exercise price of $0.67 and the following vesting schedule.

Vesting Information
Shares Frequency Begin Date End Date
200,000 Quarterly 03/31/2015 12/31/2015
200,000 Annually 02/05/2016 02/05/2018

 A summary of the status of the options outstanding at March 31, 2015 is presented below:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Number

Outstanding

Weighted

Average

Remaining

Contractual
Life
(years)

Weighted

Average

Exercise

Price

Number

Exercisable

Weighted

Average

Exercise

Price

200,000 9.88 $ 0.66 50,000 $ 0.66
200,000 9.88 $ 0.68 -- $ 0.68
7,358,277 3.69 $ 0.70 7,358,277 $ 0.70
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3,405,134 6.44 $ 0.83 3,405,134 $ 0.83
975,000 9.20 $ 0.84 541,667 $ 0.84
60,000 1.25 $ 1.00 60,000 $ 1.00
300,000 8.39 $ 1.10 100,000 $ 1.10
300,000 8.24 $ 1.15 158,333 $ 1.15
100,000 2.84 $ 1.24 100,000 $ 1.24
115,000 5.99 $ 1.35 115,000 $ 1.35
125,000 2.84 $ 1.45 125,000 $ 1.45
330,000 6.70 $ 1.55 321,667 $ 1.55
7,645 2.84 $ 1.58 7,645 $ 1.58
3,077,060 7.65 $ 1.66 3,077,060 $ 1.66
900,000 6.39 $ 1.90 900,000 $ 1.90
17,453,116 5.72 $ 1.01 16,319,783 $ 1.02

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted during the first quarter of 2015 was $0.31.

Compensation expense of $99,938 and $214,850 has been recognized for the vested options for the three months
ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of the outstanding options at March 31,
2015 was $12,000. At March 31, 2015, $499,908 of unamortized compensation expense for unvested options is
expected to be recognized over the next 1.77 years on a weighted average basis.
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NOTE 10 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Commitments

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of March 31, 2015 that require us to make future cash
payments:

Payment due by period

Total < 1 year 1 - 3
years

Contractual Obligations:
Rent obligations $271,796 $153,615 $118,181
Total $271,796 $153,615 $118,181

Contingencies

The Company was named as the defendant in a lawsuit filed on April 18, 2014 in state District court in Salt Lake City,
Utah.  The plaintiff is Tekko Enterprises, Inc., which was hired in 2012 as project manager for the construction of a
processing plant at the Company’s Dragon Mine property and terminated in 2013 before the completion of the plant. 
The complaint seeks damages of $346,000, unpaid amounts that the plaintiff claims it is entitled to under the project
management agreement and two purchase orders.  The Company intends to vigorously defend against the claims and
to counterclaim.

In accordance with ASC Topic 450, when applicable, we record accruals for contingencies when it is probable that a
liability will be incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. In addition to the matters described
herein, we may become involved in or subject to, routine litigation, claims, disputes, proceedings and investigations in
the ordinary course of business, could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, cash flows or results
of operations.
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CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, there were no disagreements with our independent registered
public accounting firms.
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PART II

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

ITEM 13.              OTHER EXPENSES OF ISSUANCE AND DISTRIBUTION.

The following table sets forth estimated expenses we expect to incur in connection with the resale of the shares being
registered.  All such expenses are estimated except for the SEC registration fee.

Registration Fee – Securities and Exchange Commission $3,567
Accounting Fees and Expenses 10,000
Legal Fees and Expenses -0-
Miscellaneous 2,000
TOTAL $15,567

ITEM 14.              INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS.

As permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, the Bylaws of the Company provide that (i) the Company is
required to indemnify its directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation
Law, (ii) the Company is required to advance expenses, as incurred, to its directors and officers in connection with a
legal proceeding to the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, subject to certain very
limited exceptions, (iii) the Company may indemnify any other person as set forth in the Delaware General
Corporation Law, and (iii) the indemnification rights conferred in the Bylaws are not exclusive.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to our directors,
officers, and controlling persons pursuant to the provisions described above or otherwise, we have been advised that in
the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is,
therefore, unenforceable.  In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment
of expenses incurred or paid in a successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director,
officer or controlling person in connection with the Common Stock being registered, we will, unless in the opinion of
our counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to the court of appropriate jurisdiction the
question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be
governed by the final adjudication of such issue.
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We currently maintain liability insurance for our directors and officers. In connection with this offering, we expect to
obtain additional liability insurance for our directors and officers. Such insurance would be available to our directors
and officers in accordance with its terms.

ITEM 15.              RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES.

1.  Offerings to investors for cash to raise working capital.

No underwriter or placement agent was used and no underwriting, placement agent fee or commission was paid. All
of the issuances described in this section were exempt from registration pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act,
as transactions not involving a public offering. The sales were separate transactions and were not part of a continuous
offering.  With respect to each transaction listed above, no general solicitation was made by either the Company or
any person acting on our behalf; the number of purchasers was limited; the securities sold are subject to transfer
restrictions; each purchaser was an accredited investor and sophisticated; each purchaser had access to the Company’s
public filings and could ask questions of management; and the certificates for the shares contained an appropriate
legend stating such securities have not been registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or sold absent
registration or pursuant to an exemption therefrom.
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(a)   August 2, 2013.  Private placement of  $10,500,000 of 10% PIK–Election Convertible Notes due 2023 (“2023
Notes”).  The purchasers were one investment fund of a family office ($4 million), an investment fund and two related
family funds ($2.5 million) and an investment fund ($4 million).

The 2023 Notes bear interest at the rate of 10% per annum, payable (including by issuance of additional October 2010
Notes) semi-annually in arrears on February1 and August 1 with payments commencing on February 1, 2014. The
2023 Notes were convertible at the option of the noteholder at any time. The 2023 Notes were mandatorily convertible
on the earliest date that is one year after the Issue Date when each of the following conditions have been satisfied:  (i)
the average closing bid price or market price of Company common stock for the preceding 5 trading days is above the
Strike Price (as defined below), and (iii) a registration statement is effective and available for resale of all of the
converted shares or the noteholder may sell such shares under Rule 144 under the Securities Act.

The number of shares issued on conversion of the 2023 Notes was derived by dividing the principal and accrued
interest on the 2023 Notes by $1.40 (the “Strike Price”). The Strike Price was subject to adjustment in the event of a
dividend or distribution on Company’s common stock in shares of common stock, subdivision or combination of
Company outstanding common stock, or reclassification of Company’s outstanding common stock.  After issuance of
the Series A Notes, the 2023 Notes currently have an exercise price of $1.34 per share. The note holders may
accelerate the entire amount due under the 2023 Notes upon the occurrence of certain events of default.  

(b) November 3, 2014.

On November 3, 2014 (“Issue Date”), the Company issued, in a private placement pursuant to investment agreements,
$19,848,486 principal amount of 10% PIK-Election Convertible Notes due 2018 ("Series A Notes") in exchange for
$12,500,000 in cash and the cancellation of warrants held by one investor.

Maturity Date of the Series A Notes.

“Stated Maturity Date” means November 3, 2018, provided that the Stated Maturity Date may be extended to November
3, 2019 at the option of the Company (the “Extension Option”) if (i) the Company has delivered written notice of its
exercise of the Extension Option to the Holder not more than ninety (90) nor less than thirty (30) days prior to
November 3, 2018 and (ii) the Company has delivered a certificate, dated as of November 3, 2018, certifying that no
Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing; provided, further that the Stated Maturity Date shall be
extended to the maturity date of the Series 2023 Notes or any Replacement Financing, as applicable, upon the
occurrence of a Specified Event (“Specified Extension”).
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Interest in the Series A Notes.

The Company will pay in kind interest for each interest period on the Note by adding the full amount of interest due
on each interest payment date to the principal amount of the Note on each interest payment date, unless it elects to pay
interest entirely in cash.

The principal amount of the Series A Notes bears interest at the rate of 10% payable semiannually in arrears, provided
that the interest rate shall be reduced to 1% per annum on the principal amount of the Note upon the occurrence of the
Specified Event, as defined below.

The term “Specified Event” means the event that will occur after the second anniversary of the Issue Date if: (i) any
amounts under the Series 2023 Notes (as defined below) or any Replacement Financing (as defined below) are
outstanding, (ii) the VWAP (volume weighted average price) for the preceding 30 consecutive trading days is in
excess of the Exercise Price (as defined below), (iii) the closing market price of the Common Stock is in excess of the
Exercise Price on the date immediately preceding the date on which the Specified Event occurs, and (iv) no default or
event of default under the Series A Notes has occurred and is continuing.
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The term “Series 2023 Notes” means the series of 10% PIK-Election Convertible Notes due 2023 issued by the
Company on August 2, 2013 in the initial principal amount of $10,500,000.

The term “Replacement Financing” means unsecured indebtedness of the Company in a principal amount not to exceed
$10,500,000 plus any accrued interest thereon (including any interest paid in kind) so long as (1) no default or event
of default under the Series A Notes shall have occurred and be continuing or would result therefrom, (2) all
outstanding amounts under each Series 2023 Note shall have been converted into the Common Stock of the Company
pursuant to the terms of such Series 2023 Note prior to the date on which such Indebtedness is incurred, (3) the
maturity date of such Indebtedness shall not be earlier than the maturity date under the Series 2023 Notes, (4) such
indebtedness is not subject to scheduled amortization, redemption, sinking fund or other payment in cash prior to the
maturity date of such Indebtedness, (5) such indebtedness does not include any terms that are more restrictive or
onerous on the Company or its Subsidiaries in any respect than any comparable term in the Series A Note, (6) such
indebtedness shall only be guaranteed by a party that is providing a guarantee of the Series A Notes (the Series A
Notes are not guaranteed), (7) such indebtedness shall have an interest rate less than or equal to 10% and (8) if
applicable, the exercise price, strike price or similar term with respect to the conversion of such indebtedness into the
Common Stock of the Company shall be greater than or equal $1.40 and shall be subject to the adjustments on the
same terms as the Series 2023 Notes.

Conversion of the Series A Notes into Common Stock.

The number of Shares to be issued upon conversion of a Note is obtained by: (i) adding (A) the principal amount or
portion thereof of the Note to be converted and (B) the amount of any accrued but unpaid interest on the portion of the
Note to be converted; and (ii) dividing the result obtained pursuant to clause (i) above by the per share Exercise Price
(as defined below) then in effect.

The term “Exercise Price” means initially $0.92 per share and will be (i) adjusted from time to time pursuant antidilution
provisions and (ii) reduced by $0.10 per share if the Company elects to exercise its Extension Option.

The Series A Notes may be voluntarily converted at any time.

The entire principal amount of the Series A Notes and accrued interest thereon shall be mandatorily converted into
Shares) on the earliest date that is not earlier than two years after the Issue Date that all of the following conditions are
satisfied and appropriate notice given:
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(1) if on or prior to November 3, 2019 and a Specified Extension has not occurred, the VWAP for the preceding 30
consecutive trading days is at or greater than $1.00 or (2) the VWAP for the preceding 10 consecutive trading days as
determined is in excess of the greater of (x) $1.40, (y) the strike price (or similar term) set forth in the Series 2023
Notes and (z) the strike price (or similar term) set forth in the Replacement Financing, if any;

(2) if on or prior to November 3, 2019 and a Specified Extension has not occurred, the closing market price of the
Common Stock is at or greater than $1.00 or (2) the closing market price of the Common Stock is in excess of the
greater of (x) $1.40, (y) the strike price (or similar term) set forth in the Series 2023 Notes and (z) the strike price (or
similar term) set forth in the Replacement Financing, if any, in each case, on the date immediately preceding the date
on which the mandatory conversion notice is received;
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(3)all outstanding amounts under each Series 2023 Note or Replacement Financing, if any, shall have been convertedinto the Common Stock pursuant to the terms of such Series 2023 Note or the Replacement Financing, if any; and

(4)

either (x) a registration statement is effective and available for the resale of all of the Shares to be issued on
conversion on the conversion date and each of the five (5) trading days prior to the Conversion Date and on the
conversion date the holder is not restricted from selling or distributing any of such its Shares to be issued on
conversion pursuant to the provisions of the Registration Rights Agreement between the holder and the Company
or (y) the Holder may sell all such Conversion Shares immediately under Rule 144 under the Securities Act.

Antidilution Provisions of the Series A Notes.

The number of shares issuable under the Notes may be affected by the antidilition provisions of the Notes. The
antidilition provisions adjust the Exercise Price of the Notes in the event of stock dividends and splits, issuance below
the market price of the Common Stock, issuances below the conversion price of the Notes, pro rata distribution of
assets, rights plans, tender offers, and exchange offers.

The anti-dilution provisions are of the type known as “broad-based, weighted-average.” Broad-based refers to the fact
that the antidilution formulas take into account convertible securities as well as Common Stock. Weighted-average
refers to the fact that the adjustment takes into account the number of shares of shares before and after the event in
question. By way of example, if the Company issues shares of Common Stock or convertible securities at an effective
consideration per share that is less than the Exercise Price of the Notes then in effect (other than issuances to directors,
officers, employees or consultants of the Company as compensation for services), then the conversion price will be
adjusted pursuant to the following formula:

N0 + C/E0

E = E0 x -------------

N0 + NA

where: E = the Exercise Price in effect immediately after such issuance; E0 = the Exercise Price in effect immediately
prior to such issuance; N0 = the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to the open of
business on the trading day of such issuance; NA = the number of shares of Common Stock issued and/or issuable
upon exercise, conversion or exchange of any convertible securities, full physical settlement assumed; and C = the
total consideration receivable by the Company on issuance and/or the exercise, conversion or exchange of any
convertible securities, full physical settlement assumed.
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If any single action would require more than one adjustment of the Exercise Price under the antidilution provisions,
only one adjustment shall be made and such adjustment shall be the amount of adjustment that has the highest
absolute value.

2.  Compensatory grants of shares or options

The grants were made in exchange for services and the services did not relate to raising capital.   No payments of cash
were made to the Company in connection with the grants.  No underwriter or placement agent was used and no
underwriting, placement agent fee or commission was paid. All of the issuances described in this section were exempt
from registration pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act, as transactions not involving a public offering. With
respect to each transaction listed above, no general solicitation was made by either the Company or any person acting
on our behalf; the securities sold are subject to transfer restrictions; each purchaser was an accredited investor or
sophisticated; each purchaser had access to the Company’s public filings and could ask questions of management; and
the certificates for the shares contained an appropriate legend stating such securities have not been registered under
the Securities Act and may not be offered or sold absent registration or pursuant to an exemption therefrom.  Only one
person of those listed below has sold stock.
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(i)  Issuances or Exercises by Third Parties

(a)   On the dates set forth below, shares of common stock were issued to Yash Khanna, Ph.D  pursuant to a
consulting agreement for research and development into plastics, functional fillers, and additives using the Company’s
halloysite clay.

Grant
Date Number of Shares Stock Price on Grant Date ($)

05/01/12 1,872 1.87
06/01/12 2,258 1.55
07/02/12 2,593 1.35
08/01/12 2,518 1.39
09/12/12 2,536 1.38
10/01/12 2,692 1.30
11/05/12 2,121 1.65
12/03/12 2,071 1.69
01/04/13 2,273 1.54
02/07/13 2,215 1.58
03/01/13 2,121 1.65
04/01/13 2,500 1.40
05/01/13 2,448 1.43
06/03/13 2,713 1.29
07/01/13 2,941 1.19
08/01/13 3,500 1.00
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(b)  On the dates set forth below, shares of common stock were issued to Edward Volk, pursuant to an agreement
relating to selling the Company’s products.

Grant Date Number of Shares 

Stock
Price
on
Grant
Date
($) 

04/12/12 2,365 1.48
05/01/12 1,872 1.87
06/01/12 2,258 1.55
07/02/12 2,593 1.35
08/01/12 2,518 1.39
09/01/12 2,536 1.38
10/01/12 2,692 1.30
11/05/12 2,121 1.65
12/03/12 2,071 1.69
01/04/13 2,273 1.54
02/07/13 2,215 1.58
03/01/13 2,121 1.65
04/01/13 2,500 1.40
05/01/13 2,448 1.43
06/03/13 2,713 1.29
07/01/13 2,941 1.19
08/01/13 3,500 1.00
09/03/13 3,302 1.06
  10/01/13  3,211 1.09
 11/01/13  2,941 1.19
 12/02/13 3,182 1.10
 01/01/14 3,182 1.10
02/04/14 3,804 0.92
03/03/14 3,933 0.89
04/07/14 4,861 0.72
05/06/14 5,147 0.68
06/06/14 4,217 0.83
07/01/14 4,118 0.85
08/03/14 4,321 0.81
09/01/14 4,375 0.80
10/06/14 4,861 0.72
11/05/14 4,667 0.75
12/05/14 4,545 0.77
01/02/15 4,795 0.73
02/05/15 5,000 0.70
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  (c)  On the dates set forth below, shares of common stock were issued to Eric Wisnefsky, pursuant to an agreement
relating to selling the Company’s products.

Grant Date Number of Shares Stock Price on Grant Date ($) 
05/15/12 7,234 1.87
06/11/12 6,774 1.55
08/30/12 7,609 1.38
12/03/12 6,213 1.69
03/07/13 6,364 1.65
06/03/13 8,140 1.29
09/03/13 9,907 1.06
12/02/13  9,546 1.10
03/31/14 11,798 0.89
07/09/14 12,650 0.83
09/02/14 13,125 0.80
12/05/14 13,636 0.77
12/05/14 1,333 0.75
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(d) On the dates set forth below, the Company issued shares to various parties pursuant to capital raises:

Investor Issue Date Number of Shares Stock Price on Grant Date ($)
SLZ Capital 09/30/12 1,250,000 1.30
Overbrook Foundation 01/18/13 675,676 1.48
Overbrook Opportunity Fund 01/18/13 104,329 1.48
Overbrook Opportunity Fund 01/18/13 301,076 1.48
Andrew Goffe 01/18/13 675,676 1.48
Bernard Selz 01/18/13 1,000,000 1.48
Selz Family Trust 2011 01/18/13 1,000,000 1.48

(e) On May 25, 2012, a five-year option to purchase 30,000 shares of common stock was issued to Roger Rothon for
serving on the Company’s technical board.

(f)  On May 29, 2013, a five-year option to purchase 50,000 shares of common stock was issued to Crossways
Consulting, the consulting vehicle for Tuvia Barak, for consulting services relating to sales leads.

(g) On the dates set forth below, common stock options were exercised by the named parties for various consulting
services:

Consultant Exercise Date Number of Shares 
Cirrus Advisors 05/01/12 6,369
Tim Clemensen 06/26/12 22,606
Rubenstein IR 07/09/12 44,444
Cirrus Advisors 07/20/12 10,647
OTA LLC 10/09/12 39,724

(l) Grants to Directors in their capacity as such

(x) On the dates set forth below, the Company granted the following common shares to directors as payment for
director’s fees:
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Director Grant Date Number of Shares Stock Price on Grant Date 
Evan Stone 04/01/12 3,378 1.48
Evan Stone 07/03/12 3,704 1.35
Evan Stone 10/01/12 3,846 1.30
Evan Stone 01/04/13 4,464 1.54
Evan Stone 04/01/13 4,911 1.40
Evan Stone 07/01/13 5,777 1.19
Evan Stone 10/01/13 6,307 1.09
Mario Concha 10/08/13 7,775 1.09

(b)  On the dates set forth below, the Company granted to John Levy, director of the Company and an accredited
investor, the following options to purchase shares of common stock as payment for director’s fees (including service as
chairman).

Grant Date Number of Shares Exercise price
01/24/12 100,000 1.24
11/20/12 100,000 1.66
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(y)  Option Grants to Employees

On the dates set forth below, the Company granted compensatory ten-year options to purchase shares of common
stock to the named employees of the Company at the time, for the share amounts and the exercise prices set forth
below:

Optionee Grant Date Number of Shares  Exercise
Price ($)

Nat Krishnamurti 05/17/12 300,000 1.55
Andre Zeitoun 11/20/12 1,742,792 1.66
Christopher Carney 11/20/12 580,931 1.66
Eric Basroon 11/20/12 580,931 1.66
William Gleeson 11/20/12 72,405 1.66
Chris DeArmitt 02/01/13 11,467 1.58
Nat Krishnamurti 05/29/13 65,000 1.35
Yash Khanna 06/24/13 300,000 1.15
Rogerio Galante 08/20/13 300,000 1.10
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ITEM 16.

[A] Index to Exhibits

Exhibit

Number
3.1 Articles of Incorporation (1)
3.2 Bylaws, as amended (2)
5 Opinion of William Gleeson concerning legality (3)
10.1 Form of Investment Agreement used in connection with January, 2013 capital raise (4)
10.2 Form of Investment Agreement used in connection with August, 2013 capital raise (5)

10.3 Form of 10% PIK Election Convertible Note due 2023 used in connection with August, 2013 capital
raise (6)

10.4 Form of Investment Agreement used in connection with November, 2014 capital raise (7)

10.5 Form of 10% PIK Election Convertible Note due 2018 used in connection with November, 2014 capital
raise (8)

10.6 Form of Warrant Cancellation Agreement used in connection with November, 2014 capital raise (9)
10.7 2013 Employment Agreement for Andre Zeitoun (10)
10.8 Amended Employment Agreement for William Gleeson (11)
10.10 2012 Long Term Option Plan (12)
10.11 Form of Stock Option Agreement (13)
10.12 Short Term Incentive Plan (14)
10.13 Directors’ Compensation (15) 
10.14 Terms of Private Placement of Securities (16)
23.1 Consent of EisnerAmper LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm *
23.3 Consent of William Gleeson (17)
101.INS XBRL Instance **
101.SCHXBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema **
101.CALXBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation **
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition **
101.LABXBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels **
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation **
*   filed herewith

** XBRL information is furnished and not filed or a part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of
sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, is deemed not filed for purposes of section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise is not subject to liability under these sections.

(1)Incorporated by reference to exhibit 3(i)(a) included in the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed onNovember 26, 2012

(2)Incorporated by reference to exhibit 3(i)(a) included in the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed onNovember 26, 2012
(3)Incorporated by reference to exhibit 5 to S-1 filed on April 14, 2013

(4)Incorporated by reference to exhibit 99.1 included in the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on January23, 2013
(5)
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Incorporated by reference to exhibit 99.1 included in the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on August
5, 2013

(6)Incorporated by reference to exhibit 99.2 included in the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on August5, 2013

(7)Incorporated by reference to exhibit 99.1 included in the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed onNovember 5, 2014

(8)Incorporated by reference to exhibit 99.2 included in the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed onNovember 5, 2014

(9)Incorporated by reference to exhibit 99.4 included in the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed onNovember 5, 2014

(10)Incorporated by reference to exhibit 99.1 included in the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on March15, 2013

(11)Incorporated by reference to exhibit 99.1 included in the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on March15, 2013

(12)Incorporated by reference to exhibits 99.1 included in the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed onNovember 26, 2012

(13)Incorporated by reference to exhibits 99.2 included in the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed onNovember 26, 2012

(14)Incorporated by reference to exhibits 99.3 included in the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed onNovember 26, 2012
(15)Incorporated by reference to Item 10.13 included in registration statement no. 333-202139

(16)Incorporated by reference to Items 1.01 included in the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on January23, 2013, August 5, 2013, and November 5, 2014
(17)Included in Exhibit 5

[B] Schedule of Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Balance at

Beginning
of

Year

Additions
Charged

to
Expenses/

Other
Accounts

Net

(Deductions)

Recoveries

Balance at

End of Year

Allowance for doubtful accounts
2014 $-- $-- $ -- $--
2013 $25,106 $-- $ 25,106 $--
2012 $11,938 $13,168 $ -- $25,106

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets
2014 $21,759,577 $4,935,302 $ -- $26,694,879
2013 $16,724,700 $5,034,877 $ -- $21,759,577
2012 $12,820,923 $3,903,777 $ -- $16,724,700
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ITEM 17.             UNDERTAKINGS.

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:

1.   to file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registrationstatement to:

i.   include any prospectus required by section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act;

ii.

reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most
recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in
the information in the registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of
securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any
deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of
prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price
represent no more than a 20 percent change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the “Calculation of
Registration Fee” table in the effective registration statement; and

iii. include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the
registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement.

2. that, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each post-effective amendmentshall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such
securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

3. to remove from registration by means of post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which
remain unsold at the termination of the offering.

4. 

that, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act to any purchaser, each prospectus filed
pursuant to Rule 424(b) as part of a registration statement relating to an offering, other than registration statements
relying on Rule 430B or other than prospectuses filed in reliance on Rule 430A, shall be deemed to be part of and
included in the registration statement as of the date it is first used after effectiveness. Provided, however, that no
statement made in a registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement or made in a
document incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference into the registration statement or prospectus that is part
of the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of sale prior to such first use, supersede
or modify any statement that was made in the registration statement or prospectus that was part of the registration
statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such date of first use.
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5. 

that insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers
and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been
advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission, such indemnification is against public
policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against
such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or
controlling person to the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such
director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in
the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate
jurisdiction the question of whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities
Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

2.

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to deliver or cause to be delivered with the prospectus, to each person
to whom the prospectus is sent or given, the latest annual report to security holders that is incorporated by reference
in the prospectus and furnished pursuant to and meeting the requirements of Rule 14a-3 or Rule 14c-3 under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and, where interim financial information required to be presented by Article 3 of
Regulation S-X are not set forth in the prospectus, to deliver, or cause to be delivered to each person to whom the
prospectus is sent or given, the latest quarterly report that is specifically incorporated by reference in the prospectus
to provide such interim financial information.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this amendment to the
registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized in the City of New
York, New York, on June 5, 2015.

APPLIED MINERALS, INC .

June 5, 2015 By:/s/ ANDRE ZEITOUN
Andre Zeitoun
Chief Executive Officer

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints
Andre Zeitoun and William Gleeson, and each of them, with full power to act without the other, such person’s true and
lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and re-substitution, for him and in his name, place
and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign this Post-Effective Amendment to the Registration Statement, any and all
amendments thereto (including post-effective amendments), any subsequent Registration Statements pursuant to Rule
462 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and any amendments thereto and to file the same, with exhibits and
schedules thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and
every act and thing necessary or desirable to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as
he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of
them, or their or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this post-effective amendment to the registration statement
has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Andre Zeitoun Director and Chief Executive Officer June 5, 2015

/s/ Nat Krishnamurti Chief Financial Officer June 5, 2015
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(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ John F. Levy * Director, Chairman of the Board of Directors June 5, 2015

/s/ David Taft * Director June 5, 2015

/s/ Mario Concha * Director June 5, 2015

/s/ Robert Betz * Director June 5, 2015

/s/ Bradley Tirpak Director June 5, 2015

/s/ Ali Zamani Director June 5, 2015

* by Andre Zeitoun, attorney-in-fact
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